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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The statements contained in this report that are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. When used in this report, the words “plan,” “target,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend” and “expect” and similar expressions are
intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, the statements regarding Gold
Resource Corporation’s strategy, future plans for production, future expenses and costs, future liquidity and capital resources, future dividends and
estimates of mineralized material. All forward-looking statements in this report are based upon information available to Gold Resource Corporation on
the date of filing this report, and the company assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements involve
a number of risks and uncertainties and there can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate. Gold Resource Corporation’s actual
results could differ materially from those discussed in this report. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited
to, those discussed in the Item 1A. Risk Factors  section of this Form 10-K.

In addition to the specific factors identified under Item 1A. Risk Factors  in this report, other uncertainties that could affect the accuracy of forward-
looking statements include:

· Decisions of foreign countries and banks within those countries;

· Unexpected changes in business and economic conditions, including the rate of inflation;

· Changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates;

· Timing and amount of production, if any;

· Technological changes in the mining industry;

· Our costs;

· Changes in exploration and overhead costs;

· Access and availability of materials, equipment, supplies, labor and supervision, power and water;

· Results of current and future feasibility studies;

· The level of demand for our products;

· Changes in our business strategy, plans and goals;

· Interpretation of drill hole results and the geology, grade and continuity of mineralization;

· Rock formations, faults and fractures, water flow and possible CO 2 gas exhalation or other unanticipated geological situations;

· Acts of God such as floods, earthquakes and any other natural disasters;

· The uncertainty of mineralized material estimates and timing of mine construction expenditures; and

· Commodity price fluctuations.

This list, together with the factors identified under Item 1A. Risk Factors , is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of our forward-
looking statements. You should read this report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from
what we expect. These forward-looking statements represent our beliefs, expectations and opinions only as of the date of filing this report. We do not
intend to update these forward-looking statements except as required by law. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.
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 PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

History and Organization 

Gold Resource Corporation was organized under the laws of the State of Colorado on August 24, 1998. We are a producer of metal concentrates
that contain gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc, as well as, doré containing gold and silver at the El Aguila Project in the southern state of Oaxaca,
Mexico. The El Aguila Project includes the El Aguila open pit mine, which ceased operations in February 2011, and the La Arista underground mine,
which is currently in operation. We are also performing exploration and evaluation work on certain of our portfolio of precious and base metal exploration
properties in Mexico and Nevada and are evaluating other properties for possible acquisition.
 

In this report, “Company,” “our ,”  “us” and “we” refer to Gold Resource Corporation together with our affiliates and subsidiaries, unless the context
otherwise requires.

On April 30, 2014, we announced the completion of our initial reserve study and issued a report dated December 31, 2013, confirming the
existence of proven and probable reserves as defined in Industry Guide 7 (“Guide 7”) promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). As a result of the completion of the reserve study, we have transitioned from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise
in accordance with Guide 7. We no longer consider ourselves to be a Development Stage Entity as defined in Accounting Standards Codification 915 –
Development Stage Entities  (“ASC 915”).

We completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) in August 2006. Since that time, we have raised additional capital pursuant to several private
placements of our common stock. We used the proceeds of our IPO and additional private placements to conduct exploration activities at the El Aguila
property. Based on our successful exploration efforts, we decided on April 11, 2007, to move forward to construct a mill and a mine at the El Aguila
Project. We began mining and milling operations at the El Aguila Project on July 1, 2010. See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for more information. The El Aguila Project includes approximately 30,074 hectares of mining
concessions, an access road from a major highway, haul roads, a mill facility and adjoining buildings, including an assay lab, an open pit and
underground mine, tailings pond and other infrastructure. See Item 2. Properties for additional information.

Our principal executive offices are located 2886 Carriage Manor Point, Colorado Springs, Colorado 80906, and our telephone number is (303) 320-
7708.  We maintain a website at www.goldresourcecorp.com and through a link on our website you can view the periodic filings that we make with the
SEC.

Our operations at our Oaxaca Mining Unit in Mexico are conducted through our wholly-owned Mexican subsidiary, Don David Gold Mexico S.A.de
C.V. (DDGM). In November 2013, we divested our interest in Golden Trump Mexico S.A. de C.V. Our Nevada Exploration Unit operates through our
wholly-owned subsidiary, GRC Nevada Inc.

Developments During 2014 

We completed our fourth full year of mining operations in 2014. Two mines are located at our El Aguila Project; the El Aguila open pit mine and the
La Arista underground mine. Mining at the El Aguila open pit mine was essentially completed in 2010, and we transitioned to processing mineralized
material from the La Arista underground mine in March 2011. In 2014, we processed ore from the La Arista underground mine with gold and silver as
our primary metal products and copper, lead and zinc as by-products. Our El Aguila milling facility located on our El Aguila Project produced both
concentrates and doré.  

During 2014, we continued to develop the La Arista underground mine ; reaching Level 19 on the decline ramp by year end. We developed multiple
stopes and working faces for mining, predominantly from Levels 12 to Level 17 during the year. The mining methods of long-hole stoping and cut-and-fill
were utilized.    

Our optimization of the mill expansion, completed in the fourth quarter of 2013, resulted in our ability to begin producing a higher grade gold and
silver concentrate in the first quarter of 2014, due to being able to utilize  a Knelson gravity concentrator at our mill facilities. With the goal of reducing
refining costs, royalties and treatment costs, we completed the commissioning phase of the doré processing facility and achieved commercial
production in the fourth quarter of 2014.

In 2014, we leased two properties in Nevada, United States of America, for exploration purposes.  We leased the Radar property from Altan
Nevada Minerals Limited and the Goose property from Nevada Eagle LLC, and formed our Nevada Mining Unit.  We believe that these properties have
excellent potential for discovery of both bulk tonnage replacement-type and bonanza-grade vein-type gold deposits, similar to other gold deposits
historically mined in the Paradise Peak and Goldfield districts.  These mines are also in the Walker Lane Mineral Belt and well known for their significant
and high-grade gold-silver production. We believe the Radar and Goose properties are highly prospective based on their proximity to other major gold
deposits in the Walker Lane Mineral Belt. Our operations in Nevada are in the exploration stage. See Item 2. Properties for additional information.

Production Summary

During 2014, mill production totaled 83,903 ounces of precious metal gold equivalent from the La Arista mine, which was a 1.1% decrease in mill
production from 2013.  We processed an aggregate of 375,623 tonnes of mineralized material with an average grade of 3.21 grams per tonne gold and
296 grams per tonne silver. See the table titled Production and Sales Statistics—El Aguila Project in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for detailed information regarding our production statistics.

Exploration 

Exploration during 2014 continued to focus primarily on our Oaxaca Mining Unit and specifically the El Aguila Project with infill and step-out drilling
at the La Arista deposit’s vein system.  This included follow-up of the new Switchback discovery which is an area of mineralization approximately 500
meters northeast of the La Arista deposit, for which drill results continue to show multiple veins over a 60 to 80 meter interval.  We also performed
exploration at several of our other properties, including continuing a surface drill program on portions of the Alta Gracia property that focused on
previously identified drill targets.  Please see the map of our properties under Oaxaca Mining Unit in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for more information regarding our exploration properties in Mexico. See Item 2.
Properties for additional information regarding our exploration activities.

Dividends 

We declared and paid an aggregate of $0.12 per share in dividends in 2014. In 2012, we commenced a physical dividend program pursuant to
which our shareholders have the option to convert the cash dividends into physical gold and silver bullion and take physical delivery of bullion or have it
stored in a secured vault network.  See Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchase of
Equity Securities for additional information.  

Proven and Probable Reserves    

Beginning January 1, 2014, we transitioned from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise as defined by Guide 7. On April
30, 2014, we announced the completion of our reserve study and issued a report dated December 31, 2013 confirming the existence of proven and
probable reserves as defined in Guide 7 promulgated by the SEC. As a result of the completion of the reserve study, we have transitioned from an
Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise in accordance with Guide 7.  We no longer consider ourselves to be a
Development Stage Entity as defined in ASC 915 and accordingly cumulative and other disclosures required by ASC 915 are no longer included in our
financial statements.
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Prior to January 1, 2014, we were considered an Exploration Stage Enterprise under SEC criteria since we had not demonstrated proven and
probable reserves at our El Aguila Project in Oaxaca, Mexico or any of our other properties. Accordingly, as required under SEC guidelines, substantially
all of our investment in mining properties up to that date, including construction of the mill, mine facilities and mine construction expenditures, were
expensed as incurred and therefore do not appear as assets on our balance sheet.

   
Our characterization as an Exploration Stage Enterprise resulted in the classification of our facilities and mine construction expenditures as

operating expenses rather than capital expenditures, and may have caused us to report lower net income than if we had capitalized the
expenditures.  In addition, prior to January 1, 2014, our financial statements did not reflect a corresponding depreciation or amortization expense for our
facilities and mine construction costs since they were expensed as incurred rather than capitalized. The change in our accounting presentation as a
result of our transition to a Production Stage Enterprise may make certain period-over-period comparisons less meaningful than otherwise since we
capitalized mine development related expenditures that would have been expensed under our prior accounting presentation.
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As of December 31, 2014, our proven and probable reserves were:

Reserve Class Tonnes
Gold
g/t

Silver
g/t

Precious
Metal Gold

Equivalent g/t
Gold Ounces Silver Ounces

Precious
Metal Gold
Equivalent

Ounces

Copper %
Lead 

%
Zinc 

%

La Arista
Proven 1,010,700 2.91 289 7.83 94,600 9,376,500 254,300 0.6 1.5 3.2 

Probable 526,500 2.09 230 6.01 35,400 3,894,300 101,800 0.4 1.7 3.1 

Total 1,537,200 2.63 269 7.21 130,000 13,270,800 356,100 0.6 1.6 3.2 
 
Notes to the above proven and probable (“P & P”) reserves:

 
1. Metal prices used for P & P reserves were $1,448.19 per ounce of gold, $24.67 per ounce of silver, $3.35 per pound of copper, $0.95 per pound of lead and $0.91 per pound of

zinc.  These prices reflect the three-year trailing average prices for gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc.
2. Precious metal gold equivalent is 58.70:1 using gold and silver only to calculate gold equivalencies.
3. A breakeven net smelter return cutoff grade of $110 per tonne was used for estimations of P & P reserves. 
4. Mining, processing, energy, administrative and smelting/refining costs were based on 2014 actual costs for the El Aguila Project.
5. Metallurgical recovery assumptions used were 92% for gold, 92% for silver, 78% for copper, 77% for lead and 83% for zinc.  These recoveries reflect 2014 actual average

recoveries for the El Aguila project.
6. P & P reserves are diluted and factored for expected mining recovery.
7. Minimum mining width for P & P reserves is 1.4 meters.
8. Figures in tables are rounded to reflect estimate precision and small differences generated by rounding are not material to estimates.

 
In addition to our proven and probable reserves, we estimated measured and indicated mineralized material within the definition of Guide

7.  Mineralized material does not have demonstrated economic viability. As of December 31, 2014, our measured and indicated mineralized material
was:

 

 
Mineralized Zones Tonnes

Gold
g/t

Silver
g/t

Copper
%

Lead 
%

Zinc 
%

 Switchback

 Measured 128,600 1.46 90 0.4 1.1 3.7 

 Indicated 320,000 1.26 90 0.4 1.1 3.8 

 448,600 1.32 90 0.4 1.1 3.8 

 Santiago

 Measured 30,300 2.30 144 0.3 0.7 1.4 

 Indicated 79,400 1.62 132 0.2 0.4 0.9 

 109,700 1.81 135 0.2 0.5 1 

 Alta Gracia

 Measured 78,800 0.47 349  -  -  -
 Indicated 79,800 0.67 330  -  -  -
 158,600 0.57 339  -  -  -
 Total 716,900 

 
Notes to the above measured and indicated (“M & I”) mineralized material:

1. A breakeven net smelter return cutoff grade of $110 per tonne was used for estimations of M & I mineralized material. 
2. Metallurgical recovery assumptions used were 92% for gold, 92% for silver, 78% for copper, 77% for lead and 83% for zinc.  These recoveries reflect 2014 actual average

recoveries for the El Aguila project.
3. M & I mineralized material is diluted and factored for expected mining recovery.
4. Minimum mining width for M & I mineralized material is 1.4 meters.
5. Figures in tables are rounded to reflect estimate precision and small differences generated by rounding are not material to estimates.

 
Reserve estimates are prepared by Barry Devlin, Vice President of Exploration.  Mr. Devlin holds a BS degree with honors in Geology, 1981, and a

Masters in Geology, 1987, from the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.  He is also a Professional Geologist registered with the
Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia. 

Condition of Physical Assets and Insurance    

Our business is capital intensive and requires ongoing capital investment for the replacement, modernization or expansion of equipment and
facilities. For more information, see Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Consolidated Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, Liquidity and Capital Resources, below. We maintain insurance policies against property loss and business interruption and insure
against risks that are typical in the operation of our business in amounts that we believe to be reasonable. Such insurance, however, contains exclusions
and limitations on coverage, particularly with respect to loss, environmental liability and political risk. There can be no assurance that claims would be
paid under such insurance policies in connection with a particular event. See Item 1A, Risk Factors , below for additional information

Environmental Matters 

We conduct our operations so as to protect the environment and believe our operations are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations in all
material respects. Our operating mine has a reclamation plan in place that we believe meets all applicable legal and regulatory requirements. At
December 31, 2014, $3.0 million was accrued for reclamation costs relating to current or recently producing properties.

Competitive Business Conditions

The exploration for, and the acquisition of, gold and silver properties are subject to intense competition. Identifying and evaluating potential mining
prospects is a costly and time-consuming endeavor. Due to our limited capital and personnel, we are at a competitive disadvantage compared to many
other companies with regard to exploration and, if warranted, advancement of mining properties. Our present limited capital means that our ability to
compete for properties to be explored and developed is limited. We believe that competition for acquiring mineral prospects will continue to be intense in
the future.

Government Regulations and Permits  

In connection with mining, milling and exploration activities, we are subject to the United States and Mexican federal, state and local laws and
regulations governing the protection of the environment, including laws and regulations relating to protection of air and water quality, hazardous waste
management and mine reclamation as well as the protection of endangered or threatened species. The department responsible for environmental
protection in Mexico is Secretaria de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales (“SEMARNAT”), which is similar to the United States Environmental
Protection Agency. SEMARNAT has broad authority to shut down and/or levy fines against facilities that do not comply with its environmental
regulations or standards. Potential areas of environmental consideration for mining companies, including ours, include but are not limited to, acid rock
drainage, cyanide containment and handling, contamination of water sources, dust and noise.

In connection with our mill and mining operations at the El Aguila Project, we have and intend to secure various regulatory permits from federal,
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state and local agencies. These governmental and regulatory permits generally govern the processes being used to operate, the stipulations concerning
air quality and water issues, and the plans and obligations for reclamation of the properties at the conclusion of operations. Regulations require that an
environmental impact statement, known in Mexico as a Manifiestacion de Impacto Ambiental  (“MIA”), be prepared by a third-party contractor for
submission to SEMARNAT. We have submitted our MIA to SEMARNAT for their review, and it has been approved.  Studies required to support the MIA
include a detailed analysis of these areas, among others: soil, water, vegetation, wildlife, cultural resources and socio-economic impacts. Although the
regulatory process in Mexico has a public review component, proof of local community support for a project is required to gain final MIA approval. We
have received the required local community support for the El Aguila area from which we are currently producing .  

 
We have obtained, and plan to obtain at the appropriate time, environmental permits, licenses or approvals required for operations. During 2014,

we received a permit to begin constructing the third phase of the tailings impoundment facility at the El Aguila Project.  We are not aware of any material
violations of environmental permits, licenses or approvals issued with respect to our operations.

 
In connection with exploration activities in the state of Nevada, United States of America, we are subject to various federal and state laws and

regulations governing protection of the environment, including the Clean Air Act; the Clean Water Act; the Comprehensive Environmental
Response; the Compensation and Liability Act; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act; the Endangered Species Act; the Federal
Land Policy and Management Act; the National Environmental Policy Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and related state laws. These
laws and regulations are continually changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. Our activities outside the United States are also subject to
various levels of governmental regulations for the protection of the environment and, in some cases, those regulations can be as, or more, restrictive
than those in the United States.

 
We conduct our operations so as to protect public health and the environment and believe our operations are in compliance with applicable laws

and regulations in all material respects. Our operating mine has a reclamation plan in  place that we believe meets all applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

Customers

During the year ended December 31, 2014, our revenue was predominately through the sales of metals concentrate to Consorcio Minero de
Mexico Cormin Mex. S.A. de C.V., a Trafigura Group Company (“Trafigura”) which was 93% of our sales for the year. During the fourth quarter of 2014,
we reached commercial production of gold and silver doré bars  and began selling to Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver Refining Inc. (“Johnson Matthey”).
In the event that our relationships with Trafigura or Johnson Matthey is interrupted for any reason, we believe that we would be able to locate another
entity to purchase our precious metals and by-product metals. However, any interruption could temporarily disrupt the sale of our principal products and
adversely affect our operating results. We periodically review our options of alternative sales outlets to mitigate the concentration of risk with one
concentrate buyer in case of any unforeseen disruptions.

 Employees and Contractors

We currently have eleven full-time employees, six of which serve as our executive officers. These individuals devote all of their business time to our
affairs. 

During 2013, we divested a wholly-owned Mexican subsidiary that held our Mexican employees to a third-party employee service company,  and
our El Aguila Project General Manager is currently our only employee in Mexico. We contract for the services of our appr oximately 380 former
employees with the firm that acquired our subsidiary and also use various independent contractors for constructing our underground mine, surface
exploration drilling and trucking.
 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

This report, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, contains forward-looking statements
that may be materially affected by several risk factors, including those summarized below:

Risks Relating to Our Company 

Our existing production is limited to a single mine and any interruptions or stoppages in our mining activities would adversely affect our
revenue. We are presently relying on a single mine to provide mineralized material for processing at our mill facility which we sell to fund our operations.
Any interruption in our ability to mine this location, such as a labor strike, natural disaster, or loss of permits would negatively impact our ability to collect
revenue following such interruption. Additionally, if we are unable to economically develop additional mines, we will eventually deplete the body of
mineralized material and will no longer generate revenue sufficient to fund our operations. A decrease in or cessation of our mining operations would
adversely affect our financial performance and may eventually cause us to cease operations.

If we are unable to achieve gold and silver production levels anticipated from our El Aguila Project, our financial condition and results of
operation will be adversely affected. We have proceeded with the processing of the mineralized material from the La Arista underground mine at the
El Aguila Project based on estimates of mineralized material identified in our drilling program and estimates of gold and silver recovery based on test
work developed during our initial scoping study, reports and  subsequent Proven and Probable Reserve report . However, risks related to metallurgy are
inherent when working with extractable minerals. Sales of gold and silver that we realize from future mining activity will be less than anticipated if the
mined material does not contain the concentration of gold and silver predicted by our geological exploration, studies and reports . If sales of gold and
silver are less than anticipated, we may not be able to recover our investment in our property and our operations may be adversely affected. Our inability
to realize production based on quarterly or annual projections may also adversely affect the price of our common stock and you may lose all or part of
your investment.

Estimates of proven and probable reserves and mineralized material are uncertain and the volume and grade of ore actually recovered
may vary from our estimates. The proven and probable  reserves and mineralized material  stated in this report represent the amount of gold , silver,
copper, lead and zinc  that we estimated, at December 31, 2014, could be economically  and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserv e
determination. Estimates of proven and probable reserves and mineralized material are subject to considerable uncertainty.  Such estimates are, to a
large extent, based on the prices of gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc  and interpretations of geologic data obtained from drill holes and other exploration
techniques.

 
Additionally, the term “mineralized material” as used in this report does not indicate proven and probable reserves as defined by Guide 7 or our

standards. Estimates of mineralized material are subject to further exploration and development, and are, therefore, subject to considerable uncertainty.
We cannot be certain that any part or parts of the mineralized material deposit will ever be confirmed or converted into Guide 7 compliant reserves or
that mineralized material can be economically or legally extracted.

If the price  of gold or silver declines from recent levels, if production costs increase or  recovery rates decrease or if applicable laws and
regulations are adversely changed, we can offer no assurance that the indicated level of recovery will be realized or that mineral reserves as currently
reported can be mined or processed profitably. If we determine that a portion  of our ore reserves become uneconomic, this may ultimately lead to a
reduction in our reported reserves. Consequently, if our actual mineral reserves are less than current estimates, our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial position may be materially impaired.

We may be unable to replace reserves as they become depleted.  Gold and silver producers must continually replace reserves depleted by
production to maintain production levels over the long term and provide a return on invested capital. Depleted reserves can be replaced in several ways,
including expanding known ore bodies, locating new deposits, or acquiring interests in reserves from third parties. Exploration is highly speculative in
nature, involves many risks and is frequently unproductive. Our current or future exploration programs may not result in new mineral producing
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operations. Even if significant mineralization is discovered, it will likely take many years from the initial phases of exploration until commencement of
production, during which time the economic feasibility of production may change.

 
As a result of these uncertainties, our exploration programs and any acquisitions which we may pursue may not result in the expansion or

replacement of our current production with new ore reserves or operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
results of operations and financial position.

 
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting that, if not properly corrected, could

materially adversely affect our operations and result in material misstatements in our financial statements. As described in Item 9A. Controls
and Procedures, we have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective as of December 31, 2014, because certain material
weaknesses existed in our internal control over financial reporting related to the validation of the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in
the determination of significant estimates and accounting transactions and the presentation of income tax expense. We are working to remediate these
material weaknesses, however, if we are unable to remediate our material weaknesses in a timely manner, we may be unable to provide holders of our
securities with the required financial information in a timely and reliable manner and we may incorrectly report financial information. Additionally, if our
remedial measures are insufficient to address the material weaknesses, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting are discovered or occur in the future, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements and we
could be required to restate our financial results. These events could have a material adverse effect on our operations, result in sanctions or
investigations by regulatory authorities, or loss of investor, supplier and customer confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which in turn
could harm our business and negatively impact the trading price of our stock.

The volatility of the price of gold and silver could adversely affect our future operations and, if warranted, our  ability to develop our
properties. The profitability of our operations, the value of our properties and our ability to raise funding to conduct continued exploration and mine
construction, if warranted, are directly related to the market price of gold, silver and other base metals. The price of gold and silver may also have a
significant influence on the market price of our common stock. Our decision to put a mine into production and to commit the funds necessary for that
purpose must be made long before the first revenue from production would be received. A decrease in the prices of gold and silver may prevent our
properties from being economically mined or result in the write-off of assets whose value is impaired as a result of lower gold or silver prices. The
volatility in gold and silver prices is illustrated by the following table, which sets forth for each of the past five calendar years, the average annual market
prices in U.S. dollars per ounce of gold and silver based on the daily London P.M. fix:

Mineral 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Gold $ 1,225 $ 1,572 $ 1,669 $ 1,411 $ 1,266 

Silver $ 20.19 $ 35.12 $ 31.15 $ 23.79 $ 19.08 
 

The price of gold and silver is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, including inflation, fluctuation of the United States dollar and foreign
currencies, global and regional demand, the sale of gold and silver by central banks, and the political and economic conditions of major gold and silver
producing countries throughout the world and accordingly no amount of planning or technical expertise can fully eliminate these risks. In the event gold
or silver prices decline or remain low for prolonged periods of time, we might be unable to develop our properties, which may adversely affect our results
of operations, financial performance and cash flows.

We have incurred substantial losses in the past and may not continue to be profitable.   During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, we reported comprehensive net income of $16.2 million, $0.1 million and $36.0 million, respectively. We have accumulated retained
earnings of $4.0 million as of December 31, 2014. While we were profitable  during the past three years, there is no assurance that we will be profitable
in the future. Unexpected interruptions in our mining business may cause us to incur losses, or the revenue that we generate from production may not
be sufficient to fund continuing operations including exploration and mine construction costs. Our failure to generate future profits may adversely affect
the price of our common stock and you may lose all or part of your investment.

We may require significant additional capital to fund our business plan.  We may be required to expend significant funds to determine if
mineralized material and proven and probable mineral reserves exist at any of our non-producing properties, to continue exploration and if warranted,
develop our existing properties and to identify and acquire additional properties to diversify our property portfolio. We have spent, and may be required to
continue to expend, significant amounts of capital for drilling, geological and geochemical analysis, assaying and feasibility studies with regard to the
results of our exploration. We may not benefit from these investments if we are unable to identify commercially exploitable mineralized material. 

Our ability to obtain necessary funding for these purposes, in turn, depends upon a number of factors, including our historical and prospective
results of operations, the status of the national and worldwide economy, the price of gold, silver and other valuable metals and the costs associated with
extracting them. The mining sector has been negatively impacted by declining metal prices in the last two years. We may not be successful in
generating or obtaining the required financing, or if we can obtain such financing, such financing may not be on terms that are favorable to us. Failure to
obtain such additional financing could result in delay or indefinite postponement of further mining operations or exploration and construction and the
possible partial or total loss of our potential interest in our properties.

Revenue from the sale of our metals may be adversely affected by loss or damage during shipment and storage at our buyer’s facilities.  
We rely on third-party transportation companies to transport our metals to the buyer’s facilities for processing and further refining.  The terms of our sales
contract with the buyers require us to rely on assay results from samples of our metals that are obtained at the buyer’s warehouse to determine the final
sales value for our metals.  Once the metal leaves our mill facility, we no longer have direct custody and control of these products.  Theft, loss,
automobile accidents, improper storage, fire, natural disasters, tampering or other unexpected events while in transit or at the buyer’s location may lead
to the loss of all or a portion of our metal products.  Such losses may not be covered by insurance and may lead to a delay or interruption in our revenue
and our operating results may be adversely affected. 

Exploration and if deemed feasible, development of mineral properties is inherently risky and could lead to unproductive properties
and/or capital investments. Our long-term success depends on our ability to identify additional mineral deposits on the El Aguila Property and any
other properties that we have or may acquire and to develop one or more of those properties into commercially viable mining operations.  Mineral
exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many risks and is frequently unproductive.  These risks include unusual or unexpected geologic
formations and the inability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment or labor.  The success of gold exploration is determined in part by the
following factors:

· The identification of potential gold mineralization based on surface analysis;

· Availability of government-granted exploration and construction permits;

· The quality of our management and our geological and technical expertise; and

· The capital available for exploration.
 T

Substantial expenditures are required to establish proven and probable reserves through detail drilling and analysis, to develop metallurgical
processes to extract metal and to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining.  Whether a mineral
deposit will be commercially viable depends on a number of factors, which include, without limitation, the particular attributes of the deposit, such as
size, grade, metallurgy, and proximity to infrastructure like power, water and roads; metal prices, which fluctuate widely; and government regulations,
including, without limitation, regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental
protection.  We may invest significant capital and resources in exploration activities and abandon such investments if we are unable to identify
commercially exploitable mineral reserves.  The decision to abandon a project may have an adverse effect on the market value of our securities and our
ability to raise future financing.
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We currently do not enter into forward sales, commodity, derivatives or hedging arrangements with respect to our gold and silver

production, and as a result, we are exposed to the impact of any significant decrease in the price of gold or silver.  We sell the gold and silver
we produce at quoted market metal prices. Currently, we do not enter into forward sales, commodity, derivative or hedging arrangements to establish a
price in advance for the sale of future gold or silver production, although we may do so in the future. As a result, we may realize the benefit of any short-
term increase in the gold or silver price, but we are not protected against decreases in the gold or silver price. If the gold or silver price decreases
significantly, our revenues may be materially adversely affected.     

 
Our current property portfolio is limited to a single producing property and our ability to remain profitable over the long -term will depend

on our ability to expand the known deposits like La Arista and /or identify, explore and develop additional properties. Gold and silver properties
are wasting assets. They eventually become depleted or uneconomical to continue mining. The acquisition of gold and silver properties and their
exploration, mine construction and mining activities are subject to intense competition. Companies with greater financial resources, larger staff, more
experience and more equipment for these types of activities may be in a better position than us to compete for such mineral properties. If we are unable
to find, advance, and economically mine new properties, we most likely will not be profitable on a long-term basis and the price of our common stock
may suffer.
 

Our producing property is subject to a lease in favor of a third party which provides for royalties on production.  The leased portion of the
property provides for a net smelter return royalty of 4% where production is sold in the form of gold and silver doré and 5% where production is sold in
concentrate form. All of our production to date has been from the leased property and processed and sold as either concentrate or doré. The
requirement to pay royalties to the owner of the concessions at our El Aguila property, which includes the open pit mine and underground mine, reduces
our profitability.

 
Our profits are subject to a new royalty tax imposed by the Mexican government.  The Mexican government enacted tax reform legislation

which requires mineral producers to pay a royalty tax to the government of 7.5% on net profits from metal concentrate sales and an additional 0.5%
royalty fee on gross sales of precious metals of gold, silver and platinum.  This legislation has and may in the future significantly and adversely affect our
results of operations, including our cash flows, which may in turn affect the amount of capital we have available for typical uses of cash, including but not
limited to, reinvestment into our business, funding new projects and paying dividends to our shareholders. 

 
The facilities and development of our underground mine and operation of our mill are subject to all of the risks inherent in development

and operations. These risks include potential delays, cost overruns, shortages of material or labor, construction defects, breakdowns and injuries to
persons and property. We expect to engage a combination of North American and Mexican subcontractors and material suppliers in connection with the
continued mine construction of the El Aguila Project. While we anticipate taking all measures which we deem reasonable and prudent in connection with
our facilities, construction of the underground mine and the operation of the mill, there is no assurance that the risks described above will not cause
delays or cost overruns in connection with such construction or operation. Any delays would postpone our anticipated receipt of revenue and adversely
affect our operations, which in turn may adversely affect the price of our stock. 
 

Our underground mining operations are subject to unique risks.  The exploration for minerals, mine construction and mining operations from
an underground mine involve a high level of risk and are often affected by hazards outside of our control. Some of these risks include, but are not limited
to, underground fires or floods, fall-of-ground accidents, seismic activity and unexpected geological formations or conditions including noxious fumes or
gases. The occurrence of one or more of these events in connection with our exploration, mine construction, or production activities may result in the
death of, or personal injury to, our employees, other personnel or third parties, the loss of mining equipment, damage to or destruction of mineral
properties or production facilities, monetary losses, deferral or unanticipated fluctuations in production, environmental damage and potential legal
liabilities, all of which may adversely affect our reputation, business, prospects, results of operations and financial position.

 
Our operations are subject to permitting requirements which could result in the delay, suspension or termination of our operations.  Our

operations, including our ongoing exploration drilling programs and production at the El Aguila Project, require permits from the Mexican government. If
we cannot obtain or maintain the necessary permits or if there is a delay in receiving future permits, our timetable and business plan will be adversely
affected. We will be required to obtain necessary exploration permits for our Nevada Mining Unit and any delays in receiving future permits, our
timetable and business plan will be adversely affected. 

 
Our ability to recognize the benefits of deferred tax assets is dependent on future cash flows and taxable income.  We recognize the

expected future tax benefit from deferred tax assets when the tax benefit is considered to be more likely than not of being realized; otherwise, a
valuation allowance is applied against deferred tax assets. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires management to make significant
estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations and
the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, our
ability to realize the deferred tax assets could be impacted. Additionally, future changes in tax laws could limit our ability to obtain the future tax benefits
represented by our deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2014, our current and long-term deferred tax assets were $3.9 million and $25.5 million,
respectively.

Our continuing reclamation obligations at the El Aguila Project and our other properties could require significant additional
expenditures.  We are responsible for the reclamation obligations related to disturbances located on all of our properties, including the El Aguila
Project. We have reserved a liability on our balance sheet to cover the estimated fair value of our reclamation obligation.  However, there is a risk that
any reserve could be inadequate to cover the actual costs of reclamation when carried out.  Continuing reclamation obligations will require a significant
amount of capital. There is a risk that we will be unable to fund these additional obligations and further, that the regulatory authorities may increase
reclamation requirements to such a degree that it would not be commercially reasonable to continue exploration activities, which may adversely affect
our results of operations, financial performance and cash flows.

Our operating properties located in Mexico are subject to changes in political or economic conditions and regulations in that
country.  The risks with respect to Mexico or other developing countries include, but are not limited to: nationalization of properties, military repression,
extreme fluctuations in currency exchange rates, criminal activity, lack of personal safety or ability to safeguard property, labor instability or militancy,
mineral title irregularities and high rates of inflation.  In addition, changes in mining or investment policies or shifts in political attitude in Mexico may
adversely affect our business. We may be affected in varying degrees by government regulation with respect to restrictions on production, price controls,
export controls, income taxes, expropriation of  property, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, land claims of local people,
opposition from non-governmental organizations, water use and mine safety. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted but may
adversely impact our operations.

Our ability to develop our Mexican properties is subject to the rights of the Ejido (local inhabitants) to use the surface for agricultural
purposes. Our ability to mine minerals is subject to maintaining satisfactory arrangements with the Ejido for access and surface disturbances. Ejidos are
groups of local inhabitants who were granted rights to conduct agricultural activities on the property. We must negotiate and maintain a satisfactory
arrangement with these residents in order to disturb or discontinue their rights to farm. While we have successfully negotiated and signed such
agreements related to the El Aguila Project, our inability to maintain these agreements or consummate similar agreements for new projects could impair
or impede our ability to successfully mine the properties.

Competition in the mining industry is intense, and we have limited financial and personnel resources with which to compete.  Competition
in the mining industry for desirable properties, investment capital and personnel is intense. Numerous companies headquartered in the United States,
Canada and elsewhere throughout the world compete for properties and personnel  on a global basis. We are a small participant in the gold mining
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industry due to our limited financial and personnel resources. We presently operate with a limited number of personnel and we anticipate that we will
compete with other companies in our industry to hire additional qualified personnel which will be required to successfully operate our mine and mill
site. We may be unable to attract the necessary investment capital or personnel to fully explore and if warranted, develop our properties and be unable
to acquire other desirable properties. We believe that competition for acquiring mineral properties will continue to be intense in the future.
 

Since most of our expenses are paid in Mexican pesos  and we sell our production in United States dollars, we are subject to changes in
currency values that may adversely affect our results of operation. Our operations in the future could be affected by changes in the value of the
Mexican peso against the United States dollar. The appreciation of non-U.S. dollar currencies such as the peso against the U.S. dollar increases
expenses and the cost of purchasing capital assets in U.S. dollar terms in Mexico, which can adversely impact our operating results and cash
flows. Conversely, depreciation of non-U.S. dollar currencies usually decreases operating costs and capital asset purchases in U.S. dollar terms. The
value of cash and cash equivalents, and other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies also fluctuate with changes in currency
exchange rates.
 

Our activities are subject to significant environmental regulations, which could raise the cost of doing business or adversely affect our
ability to develop our properties. Our mining operations are subject to environmental regulation by SEMARNAT. Regulations governing advancement
of new projects or significant changes to existing projects require an environmental impact statement, known in Mexico as a MIA. We may also be
required to submit proof of local community support for a project to obtain final approval. If an environmental impact statement is adverse or if we cannot
obtain community support, our ability to develop our properties could be adversely affected. Significant environmental legislation exists in Mexico,
including fines and penalties for spills, release of emissions into the air, seepage and other environmental damage, which fines or penalties could
adversely affect our financial condition or results of operation. 
 

Our business is subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws, a breach or violation of which
could lead to civil and criminal fines and penalties, loss of licenses or permits and reputational harm. We operate in certain jurisdictions that
have experienced governmental and private sector corruption to some degree, and in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws
may conflict with certain local customs and practices. For example, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or other
commercial advantage. Our Code of Ethics and other corporate policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws, which often carry substantial
penalties. There can be no assurance that our internal control policies and procedures always will protect us from recklessness, fraudulent behavior,
dishonesty or other inappropriate acts committed by our affiliates, employees or agents. As such, our corporate policies and processes may not prevent
all potential breaches of law or other governance practices. Violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could lead to civil and criminal
fines and penalties, litigation, and loss of operating licenses or permits, and may damage our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial position and results of operations or cause the market value of our common stock to decline.

 
We are dependent upon information technology systems, which are subject to disruption, damage, failure and risks associated with

implementation and integration. We are dependent upon information technology systems in the conduct of our operations. Our information technology
systems are subject to disruption, damage or failure from a variety of sources, including, without limitation, computer viruses, security breaches, cyber-
attacks, natural disasters and defects in design. Cybersecurity incidents, in particular, are evolving and include, but are not limited to, malicious software,
attempts to gain unauthorized access to data and other electronic security breaches that could lead to disruptions in systems, unauthorized release of
confidential or otherwise protected information and the corruption of data. Various measures have been implemented to manage our risks related to
information technology systems and network disruptions. However, given the unpredictability of the timing, nature and scope of information technology
disruptions, we could potentially be subject to production downtimes, operational delays, the compromising of confidential or otherwise protected
information, destruction or corruption of data, security breaches, other manipulation or improper use of our systems and networks or financial losses
from remedial actions, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, competitive position, financial condition or results of
operations.

We could also be adversely affected by system or network disruptions if new or upgraded information technology systems are defective, not
installed properly or not properly integrated into our operations. We are modifying our enterprise software to support various operational functions,
financial reporting and controls management. The modification of this system carries risks such as cost overruns, delays and interruptions. If we are not
able to successfully implement these system modifications, we will have to rely on manual reporting processes and controls over financial reporting that
have not been planned, designed or tested. Various measures have been implemented to manage our risks related to the system implementation and
modification, but system modification failures could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations and could,
if not successfully implemented, adversely impact the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. 

The nature of mineral exploration and production activities involves a high degree of risk and the possibility of uninsured
losses. Exploration for and the production of minerals is highly speculative and involves greater risk than many other businesses. Many exploration
programs do not result in the discovery of mineralization, and any mineralization discovered may not be of sufficient quantity or quality to be profitably
mined. Our operations are, and any future mining operations or construction we may conduct will be, subject to all of the operating hazards and risks
normally incident to exploring for and mining of mineral properties, such as, but not limited to:

· Economically insufficient mineralized material;

· Fluctuation in production costs that make mining uneconomical;

· Labor disputes;

· Unanticipated variations in grade and other geologic problems;

· Environmental hazards;

· Water conditions;

· Difficult surface or underground conditions;

· Industrial accidents;

· Metallurgic and other processing problems;

· Mechanical and equipment performance problems;

· Failure of pit walls, dams, declines, drifts and shafts;

· Unusual or unexpected rock formations;

· Personal injury, fire, flooding, cave-ins and landslides; and

· Decrease in the value of mineralized material due to lower gold and silver prices.

Any of these risks can materially and adversely affect, among other things, the construction of properties, production quantities and rates, costs and
expenditures, potential revenues and targeted production dates. We currently have limited insurance to guard against some of these risks. If we
determine that capitalized costs associated with any of our mineral interests are not likely to be recovered, we would incur a write down of our
investment in these interests. All of these factors may result in losses in relation to amounts spent which are not recoverable or result in additional
expenses.

We do not insure against all of the risks to which we may be subject in our operations.  While we currently maintain insurance against
general commercial liability claims and the physical assets at our El Aguila Project, we do not maintain insurance to cover all of the potential risks
associated with our operations. We might be subject to liability for environmental, pollution or other hazards associated with mineral exploration and
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mine construction, which risks may not be insured against, which may exceed the limits of our insurance coverage, or which we may elect not to insure
against because of premium costs or other reasons. We may also not be insured against interruptions to our operations. Losses from these or other
events may cause us to incur significant costs which could materially adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to fund activities on our
property. A significant loss could force us to reduce or terminate our operations.

We depend upon a limited number of personnel and the loss of any of these individuals could adversely affect our business.  Due to the
relatively limited number of personnel that we employ, we are dependent on certain individuals to run our business. These individuals include our
executive officers, including Jason Reid, Joe Rodriguez, Rick Irvine and Barry Devlin. If any of these individuals were to die, become disabled or leave
our company, we would be forced to identify and retain individuals to replace them. There is no assurance that we can find suitable individuals to
replace them or to add to our employee base if that becomes necessary. We have no life insurance on any individual, and we may be unable to hire a
suitable replacement for them on favorable terms should that become necessary.

In the event of a dispute regarding title to our operating property or any facet of our operations, it will likely be necessary for us to
resolve the dispute in Mexico, where we would be faced with unfamiliar laws and procedures. The resolution of disputes in foreign countries can
be costly and time consuming. In a foreign country we face the additional burden of understanding unfamiliar laws and procedures. We may not be
entitled to a jury trial, as we might be in the United States. Further, to litigate in any foreign country, we would be faced with the necessity of hiring
lawyers and other professionals who are familiar with the foreign laws. For these reasons, we may incur unforeseen losses if we are forced to resolve a
dispute in Mexico or any other foreign country.

We have been named as a defendant in securities class action and shareholder lawsuits which could result in substantial damages and
may divert management’s time and attention from our business. As described in more detail in Item 3. Legal Proceedings , we and certain of our
officers and directors are named as defendants in a securities class action and shareholder derivative  lawsuits.  On January 16, 2015, the United States
Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit affirmed the District Court’s decision to dismiss the case with prejudice.  While the securities class action lawsuit
may be further appealed within a specified time period, we believe the plaintiff does not intend to take any further action regarding the lawsuit.
Subsequent to the appellate court ruling, all parties to the shareholder derivative lawsuit agreed to voluntarily dismiss the proceeding and the case was
terminated on February 25, 2015.  These lawsuits  and any other potential future lawsuits are subject to inherent uncertainties, and the actual costs
incurred relating to these lawsuits will depend upon many unknown factors. The outcome of litigation is necessarily uncertain, and we could be forced to
expend significant resources in the defense of these suits, and we may not prevail. Monitoring and defending against legal actions is time-consuming for
our management and detracts from our ability to fully focus our internal resources on our business activities. In addition, we may incur substantial legal
fees and costs in connection with the litigation. We are not currently able to estimate the possible cost to us from these matters, and we cannot be
certain how long it may take to resolve the litigation or the possible amount of any damages that we may be required to pay. We have not established
any reserves for any potential liability relating to these or any other lawsuits . It is possible that we could, in the future, incur judgments or enter into
settlements of claims for monetary damages. A decision adverse to our interests on these actions could result in the payment of substantial damages
and could have a material adverse effect on our cash flow, results of operations, financial position and stock price.

 
Our directors and officers may be protected from certain types of lawsuits. The laws of the State of Colorado provide that our directors will

not be liable to us or our shareholders for monetary damages for all but certain types of conduct as directors of the company. Our Articles of
Incorporation permit us to indemnify our directors and officers against all damages incurred in connection with our business to the fullest extent provided
or allowed by law. Additionally, we entered into individual indemnification agreements with our current directors and officers and we intend to execute
substantially similar agreements with future directors and officers. The exculpation provisions of any of these items may have the effect of preventing
shareholders from recovering damages against our directors caused by their negligence, poor judgment or other circumstances. The indemnification
provisions may require us to use our limited assets to defend our directors and officers against claims, including claims arising out of their negligence,
poor judgment or other circumstances.  Pursuant to the terms of the indemnification agreements, we are required to advance funds to our directors and
officers prior to the final disposition of any threatened or actual legal proceeding, and including in the event it is ultimately determined that such officer or
director is not entitled to indemnification pursuant to the terms of the indemnification agreement, in which case we will depend on reimbursement of
advanced expenses from such individual.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock 

Our stock price may be volatile and as a result you could lose all or part of your investment.  In addition to other risk factors identified and  to
volatility associated with equity securities in general, the value of your investment could decline due to the impact of any of the following factors upon
the market price of our common stock:

· Changes in the worldwide price for gold and/or silver;

· Volatility in the equities markets;

· Disappointing results from our exploration or production efforts;

· Producing at rates lower than those targeted;

· Political and regulatory risks;

· Weather conditions, including unusually heavy rains;

· Failure to meet our revenue or profit goals or operating budget;

· Decline in demand for our common stock;

· Downward revisions in securities analysts’ estimates or changes in general market conditions;

· Technological innovations by competitors or in competing technologies;

· Investor perception of our industry or our prospects;

· Actions by government central banks; and

· General economic trends.

During the 2014 year the price of our stock has ranged from a low of $2.70 to a high of $ 6.35. In addition, stock markets in general have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations and the market prices of securities have been highly volatile. These fluctuations are often unrelated to
operating performance and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. As a result, you may be unable to resell your shares at a
desired price.

Past payments of dividends on our common stock are not indictors of future payments of dividends.  In 2012, we instituted a monthly cash
dividend payable to holders of our common stock.  During 2014, and as of March 19, 2015, the instituted monthly dividend was $0.01 per share per
month. However, our ability to continue to pay dividends in the future will depend on a number of factors, including cash flow, mine construction
requirements and strategies, other acquisition and/or construction projects, spot gold and silver prices, taxation, government imposed royalties and
general market conditions. Further, a portion of our cash flow will likely be retained to finance our operations. Any material change in our operations may
affect future dividends which may be modified at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Any decrease in our monthly dividend would likely have an
adverse impact on the price of our common stock.

We are subject to the Continued Listing Criteria of the NYSE MKT, and our failure to satisfy these criteria may result in delisting of our
common stock. Our common stock is currently listed on the NYSE MKT. In order to maintain the listing, we must maintai n certain share prices,
financial and share distribution targets, including maintaining a minimum amount of shareholders’ equity and a minimum number of public
shareholders. In addition to objective standards, the NYSE MKT may delist the securities of any issuer if, in its opinion, the issuer’s financial condition
and/or operating results appear unsatisfactory; if it appears that the extent of public distribution or the aggregate market value of the security has
become so reduced as to make continued listing on the NYSE MKT inadvisable; if the issuer sells or disposes of principal operating assets or ceases to
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be an operating company; if an issuer fails to comply with the NYSE MKT’s listing requirements; if an issuer’s common stock sells at what the NYSE
MKT considers a “low selling price” and the issuer fails to correct this via a reverse split of shares after notification by the NYSE MKT; or if any other
event occurs or any condition exists which makes continued listing on the NYSE MKT, in its opinion, inadvisable.

If the NYSE MKT delists our common stock, investors may face material adverse consequences, including, but not limited to, a lack of trading
market for our securities, reduced liquidity, decreased analyst coverage of our securities, and an inability for us to obtain additional financing to fund our
operations.

Issuances of our stock in the future could dilute existing shareholders and adversely affect the market price of our common stock.  We
have the authority to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and to issue options and warrants to
purchase shares of our common stock without stockholder approval. As of March 19, 2015, there were 54,179,369 shares of common stock
outstanding. Future issuances of our securities could be at prices substantially below the price paid for our common stock by our current shareholders. In
addition, we can issue blocks of our common stock in amounts up to 20% of the then outstanding shares without further shareholder approval. Because
we have issued less of our common stock than many of our larger peers, the issuance of a significant amount of our common stock may have a
disproportionately large impact on our share price compared to larger companies.
 

Our awards of stock options to employees may not have their intended effect.  A portion of our total compensation program for our executive
officers and key personnel has historically included the award of options to buy our common stock.  If the price of our common stock performs poorly,
such performance may adversely affect our ability to retain or attract critical personnel.  In addition, any changes made to our stock option policies or to
any other of our compensation practices which are made necessary by governmental regulations or competitive pressures could affect our ability to
retain and motivate existing personnel and recruit new personnel.
 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

We classify our mineral properties into two categories: “Operating Properties” and “Exploration Properties.” Operating Properties are properties on
which we operate a producing mine and are what we consider a “material” property in accordance with Guide 7. 

We currently have an interest in eight properties.  Six of our properties, including one Operating Property and five Exploration Properties, are in the
southern state of Oaxaca, Mexico. During 2014, we leased two properties in Nevada which are considered Exploration Properties.

Oaxaca Mining Unit

All of the properties that make up our Oaxaca Mining Unit are located in what is known as the San Jose structural corridor, which runs north 70
degrees west. Our properties comprise 55 continuous kilometers of this structural corridor which spans three historic mining districts in Oaxaca.  The
map below shows the general location of our six Oaxaca properties:

We are granted concessions from the Mexican federal government to explore and mine our properties in Mexico, see Mining Concessions and
Regulations in Mexico.  Certain properties are held by us as the concession holder and other properties that we lease from a third party.  We are
required to pay concession fees to the Mexican government to maintain our interest in these concessions, and we pay concession fees for all of our
mineral properties, including those which are subject to the third-party lease.  The table below details information related to the mining concessions that
comprise our six properties in Oaxaca.

 Concession Name(s) Size Property Interest
Acquisition

Date

2014
Maintenance

Fees Paid
 (in hectares) *

Operating Properties:

El Aguila El Aguila and Mina El Aire 971 Lease, subject to royalty 2002 $ 18,870 

El Aguila El Chacal and El Pilon 1,445 
Concession holder, subject to
royalty 2010 7,981 

El Aguila
El Pitayo 1, 2, 3 and 4,  El Talaje and San
Luis 4,775 Concession holder 2008 26,370 

El Aguila El Zorrito 9,828 Concession holder 2009 26,985 

El Aguila El Coyote and La Curva 7,245 Concession holder 2010 19,893 

El Aguila Zopi 720 Concession holder 2011 975 

El Aguila San Miguel Fracc 1 and San Miguel Fracc 2 2,090 Concession holder 2013 1,857 
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El Aguila El Aguila III 3,000 Concession holder 2014 1,340 
Total : 30,074 $ 104,271 

 Concession Name(s) Size Property Interest
Acquisition

Date

2014
Maintenance

Fees Paid
 (in hectares) *

Exploration Properties:
El Rey El Rey 172 Lease, subject to royalty 2002 $ 1,900 

El Rey El Virrey, La Reyna 728 Concession holder 2005 8,039 

El Rey El Marquez  1,874 Concession holder 2009 5,144 

El Chamizo El Chamizo 26,386 Concession holder 2011 35,033 

El Chamizo San Pedro Fracc 2 1,860 Concession holder, subject to
royalty

2013 20,550 

Alta Gracia David 1, David 2 and La Herradura 5,175 Concession holder 2008 28,581 

Las Margaritas La Tehuana 925 Concession holder 2002 17,975 

El Fuego San Pedro Fracc 1 2,554 Concession holder, subject to
royalty

2013 28,214 

Lachiguiri Lachiguiri 4,000 Concession holder 2014 1,786 

Total: 43,674 $ 147,222 

 
* One hectare is equal to 2.4711 acres. The 73,748 hectares in which we hold an interest is equal to approximately 285 square miles.

 

Operating Properties 

The El Aguila Project

Background

The El Aguila Project currently comprises 17 mining concessions aggregating 30,074 hectares as described in the table above.

In 2002, we leased the El Aguila,  El Aire and La Tehuana concessions from a third party. The El Aguila and El Aire concessions are part of the El
Aguila Project and the La Tehuana concession comprises the Las Margaritas property. The El Aguila lease agreement is subject to a 4% net smelter
return royalty where production is sold in the form of gold/silver doré and 5% for production sold in concentrate form. Subject to meeting minimum
exploration requirements, there is no expiration term for the lease. We may terminate it at any time upon written notice to the lessor and the lessor may
terminate it if we fail to fulfill any of our obligations, which primarily consists of paying the appropriate royalty to the lessor.

In 2010, we acquired from a third party, at no additional cost, the El Chacal and El Pilon concessions, which are subject to a 2% royalty, but are not
subject to the El Aguila lease agreement.  We filed for and received  additional concessions from the Mexican government which are also not part of the
concessions leased or acquired from the third party. The mineral concessions making up the El Aguila Project are located within the San Pedro
Totolapam Ejido.  
 

Location and Access

The El Aguila Project is located in the Sierra Madre del Sur  Mountains of southern Mexico in the central part of the State of Oaxaca. The property
is located along a major paved highway approximately 120 kilometers southeast of Oaxaca City, the state’s capital city. The property is approximately
four kilometers due northwest from the village of San Jose de Gracia. We have constructed gravel and paved roads from the village to the mine and mill
sites which supports adequate access to the property.

 
The climate of the El Aguila Project area is dry and warm to very warm with most rainfall occurring in the summer and annual precipitation

averaging 423.7 mm. The average yearly temperature is 26.6 degrees centigrade. The area is very rocky with arid vegetation. Subsistence farming
occurs and the main agricultural crop is agave cactus that is cultivated for the production of mescal.  

 
Geology and Mineralization

The El Aguila Project is located in the San Jose de Gracia Mining District in Oaxaca. Multiple volcanic domes of various scales, and probably non-
vented intrusive domes, dominate the district geology. These volcanogenic features are imposed on a pre-volcanic basement of sedimentary
rocks. Gold and silver mineralization in this district is related to the manifestations of this classic volcanogenic system and is considered epithermal in
character.

Historically, we have produced ore from two locations on the El Aguila property, the open pit mine (“ El Aguila open pit”) and the underground mine
at the La Arista vein system. The El Aguila open pit mineralization is considered low sulfidation, epithermal mineralization primarily of gold with some
silver and no base metals. The La Arista vein system is considered intermediate epithermal mineralization of gold, silver, copper, lead, and zinc. The host
rock at the La Arista vein system is primarily andesite.

 
Facilities

We constructed a mill facility and infrastructure at the El Aguila Project for approximately $35 million in 2009, and expanded the mill facility in 2012
and 2013, by $23 million. The flotation mill expansion, completed at the end of 2013, increased the number of flotation cells and added a second ball
mill to allow for additional processing capacity. The mill is flexible in its ability to process several types of mineralization. It has a differential flotation
section capable of processing polymetallic mineralized material and producing up to three separate concentrate products for sale. The mill also has an
agitated leach circuit capable of producing gold and silver doré for sale.  Depending on the specific type and characteristics of the mineralized material
the mill can process sulfide material in its flotation circuit at a nominal 1,500 tonnes of mineralized material per day. The agitated leach circuit can
process a nominal 300 tonnes per day.

Our optimization of the mill expansion, which was completed in the fourth quarter of  2013, resulted in our ability to begin producing a higher grade
gold and silver concentrate in the first quarter of 2014, by utilizing a Knelson gravity concentrator at our mill facilities. With the goal of reducing refining
costs, royalties and treatment costs, we completed the commissioning phase of the doré processing facility and achieved commercial production in the
fourth quarter of 2014.

 
Power is provided by diesel generators at the site. We obtained water rights from the Mexican government for an amount of water that we believe is

sufficient to meet our operating requirements and pump it approximately five kilometers to the site from a permitted well located near the Totolapam
River.

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
Additional improvements at the site include a second diesel generation power plant and switch gear, paving a 3 kilometer section of the road from

the mine to the mill, construction of a new surface maintenance garage and fuel station, haul roads from the mine site to the mill, mill facility office
space, an assay lab, an exploration office, a tailings impoundment facility and other infrastructure.
 

Exploration Activities

The early history of activity at the El Aguila Project, as known by us, is prospecting and limited mining for gold and silver from the early 1900’s to
the mid 1960’s. In 1998, the concessions were leased to Apex Silver Mines Corporation of Denver, Colorado. Apex carried out an exploration program
involving geologic mapping, surface sampling and an 11-hole drilling program (1,242 meters). The results did not meet Apex’s expectations so it
cancelled its lease on the property in 2002. We leased the property from a third party in October 2002.

In August 2003, we commenced an initial drilling and exploration program. Through 2014 , we have drilled a total of 764 core holes (both surface
and underground) equaling 220,829 meters and 166 reverse circulation holes equaling 14,367 meters  for a total of 930 holes totaling 235,196 meters.  

 
Exploration at the El Aguila Project includes drilling the El Aguila open pit mineralization and the discovery and subsequent detailed drilling of the

La Arista deposit’s vein system. The La Arista vein system is made up of multiple en echelon parallel veins with the two primary veins, the Baja vein and
the Arista vein which are approximately 30 meters apart. Currently more than 15 veins have been identified with indications of at least 5 more. The
drilling of the La Arista vein system has shown mineralized material over 1,000 meters of strike length and more than 500 meters of depth with veins
open along strike and depth. 

 
Drilling at El Aguila in 2014, was mainly a continuation of the previous year’s activities of infill and step out drilling from the La Arista mine.  In

2014, 136 diamond drill holes (both surface and underground) totaling 43,137 meters were completed on the El Aguila Project. 
 
In 2014, exploratory drilling from the La Arista deposit also continued to expand the systems high-grade mineralization at the new Switchback

discovery, located 500 meters to the northeast of the La Arista deposit. Switchback has been drilled 450 meters along strike by 450 meters at depth,
containing significant gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc mineralization.  Drilling highlights include a 19.3 meter wide vein zone averaging 2.56 g/t gold,
129 g/t silver, 0.62% copper, 1.28% lead and 3.84% zinc which included 1.71 meters of 13.45 g/t gold, 860 g/t silver, 1.81% copper, 3.52% lead and
7.18% zinc.
 

Operating Activities

We commenced mining and milling operations at the El Aguila Project’s La Arista Mine on July 1, 2010. Mineral production during 2010 consisted
of processing mineralized material from the El Aguila open pit located approximately 0.5 kilometers from the mill. Mining of the open pit was essentially
completed in 2010. Approximately one-half of the open pit material was processed and one-half remains in long-term stockpiles.

 
During 2010, we began developing an underground mine to access the La Arista deposit’s vein system. The underground mine is approximately

two kilometers from the mill.  As of December 31, 2014, the construction of our primary decline ramp has now reached Level 19 which is approximately
360 vertical meters below the mine portal.
 

During 2014, we continued underground mining of the La Arista mineralized material at our El Aguila Project. In 2014, a record 9,654 linear meters
of tunnel construction was completed in the mine. This included 4,576 linear meters of capital mine infrastructure construction and a further 695 meters
of vertical rise development. Mine infrastructure improvements include a third surface exhaust fan installation and an underground water pumping
station.

 
In 2014, we processed underground ore through the mill at an average of 1,111 tonnes per day and totaled 375,623 tonnes for the year, with an

average grade of 3.21 grams per tonne gold and 29 6 grams per tonne silver. All of our processing is taking place using the mill’s flotation
circuit processing sulfide ore from the La Arista underground mine , as we have not yet utilized the mill’s agitated leach circuit. We anticipate that we
would use the agitated leach circuit if ever we are able to mine sufficient oxide material from one of our properties.  

 
Please see the table titled Production and Sales Statistics—El Aguila Project in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis  for

additional details concerning our mineral production statistics for 2014 and 2013.
 

Exploration Properties 

We currently hold an interest in five additional properties in our Oaxaca Mining Unit located in Oaxaca, Mexico and two properties in Nevada,
United States of America, which we classify as exploration properties. We do not currently consider any of these properties to be a “material” property
for purposes of Guide 7 and none of these properties has any known reserves. We anticipate that all exploration activities at these properties will be
funded through our working capital.

In 2015, we anticipate spending approximately $10.4 million for exploration which includes approximately $2.0 million for exploration ramps to the
Switchback.

Oaxaca Mining Unit

The Las Margaritas Property

The Las Margaritas property is made up of the La Tehuana concession. We leased this concession in October 2002, from a third party along with
two of the concessions comprising the El Aguila property and the terms of this agreement are discussed under “ The El Aguila Project” above. It is
comprised of approximately 925 hectares located along our 55 kilometer mineralized trend and  adjacent to the El Aguila Project. 

 
To date, we have drilled 24 core holes for a total of 8,035 meters at the Las Margaritas property.  In 2014, a soil and rock geochemical program

was conducted at the Las Margaritas property.  This program was a follow-up of the stream sediment geochemical program conducted in 2010 and
2012.  A total of 1,494 soil and 66 rock samples were collected on lines oriented from southwest to northeast across the projection of known regional
structures.  The soil data showed a series of west-northwest and northwest trending trends visible in the epithermal pathfinder suite of metals (gold,
silver, arsenic, antimony, mercury and thallium).  These linear patterns spatially correlate with known historical mining in the Las Margaritas district.  The
linear patterns also extend beyond and between the known workings and establish additional trends for prospecting along mapped structural
orientations. 

The Alta Gracia Property

In August 2009, we acquired claims adjacent to the Las Margaritas property in the Alta Gracia Mining District by filing concessions known as the
David 1 , the David 2  and La Herradura,  totaling 5,175 hectares. 
 

Follow-up surface drilling was conducted at Alta Gracia during 2014, with 39 diamond drill holes totaling 7,589 meters completed.  The 2014 drill
campaign initially focused near the historic El Mirador underground mine, testing the Mirador vein.  This drilling encountered significant intercepts
including 5.06 meters grading 1.53 g/t gold and 1,383 g/t silver and 8.58 meters grading 1.34 g/t and 700 g/t silver for the El Mirador vein.  The San Juan
Vein, located approximately 500 meters southwest of the historic El Mirador underground mine, was also tested and returned 1.19 meters grading 3.16
g/t gold and 2,232 g/t silver.  We also drilled the El Huaje vein, a parallel vein structure located approximately 200 meters southeast of the El Mirador
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vein, which returned 2.23 meters of 0.85 g/t gold, 710 g/t silver, 1.03% lead and 5.14% zinc.  The El Mirador and San Juan vein gold and silver
mineralization discovered to date does not show any appreciable base metals, so this precious metal mineralization could potentially be trucked to and
processed through the El Aguila Mill’s agitated leach circuit.  In 2015, mineable resources are planned to be estimated and metallurgical test work done
to determine if mining and processing of Alta Gracia mineralized material is warranted at our El Aguila processing facility.

The El Chamizo Property

In June 2011, we staked mineral claims between the El Rey property and Alta Gracia property along trend and acquired an exploration concession
from the Mexican government of approximately 26,386 hectares referred to as El Chamizo.  In March 2013, we acquired a property known as Cerro
Colorado (comprised of the San Pedro Fracc. 2  concession) from Almaden Minerals, Ltd. consisting of approximately 1,860 hectares.  The Cerro
Colorado property is surrounded by our El Chamizo concession and we include it as part of the El Chamizo property.  Any future production from the
Cerro Colorado concession is subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty in favor of Almaden.  

 
Because of the close proximity of El Chamizo to Alta Gracia, exploration activity began on this property during late 2011, and to date has been

limited to geochemical sampling and drilling of eight shallow core holes for a total of 1,327 meters.  No significant work was conducted at El Chamizo
during 2014. In 2015, exploration on the property is expected to include additional surface geological mapping and geochemical sampling of several new
prospective targets identified on the El Chamizo property. 

 
The El Fuego Property
 
In March 2013, we acquired the El Fuego property (comprised of the San Pedro Fracc. 1 concession) from Almaden Minerals Ltd. subject to a 2%

net smelter return royalty. The El Fuego property consists of approximately 2,554 hectares and is located south of our Alta Gracia and El Chamizo
properties.  In 2013, El Fuego was included in the property-wide airborne geophysical survey. Geologic mapping and surface sampling  were conducted
on the El Fuego property during 2013 and 2014 to allow us to meet the acceptable minimum amount of work required to maintain the claims.   

 
The El Rey Property
 
The El Rey property consists of concessions on the far northwest end of our 55 kilometer mineralized corridor in the State of Oaxaca known as El

Rey,  El Virrey,  La Reyna and El Marquez. We acquired the El Rey concession from a third party and it is subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty
payable to them on a portion of the claims. We obtained the remaining concessions by staking claims and filing for concessions with the Mexican
government.

 
The El Rey property is approximately 64.4 kilometers by road from the El Aguila Project. There is no plant or equipment on the El Rey property. If

exploration is successful, any mining would probably require an underground mine where mineralized material could be trucked to the El Aguila mill
located on the El Aguila Project for processing. Limited drilling at El Rey has encountered gold and silver mineralization up to one meter of 132.5 g/t
gold and 1.5 meters of 958 g/t silver. The mineralized material has been located within 100 meters from the surface. To date, we have drilled 48 core
holes for a total of 5,278 meters at the El Rey property. Early in 2012, we completed a small amount of work to finish refurbishing and extending an
existing shaft on the property to permit underground exploratory drilling.  We ceased work at El Rey during 2012, following a request to obtain additional
approvals from local community agencies. We continue to work with the local agencies and anticipate resolving the matter, but we have no assurance
that we will be able to resume our exploration activities in the near term.  If the matter is resolved, we will conduct follow-up drilling and exploration
based on the drilling done in 2008.  We do not anticipate any significant exploration activities at El Rey in 2015. However, we plan to conduct the
acceptable minimum amount of work required to maintain the claims.
 

Other Properties
 
Other properties include the 4,000-hectare Lachiguiri exploration concession granted from the Mexican government in 2014.  The Lachiguiri claim,

located 55 kilometers east of El Aguila, was staked to cover zones of interesting gold-silver-base metal mineralization occurring in limestone
conglomerates affected by intense fracturing, oxidation and some silicified zones.  Discussions with the local community for surface access and
preliminary field investigations are planned for Lachiguiri in 2015.
 

During 2015, we also plan to acquire additional properties and  conduct exploration programs including drilling along the 55 kilometer mineralized
trend and geologic structural corridor which encompasses our other properties in Mexico. 

Mining Concessions and Regulations in Mexico

Mineral rights in Mexico belong to the Mexican federal government and are administered pursuant to Article 27 of the Mexican Constitution. All of
our mining concessions are exploitation concessions, which may be granted or transferred to Mexican citizens and corporations. Our leases or
concessions are held by our Mexican subsidiary. Exploitation concessions have a term of 50 years and can be renewed for another 50
years. Concessions grant us the right to explore and exploit all minerals found in the ground. Maintenance of concessions requires the semi-annual
payment of mining duties (due in January and July) and the performance of assessment work, on a calendar year basis, with assessment work reports
required to be filed in the month of May for the preceding calendar year. The amount of mining duties and annual assessment are set by regulation and
may increase over the life of the concession and include periodic adjustments for inflation. Mining concessions are registered at the Public Registry of
Mining in Mexico City and in regional offices in Mexico.

Mexican mining law does not require payment of finder’s fees to the government, except for a discovery premium in connection with national
mineral reserves, concessions and claims or allotments contracted directly from the Mexican Geological Survey. None of the claims held by any of our
subsidiaries are under such a discovery premium regime.

Ejido Lands and Surface Right Acquisitions  in Mexico 

Surface lands at our Oaxaca mining properties are Ejido lands (agrarian cooperative lands granted by the federal government to groups of
Campesinos pursuant to Article 27 of the Mexican Constitution of 1917). Prior to January 1, 1994, Ejidos could not transfer Ejido lands into private
ownership. Amendments to Article 27 of the Mexican Constitution in 1994 now allow individual property ownership within Ejidos and allow Ejidos to enter
into commercial ventures with individuals or entities, including foreign corporations. We have an agreement with the local San Pedro Totolapam Ejido
allowing exploration and exploitation of mineralization at the El Aguila Project and some of our surrounding properties.

 
Mexican law recognizes mining as a land use generally superior to agricultural. However, the law also recognizes the rights of the Ejidos to

compensation in the event mining activity interrupts or discontinues their use of the agricultural lands. Compensation is typically made in the form of a
cash payment to the holder of the agricultural rights. The amount of such compensation is generally related to the perceived value of the agricultural
rights as negotiated in the first instance between the Ejidos and the owner of the mineral rights. If the parties are unable to reach agreement on the
amount of the compensation, the decision will be referred to the government.

 
We have established surface rights agreements with the San Pedro Totolapam Ejido  and the individuals impacted by our proposed operations

which allow disturbance of the surface where necessary for our exploration activities and mining operations.
 

Nevada Mining Unit
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In 2014, we acquired an interest in two properties in the State of Nevada, United States of America, both of which we classify as Exploration
Properties. We do not currently consider any of these properties to be a material  property for purposes of Guide 7 and neither  of these properties has
any known reserves. We anticipate that all exploration activities at these properties will be funded through  our working capital.

 

 
The Radar Property
 
In September 2014, we leased the Radar property from Altan Nevada Minerals Limited  for ten years. The Radar property covers an area of

approximately 3,550 acres and is made up of 178 unpatented lode claims located in the area known as the Walker Lane Mineral Belt in central Nevada.
Radar is immediately adjacent to the former gold-silver-mercury past producing Paradise Peak Mine, near the Round Mountain and Rawhide mines.
Pursuant to the lease, we will be required to make work expenditures of up to $250,000 annually to maintain our interest in the property and at our option
we may purchase the property for $1.5 million, subject to a 3% net smelter return royalty, at any time prior to the expiration of the lease term.
 

The Goose Property
 

In December 2014, we leased the Goose property from Nevada Eagle LLC for five years. The Goose property consists of five unpatented lode
claims covering approximately 100 acres adjacent to Radar in the Walker Lane Mineral Belt. The claims comprising the Goose property cover “Newman
Ridge,” a mountain located directly west of the past producing Paradise Peak mine, near the Round Mountain and Rawhide mines.  We have an option
to purchase the property for $175,000, subject to a 2% net smelter return royalty, at any time prior to the expiration of the lease term . The Goose
Property is located within the area of interest for the Radar Property which is being leased from Altan Nevada Minerals Limited and falls under an
additional 3% smelter return royalty.

Office Facilities 

We maintain offices in Oaxaca and in Colorado.  We constructed an administrative office building adjacent to the mill site as part of the facilities at
the El Aguila Project. We also lease office space in Oaxaca City, Oaxaca consisting of approximately 3,000 square feet.  The lease commenced in 2012
for ten years. In 2014, we sold the building that serves as our executive and administrative headquarters in Colorado Springs and have leased a portion
back under a renewable one-year lease. We also established a satellite office in Denver, Colorado consisting of approximately 2,500 square feet, the
lease commenced in 2012 for three years.

Glossary

The following terms used in this report shall have the following meanings:
  

  

Andesite: An extrusive igneous, volcanic rock, of intermediate composition, with aphanitic to porphyritic texture characteristic of
subduction zones, such as the western margin of South America.

 

Doré: Unrefined gold and silver bars usually containing more than 90% precious metal.
 

en echelon:
 
 

 
 
Closely-spaced, parallel or subparallel, overlapping or step-like minor structural features in rock.
 

Epithermal: Used to describe gold deposits found on or just below the surface close to vents or volcanoes, formed at low
temperature and pressure.

g/t: Grams per metric ton.
 

Hectare: Another metric unit of measurement, for surface area. One hectare equals 1/200  of a square kilometer, 10,000
square meters, or 2.47 acres. A hectare is approximately the size of a soccer field.

 
 

Mineralized Material: Minerals or any mass of host rock in which minerals of potential commercial value occur.
 

Net Smelter Return Royalty: A share of the net revenue generated from the sale of metal produced by the mine, “NSR”.
 

Mineral Deposit: Rocks that contain economic amounts of minerals in them and that are expected to be profitably mined.
 

Portal: The entrance to the mine at the surface.
 
 

Tonne: A metric ton. One tonne equals 1000 kg . It is approximately equal to 2,204.62 pounds.
 

Volcanogenic: Of volcanic origin.
 

th
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Volcanic domes: These are mounds that form when viscous lava is erupted slowly and piles up over the vent, rather than moving away
as lava flow. The sides of most domes are very steep and typically are mantled with unstable rock debris formed
during or shortly after dome emplacement. Most domes are composed of silica-rich lava which may contain enough
pressurized gas to cause explosions during dome extrusion.

 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

A securities class action lawsuit subsequently captioned In re Gold Resource Corporation. Securities Litigation, No.1:12-cv-02832 was filed in U.S.
District Court for the District of Colorado naming us and certain of our current and former officers and directors as defendants on October 25, 2012.   The
complaint alleged violations of federal securities laws by us and certain of our officers and directors. On July 15, 2013, the federal district court granted
our motion to dismiss the lawsuit with prejudice.  On January 16, 2015, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit affirmed the District
Court’s decision. While the securities class action lawsuit may be subject to rehearing or appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court within a specified time
period, we believe the plaintiff does not intend to take any further action regarding this lawsuit.

 
On February 8, 2013, a shareholder’s derivative lawsuit entitled City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Reid et al., No. 1:13-CV-00348  was filed in the U.S.

District Court for the District of Colorado naming us as a nominal defendant, and naming seven of our current and former officers and directors as
defendants. The lawsuit alleges breach of fiduciary duty, gross mismanagement and unjust enrichment and seeks to recover, for the Gold Resource
Corporation’s benefit, unspecified damages purportedly sustained by us in connection with the alleged misconduct identified in the class action lawsuit
discussed above and an award of attorney’s fees and costs. The action was stayed pending resolution of the appeal of the dismissal of the securities
class action lawsuit. Following the appellate court’s decision to affirm the District Court’s ruling, all parties to the shareholder derivative lawsuit agreed to
voluntarily dismiss the proceedings and the case was terminated on February 25, 2015.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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 PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY
SECURITIES 

Market Information 

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT LLC stock exchange, which we refer to as the NYSE MKT, under the symbol “GORO”.  The table
below sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock on the NYSE MKT for the last two fiscal years on a quarterly basis. 

Year Ending High Low
December 31, 2014

First Quarter $ 6.16 $ 4.45

Second Quarter 5.27 3.52

Third Quarter 6.35 4.74

Fourth Quarter 5.36 2.70

December 31, 2013

First Quarter $ 15.85 $ 12.26

Second Quarter 13.20 7.92

Third Quarter 9.43 6.31

Fourth Quarter 6.54 4.49

On March 18, 2015, the high and low sales prices of our common stock on the NYSE MKT stock exchange were $2.85 and $2.62, respectively,
and we had approximately 200 record holders. 

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans

The following table provides information about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of
our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2014.

Plan Category

Number of Securities
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding options,

warrants and rights (a)

Weighted-average
Exercise price of

Outstanding options,
warrants and rights (b)

Number of securities
Remaining available for

future issuance under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities

reflected in column (a)) (c)
 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders: 4,675,000 $ 9.61 1,475,000

 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company and Affiliated Purchasers
 

In September 2011, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase of up to $20.0 million with no pre-established end date.  During 2014
and 2013, we did not repurchase any shares of Gold Resource Corporation common stock on the open market, and approximately $14 million remains
available in the share repurchase program as of December 31, 2014.

Performance Graph 

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended,
except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference in such filing.

The following graph compares the performance of Gold Resource Corporation common stock with the performance of the NYSE MKT Composite
Index and the S&P TSX Global Gold Fund, assuming reinvestment of dividends on December 31 of each year indicated. The graph assumes $100
invested at the per share closing price in Gold Resource Corporation and each of the indices on December 31, 2009.

Transfer Agent 

Computershare Investor Services, Inc. is the transfer agent for our common stock. The principal office of Computershare is located at 8742 Lucent
Boulevard, Suite 225, Highlands Ranch CO  80129 and its telephone number is (303) 262-0600.

Dividend Policy 
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Since commencing mining operations at our El Aguila Project, one of management’s primary goals has been to make cash dividend distributions to
shareholders. Since commercial production began July of 2010, the Company has returned over $102 million back to shareholders in consecutive
monthly dividends.   Our dividend philosophy remains consistent in returning as much in dividends as possible to the shareholders when possible.
Regular dividends should not be considered a prediction or guarantee of future dividends. Our instituted dividend may be modified or discontinued at
any time at the discretion of our Board of Directors, depending on variables such as, but not limited to, operating cash flow, mine construction
requirements and strategies, other construction projects, spot gold and silver prices, taxation , government royalties and general market conditions. At
the present time, we are not a party to any agreement that would limit our ability to pay dividends. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 we
declared cash dividends on our common stock of $0.01 per share for each month of the year. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, we
declared cash dividends on our common stock of $0.06 per share for the first three months, $0.03 per share the next eight months and $0.01 per share
for the last month.

 
Physical Dividend Program
 
In 2012, we launched a physical dividend program pursuant to which our shareholders have the option to convert the cash dividends that we pay

into physical gold and silver bullion. As part of our overall strategy to diversify our treasury and to facilitate this program, we may periodically purchase
gold and silver bullion.  In order for a shareholder to convert their cash dividend into physical gold and/or silver, the shareholder must opt-in to the
physical dividend program and request the conversion of their cash dividend, or portion thereof, into physical gold and/or silver. For those shareholders
who elect to convert their cash dividend into gold and/or silver bullion, the gold and silver will be delivered in the form of gold or silver Gold Resource
Corporation one ounce bullion rounds. No action is required by any shareholder who elects not to participate in the physical metals program. For those
shareholders who wish to convert any portion of their cash dividend into gold and/or silver bullion, the process is summarized as follows:
 

· Shareholders must register and hold their Gold Resource Corporation common shares in their name directly with our transfer agent,
Computershare Investor Services, and not through a brokerage house or other intermediary held in a “street name”. This is a requirement so
that we can locate and validate the shareholder’s position in our common stock.

 
· Shareholders must set up an individual account with Gold Bullion International (“GBI”), 1325 Avenue of the Americas, 7  Floor, Suite 0703-2,

New York, NY 10019. GBI facilitates the cash to gold and silver conversion.
 

· Shareholders then direct their cash dividend check issued by Computershare to be electronically deposited to the shareholder’s GBI account for
the option to have it, or any portion thereof that denominates into a one ounce gold or silver bullion round. The election to convert all or any
portion of the shareholder’s cash dividend into bullion is governed by an agreement between the shareholder and GBI.

 
· Shareholders with accounts at GBI who wish to change their current gold, silver or cash allocations for their cash dividend must do so by

midnight Eastern Time on the date preceding the monthly dividend record date. We issue a press release with details of each dividend
declaration, and the dividend record and payment dates.

 
· On the dividend record date, the number of bullion ounces to be converted and distributed to the shareholder’s individual account on the

dividend payment date is calculated as the dollar value of that portion of the cash dividend the shareholder elected to convert to bullion, divided
by the London Bullion Market PM gold fix plus gold bullion minting cost factors on the record date or the London Bullion Market silver fix plus
silver bullion minting cost factors on the record date.

 
Only whole ounces of gold and silver bullion are credited to a shareholder’s individual account on the dividend payment date. The cash value

attributable to fractional ounces will remain in the shareholder’s individual account as cash until such time as future dividends provide the shareholder
with sufficient cash to convert to whole ounces of gold or silver based on the London PM gold fix and silver fix on a future dividend record date, and
based on the shareholder’s self-directed gold, silver or cash allocations in effect at that time. The shareholder may also choose to move their cash out of
their GBI account. Shareholders cannot move cash into their GBI account for conversion into gold and silver. Only the shareholder’s cash dividend sent
from Computershare is eligible for conversion.

 
 We encourage shareholders who have questions concerning the physical dividend program to contact our investor relations department at (303)

320-7708.
 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data sets forth our summary historical financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012,
2011 and 2010. This information was derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for each period. Our selected historical financial data is
qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and the financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this report. For additional information relating to our
operations, see Item 1. Business and Item 2. Properties.  

Operating Data Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Sales, net $ 115,405 $ 125,784 $ 131,794 $ 105,163 $ 14,754 
Mine gross profit 50,871 58,258 87,773 80,521 7,971 
Operating income (loss) 31,588 10,330 49,704 45,674 (22,839)
Other income (expense) (322) (1,355) (2,736) 2,414 (235)
Income (loss) before income taxes 31,266 8,975 46,968 48,088 (23,074)
Provision for income taxes (benefit) 15,021 8,890 13,297 (12,037)  -
Net income (loss) before extraordinary item 16,245 85 33,671 60,125 (23,074)
Extraordinary item  -  -  - (1,756)  -
Net income (loss) $ 16,245 $ 85 $ 33,671 $ 58,369 $ (23,074)

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic:

Before extraordinary item $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.64 $ 1.13 $ (0.46)

Extraordinary item  -  -  - (0.03)  -

Net income (loss) $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.64 $ 1.10 $ (0.46)

Diluted:

Before extraordinary item $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.60 $ 1.06 $ (0.46)

Extraordinary item  -  -  - (0.03)  -

Net income (loss) $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.60 $ 1.03 $ (0.46)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 54,119,095 53,255,259 52,846,163 52,979,481 50,042,471 

Diluted 54,620,332 55,299,475 56,315,885 56,414,654 50,042,471 

 

th
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Balance Sheet Data As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,541 $ 14,973 $ 35,780 $ 51,960 $ 47,582 
Total current assets 47,100 39,599 58,984 85,108 57,687 
Property, plant and mine development, net 32,348 18,354 14,277 10,545 5,076 
Deferred tax asset 25,519 29,814 31,559 19,517  -
Total assets 111,665 92,429 105,629 115,170 62,797 
Current liabilities 17,762 11,878 13,025 25,761 6,456 
Long-term obligations 3,827 5,274 2,790 2,281 2,495 
Shareholders’ equity 90,076 75,277 89,814 87,128 53,846 
 

(1) Certain changes between the years 2014 and prior may be related to the transition from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise in accordance with Guide
7. Prior to January 1, 2014, we were considered an Exploration Stage Enterprise under SEC criteria since we had not demonstrated proven and probable reserves at our
properties. Accordingly, as required under SEC guidelines, substantially all of our investment in mining properties up to that date, including construction of the mill, mine facilities
and mine construction expenditures, were expensed as incurred and therefore do not appear as assets on our balance sheet. The change in our accounting presentation as a result
of our transition to a production stage enterprise may make certain period-over-period comparisons less meaningful.

(2) During 2014, the Company determined that it incorrectly classified the presentation of deferred income taxes, the presentation of a deferred charge, and the presentation of an
investment within the consolidated balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2013, the Company made certain tax related reclassifications on the consolidated balance sheet which
resulted in a $1.7 million decrease to current deferred tax assets, a $2.2 million increase to noncurrent deferred tax assets and a $0.5 million increase to current deferred tax
liability. We also reclassified $3.5 million from income tax receivable to other noncurrent assets and $0.2 million was reclassified from prepaid expenses and other current assets to
investments. Additionally, for 2013 the following immaterial corrections were made to the consolidated statements of cash flows associated with the above changes; amounts
previously presented as changes in income tax payable/receivable have been reclassified as other and amounts previously presented as changes in prepaid expenses and other
current assets have been reclassified as purchases of marketable securities. There was an increase in the net cash provided by operating activities of $0.2 million and a
corresponding decrease in the net cash used in investing activities reported for the period ended December 31, 2013 as a result of these changes. The reclassification was made
for presentation purposes and had no material impact on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income.

See the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K under Item 8 for additional information.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Except for the historical information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. We caution you not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this
report. Our actual future results or actions may differ materially from these forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks
described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual report and other reports filed by us with the SEC. Our discussion and analysis of
our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in this report and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we currently
expect.  

 
The following discussion summarizes our results of operations for three fiscal years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 and our financial

condition at December 31, 2014 and 2013, with a particular emphasis on the year ended December 31, 2014.
 
The discussion also presents certain Non-GAAP financial measures that are important to management in its evaluation of our operating results and

which are used by management to compare our performance with what we perceive to be peer group mining companies, and are relied on as part of
management’s decision-making process. Management believes these measures may also be important to investors in evaluating our performance. For
a detailed description of each of the Non-GAAP financial measures, please see the discussion under Non-GAAP Measures.

Overview 

Business

We are a mining company which pursues gold and silver projects that are expected to have low operating costs and high returns on
capital.  We are presently focused on mineral production from ore at the El Aguila Project in Oaxaca, Mexico.  Operations at the El Aguila
open pit mine ceased in February 2011, with the start-up of mine operations at the La Arista underground mine in March 2011. Our La
Arista underground mine produces metal concentrates from ore containing our precious metal products of gold and silver, and by-products
of copper, lead and zinc, as well as gold and silver doré. 

 
The mill located at our El Aguila Project produced a total of 83,903 precious metal gold equivalent ounces for the year ended December 31, 2014 ,

which was approximately 1.1% less than our stated 2014 targeted mill production range.  During the same period we sold 69 ,845 precious metal gold
equivalent ounces. Precious metal gold equivalent is determined by taking the gold ounces produced or sold, plus silver ounces produced or  sold
converted to precious metal gold equivalent ounces using the gold to silver average ratio for the period. The gold and silver average prices used to
determine the gold to silver average price ratio are the actual metal prices realized from sales of our gold and silver. For the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, we had cash cost per ounce of $449, $626 and $ 419, respectively.  (Please see the section titled Non-GAAP Measures below for
additional information concerning the cash cost per ounce measure.)    

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded revenues of $115.4 million, mine gross profit of $50.9 million and net income of $16.2
million.  In 2014, dividends distributed to shareholders totaled $0.12 per share or $6.5 million.
 

Our optimization of the mill expansion, which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2013, resulted in our ability to begin producing a higher grade
gold and silver concentrate in the first quarter of 2014 by utilizing a Knelson gravity concentrator at our mill facilities. With the goal of reducing refining
costs, royalties and treatment costs, we completed the commissioning phase of the doré processing facility and achieved commercial production in the
fourth quarter of 2014. We capitalized approximately $0.9 million during 2014 on the doré processing facility. 

 
Underground mine operational challenges during 2014 included mine advancements of infrastructure, dewatering of the mine, management of

carbon dioxide gas, limiting dilution of ore while mining and variable grades of the mineralized material depending on the location of the deposit being
mined at any point in time. Our mining team takes a proactive approach to mitigating these challenges as we improve and optimize our mining
techniques. In addition to operational challenges, we experienced significant volatility and declining metals prices during 2014, which unfavorably
impacted the ratio which we use to calculate gold equivalent ounces.
 

Our annual mill precious metal production in 2014 was 35,552 gold ounces, an increase of approximately 4.7% over 2013, while annual silver
production increased approximately 8.7%, or 3,297,204 ounces over the same period. Our 2014 production on a precious metal gold equivalent basis
totaled 83,903 ounces at a 68.2:1 silver to gold ratio, which included 19,057 ounces precious metal gold equivalent produced during the fourth quarter at
a 77.6:1 silver to gold ratio.  The Company’s full 2014, production year budget assumed a 63.2:1 silver to gold ratio ($19.00 silver and $1,200 gold)
based on spot metal prices at the beginning of 2014.  Had 2014 seen less volatility in the metal prices and the  budget estimate of 63.2:1 silver to gold
ratio held for the year, we would have produced approximately 87,720 gold equivalent ounces.

 
Reserve Report

 
Beginning January 1, 2014, we transitioned from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise as defined by Guide 7. On April

30, 2014, we issued a report on the reserve estimate for the La Arista underground mine at the El Aguila Project with an effective date of December 31,
2013. The report confirms the existence of proven and probable reserves as defined in Guide 7 and we therefore transitioned from a Development
Stage Entity as defined in Accounting Standards Codification 915 – Development Stage Entities  (“ASC 915”), we also transitioned from  an Exploration
Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise as defined in Guide 7. We no longer consider ourselves to be a Development Stage Entity as defined
in ASC 915 and accordingly cumulative and other disclosures required by ASC 915 are no longer included in our financial statements.

Prior to January 1, 2014, we were considered a  Development Stage Entity under SEC criteria since we had not demonstrated proven and probable
reserves at our El Aguila Project in Oaxaca, Mexico or any of our other properties. Accordingly, as required under SEC guidelines, substantially all of our
investment in mining properties up to that date, including construction of the mill, mine facilities and mine construction expenditures, were expensed as
incurred and therefore do not appear as assets on our balance sheet.

   
Our characterization as an exploration stage company resulted in the classification of our facilities and mine construction expenditures as operating

expenses rather than capital expenditures, and may have caused us to report lower net income than if we had capitalized the expenditures.  In addition,
prior to January 1, 2014, our financial statements did not reflect a corresponding depreciation or amortization expense for our facilities and mine
construction costs since they were expensed as incurred rather than capitalized. The change in our accounting presentation as a result of our transition
to a production stage enterprise may make certain period-over-period comparisons less meaningful than otherwise since we capitalized mine
development related expenditures that would have been expensed under our prior accounting presentation.  

 
We plan to update our reserve report annually .   
 
Doré Processing Facility
   
Our optimization of the mill expansion during 2013 resulted in our ability to begin producing a higher grade gold and silver concentrate in the first

quarter of 2014 by utilizing a Knelson gravity concentrator at our mill facilities. With the goal of reducing refining costs, royalties and treatment costs, we
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completed the commissioning phase of the doré processing facility, and achieved commercial production in the fourth quarter of 2014, resulting in 1,561
gold equivalent ounces or $3.1 million, net of treatment charges, sold in the form of commercial grade doré bars for the year ended December 31, 2014.
At December 31, 2014 we had approximately 6,400 ounces of high grade gold and silver concentrate inventory awaiting to be processed into doré bars
at our doré facility in early 2015.  

 
Exploration Activities

During 2014, we continued to focus primarily on infill and step-out drilling at the La Arista underground mine, located at the El Aguila
Project.  Because this drilling is used to define the mineralization and to assist in mining of the ore at the underground mine, these expenses are
considered development and delineation of the ore body (not exploration), and these costs are classified as construction and development in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Exploration activities that are classified as exploration expenses in the consolidated statements of operations include, but are not limited to, drilling
other areas of the El Aguila Project to test new geologic targets, and exploration work on our other exploration properties. In 2015, we anticipate
spending approximately $9.7  million for exploration activities in Mexico. This shall include approximately $6.5 million for surface drilling and $1.2 million
for underground drilling and $2.0 million on the exploration ramp to the Switchback.  By comparison, we spent $6.9 million on exploration in 2014. We
anticipate that all exploration activities will be funded from working capital.

In Nevada, United States of America, we anticipate spending an additional $0.7 million on exploration, mainly for surface drilling on our Radar
property during 2015.

During 2014, we made the decision to drift several hundred meters from the Arista deposit towards the Switchback discovery, located
approximately 500 meters northeast of the operating La Arista mine, to set up a drill station better suited to test the Switchback mineralization.  Drilling
thus far has defined a mineralized strike length of 450 meters by a depth of 450 meters.  Drilling from the new drill pad late in 2014 continued to identify
infill intercepts of high-grade polymetallic gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc mineralization in multiple en echelon veins. Visual similarities exist among
the drill core and the assayed high-grade mineralization when comparing the Switchback to the Arista deposit.  We are in the preliminary stages of mine
planning and additional core drilling at the Switchback for the purposes of obtaining better data to decide whether to move forward with targeted future
production while being able to utilize the current infrastructure of the La Arista mine to efficiently access and mine the Switchback.

El Aguila Project:  During 2014, our exploration activities at El Aguila continued to emphasize mine expansion at the La Arista vein system.  We
continued to focus primarily on infill and step-out drilling to define the mineralization and to assist in mining of the mineralized material at the La Arista
underground mine.  Drilling has principally targeted extensions of the La Arista deposit vein system.  Surface drilling was also conducted on the  potential
feeder veins of the El Aguila open pit and  Santiago veins and the Chacal and Salina Blanca  prospects, located northwest and southwest of the La Arista
mine, respectively. Economically significant gold, silver and base metal values were encountered and further drilling is planned in 2015.  The results from
these activities have also generated additional exploration targets that are marked for future drilling.

Oaxaca Mining Unit Exploration
 
Alta Gracia property:  Surface diamond drilling was conducted at Alta Gracia during 2014. We drilled 39 core holes totaling 7,589 meters in

2014.  Mineable resources are being estimated and metallurgical test work done to determine if mining and processing of Alta Gracia mineralized
material is warranted at our El Aguila processing facility.  Follow-up drilling is also being planned for Alta Gracia in 2015.

 Las Margaritas property: A soil and rock geochemical program was conducted at the Las Margaritas property in 2014.  Follow-up investigation and
drilling is being planned for Las Margaritas in 2015.

El Chamizo property:  Surface geological mapping and geochemical sampling of several new prospective targets identified on the El Chamizo
property are planned in 2015.

El Fuego property:  During 2014, preliminary investigations were conducted on the El Fuego property.  Further investigations and diamond drilling
are planned for El Fuego in 2015.

Nevada Mining Unit Exploration

Radar property:  During 2014, data review and field investigations to identify drilling targets were conducted on the  Radar property.    Further
investigations and diamond drilling are planned for Radar in 2015.

 
Goose property:  Initial field investigations to identify drill targets are planned for the Goose property in 2015.
 

Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013

Sales of metals, net

Metal sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 decreased by $10.4 million, or 8.3%. This decrease was primarily due to the
increase of 6,400 ounces of high-grade gold and silver concentrate inventory awaiting to be processed at our doré facility as of December 31, 2014,
lower average grades mined and processed during the year, and lower realized gold and silver prices when compared to the corresponding period in
2013. Gold and silver prices realized for the year ended December 31, 2014 decreased by 9.2% to $1,260 per ounce and 21.8% to $18.48 per ounce,
respectively, when compared to the same period in 2013. Revenue generated from the sale of base metals in our concentrates is considered a by-
product of our gold and silver production for the purpose of our total cash cost after by-product credits measure noted in our Non-GAAP measures
disclosure. (See Production and Sales Statistics - La Arista Underground Mine table below for additional information regarding our mineral
production statistics for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013).
 

We periodically review our revenues to ensure that our reporting of primary products and by-
products is appropriate. Because we consider copper, lead and zinc to be by-
products of our precious metal gold equivalent production, the value of these metal s is applied as a reduction to total cash costs in our calculation of total cash
cost, after by-product credits, per precious metal gold equivalent ounce sold, including royalties. (See Non-GAAP Measures disclosures).

Production

For the year ended December 31, 2014, mill production totaled 35,552 ounces of gold, an increase of approximately 4.7% over 2013; silver
production increased to 3,297,204 ounces, an increase over prior year of approximately 8.7%. On  a precious metal gold equivalent basis, our mill
production totaled 83,903ounces, compared to 84,835 precious metal gold equivalent ounces for 2013, or a 1.1% decrease.  The decrease in the
precious metal gold equivalent ounces was primarily due to a higher gold to silver average ratio as a result of a drop in our actual metal prices realized
from sales of our gold and silver during 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we sold 25,872 ounces gold and 2,998,685 ounces silver from
the La Arista underground mine for a gross sales value of approximately $32.6 million and $55.4 million, respectively. This compares to 31,563  ounces
of gold and 3,047,076 ounces of silver sold during 2013 from the La Arista underground mine for a gross sales value of $43.8 million and $72.0 million,
respectively. This decrease in sold ounces was in large part due to the increase in concentrate inventory.

See Production and Sales Statistics- La Arista Underground Mine table below for additional information regarding our mineral production
statistics. 

We continue to focus on mining and development activities at the La Arista underground mine. Our production rate at La Arista is directly a result of
mine development and the establishment of sufficient stopes and working faces. The  El Aguila mill’s flotation circuit processing capacity is a nominal
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1,500 tonnes per day. Achieving this processing rate in the future is dependent upon our ability to develop the La Arista underground mine to a point
where ore extraction can consistently achieve an average rate of 1,500 tonnes per day. During the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2014
we processed on average 1,068 and 1,111 ore tonnes per day, respectfully, as compared to 906 and 866 ore tonnes per day for the same period s in
2013, representing an increase of 17.9% and  28.3%, respectively.  

Below are certain key operating statistics for our La Arista underground mine for 2014 and 2013.

Production and Sales Statistics - La Arista Underground Mine

 Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013

Milled:

Tonnes Milled 91,830 83,330 375,623 316,720 

Tonnes Milled per Day 1,068 906 1,111 866 

Grade:

Average Gold Grade (g/t) 3.30 3.67 3.21 3.72 

Average Silver Grade (g/t) 290 292 296 326 

Average Copper Grade (%) 0.50 0.35 0.43 0.38 

Average Lead Grade (%) 1.75 1.60 1.57 1.24 

Average Zinc Grade (%) 4.95 3.61 4.21 2.95 

Recoveries:

Average Gold Recovery (%) 91 91 92 90 

Average Silver Recovery (%) 92 91 92 91 

Average Copper Recovery (%) 79 76 78 78 

Average Lead Recovery (%) 80 72 77 70 

Average Zinc Recovery (%) 85 84 83 80 

 
Production and Sales Statistics - La Arista Underground Mine continued

 Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013

Mill production (before payable metal deductions)

Gold (ozs.) 8,865 8,966 35,552 33,942 

Silver (ozs.) 790,738 711,496 3,297,204 3,032,841 

Copper (tonnes) 363 224 1,254 926 

Lead (tonnes) 1,282 956 4,555 2,742 

Zinc (tonnes) 3,856 2,520 13,195 7,452 

Payable metal sold
Gold (ozs.) 6,026 7,629 25,872 31,563 

Silver (ozs.) 827,386 686,421 2,998,685 3,047,076 

Copper (tonnes) 388 214 1,139 941 

Lead (tonnes) 1,270 908 4,208 2,632 

Zinc (tonnes) 3,450 2,129 10,833 6,596 

Average metal prices realized 
Gold (oz.) $ 1,169 $ 1,236 $ 1,260 $ 1,388 

Silver (oz.) $ 15.07 $ 20.36 $ 18.48 $ 23.64 

Copper (tonnes) $ 6,480 $ 7,109 $ 6,770 $ 7,341 

Lead (tonnes) $ 1,927 $ 2,086 $ 2,088 $ 2,188 

Zinc (tonnes) $ 2,181 $ 1,894 $ 2,200 $ 1,943 
Precious metal gold equivalent ounces produced (mill production) 

Gold Ounces 8,865 8,966 35,552 33,942 

Gold Equivalent Ounces from Silver 10,192 11,721 48,351 50,893 

Total Precious Metal Gold Equivalent Ounces 19,057 20,687 83,903 84,835 

Precious metal gold equivalent ounces sold 
Gold Ounces 6,026 7,629 25,872 31,563 

Gold Equivalent Ounces from Silver 10,664 11,308 43,973 51,372 

Total Precious Metal Gold Equivalent Ounces 16,690 18,937 69,845 82,935 
Total cash cost (before by-product credits) per precious metal gold
equivalent ounce sold (including royalties) 

$ 1,298 $ 1,077 $ 1,025 $ 933 
Total cash costs, after by-product credits, per precious metal gold
equivalent ounce sold (including royalties) 

$ 550 $ 684 $ 449 $ 626 

 
(1) Mill production represents metal contained in concentrates produced at the mill, which is before payable metal deductions are levied by the buyer of our concentrates. Payable

metal deduction quantities are defined in our contracts with the buyer of our concentrates and represent an estimate of metal contained in the concentrates produced at our mill
which the buyer cannot recover through the smelting process. There are inherent limitations and differences in the sampling method and assaying of estimated metal contained in
concentrates that are shipped, and those contained metal estimates are derived from sampling methods and assaying throughout the mill production process.  The Company
monitors these differences to ensure that precious metal mill production quantities are materially correct.

(2) Average metal prices realized vary from the market metal prices due to final settlement adjustments from our provisional invoices when they are settled. Our average metal prices
realized will therefore differ from the market average metal prices in most cases.

(3) Precious metal gold equivalent mill production for the three months ended December 31, 2014, of 19,057 ounces differs from gold equivalent ounces sold for the same period of
16,690 due principally to buyer (smelter) concentrate processing and other deductions of approximately 1,503 gold equivalent ounces and an increase in gold equivalent ounces
contained in ending inventory of approximately 862 ounces.

(4) Precious metal gold equivalent mill production for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, of 83,903 ounces differs from gold equivalent ounces sold for the same period of
69,845 principally due to buyer (smelter) concentrate processing and other deductions of approximately 8,442 gold equivalent ounces and an increase in gold equivalent ounces
contained in ending inventory of approximately 5,616 ounces.

(5) Non-GAAP measure to total mine cost of sales reconciliation, which is the most comparable United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) measure, see
Non-GAAP Measures. 

 

Our 2015 mine plan anticipates that we will be mining areas of the deposit that contain higher levels of base metals along with the primary
production of gold and silver, as compared to 2014 levels. We are targeting a mill production range of 80,000 to 90,000 ounces of precious metal gold
equivalent in 2015, assuming a 64. 1:1 silver to gold ratio. 

(1)

(2)

(1)
(3)(4)

(3)(4)

(5)

(5)
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Mine gross profit. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, mine gross profit totaled $50.9 million compared to $58.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
The $7.4 million decrease in mine gross profit principally resulted from lower realized metal prices and a decrease in our operating costs when
compared to 2013. Cost decreases were attributable to our cost reduction program that we implemented in the second half of 2013 which continued
through 2014. We continue to monitor costs including labor, on-site contractors, repairs and maintenance, security, safety costs, fuel, materials and
supplies.    
 

General and administrative expenses.
 
General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014, were $12.3 million, compared to $16.3 million for the same period of

2013.  The $4.0 million decrease in 2014, principally resulted from cost cutting measures including a decrease in compensation, computer IT support,
investor relations and legal expenses. 

 
Exploration expenses.

Property exploration expenses totaled $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $9.5 million during the same period of
2013.  Costs associated with definition and delineation drilling of the La Arista vein system were reflected in mine development  and capitalized. The $2.6
million decrease in 2014 includes a $1.1 million credit due to the reversal of an allowance for an uncollectible IVA receivable. 

 
Facilities and mine construction expenses.
 
Facilities and mine construction expenses , which was a line item required prior to having proven and probable r eserves effective as of January 1,

2014, were nil for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $22.2 million during the same period of 2013. The decrease in facilities and mine
construction expenses was due to our changed status from an Exploration Stage company to a Production Stage company having proven and probable
reserves for the first time in 2014. In 2013 we had $5.6 million of expenses related to our mill expansion.
 

Costs and expenses.
 

Total costs and expenses during the year ended December 31, 2014, were $19.3 million compared to $47.9 million during the comparable period
of 2013, a decrease of $28.6 million or 59.7%. The decrease in cost and expenses, as discussed in more detail below, resulted from a decrease in
general administrative, exploration, facilities and mine construction expenses from the mill expansion during 2013. A significant portion of the reduction
was related to the change in recognition and presentation, as a result of the change in status from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production
Stage Enterprise, as certain development costs were capitalized in 2014, while such costs were expensed in 2013.

 
Other expense.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded other expense of $0.3 million compared to other expense of $1.4 million during the same

period of 2013. The improvement was primarily due to the $1.8 million impairment of gold and silver bullion in 2013.
 
Provision for income taxes. 

 
For the year ended December 31, 201 4, income tax expense increased to  $15.0 million as compared to an income tax expense of $8.9 million for

the year ended December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2014, the increase is primarily due to the new mining royalty tax and deferral of exploration
expense for tax purposes.  See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
 

Net income.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net income was $16.2 million, or $0.30 per basic share, as compared to $0.1 million or $0.00 per basic
share, for the comparable period of 2013. The increase in net income for the year was impacted by the matters described above.

Results of Operations – Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012

During the year ended December 31, 2013, sales of metals totaled $125.8 million, net of treatment charges, compared to sales of $131.8 million
during the same period of 2012. Gold equivalent ounces sold in 2013, increased to 82,935 ounces compared to 72,399 ounces sold in 2012. Gold prices
realized for 2013, were $1,388 per ounce, down from $1,676 per ounce in 2012.  Mine gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 , was $58.3
million compared to $87.8 million in the comparable period of 2012, a decrease of $29.5 million or 33.6%.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we reported net income of $0.1 million, or $0.00 per basic share, compared to net income of $33.7
million, or $0.64 per basic share, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The $33.6 million decrease in net income in 2013 , was principally attributable
to a decrease in metal prices, and higher production, general and administrative, exploration, and facilities and mine construction expenses. Total costs
and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013, were $47.9 million compared to $38.1 million in the same period of 2012, an increase of $9.8
million or 25.7%. The increase in costs and expenses was primarily due to an increase in exploration, general administrative, and facilities and mine
construction expenses.

 Exploration expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 , was $9.5 million compared to $8.0 million in the same period of 2012. The $1.5
million increase in exploration expenses principally resulted from an expanded drilling program and from an aerial geophysical survey over our Oaxaca
property trend.

Facilities and mine construction expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 , were $22.2 million compared to $16.6 million in the same
period of 2012. The $5.6 million increase in facilities and mine construction expenses was principally due to our mill expansion project .

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013, were $16.3 million, compared to $13.5 million in the same period of
2012.  The $2.8 million increase in 2013 principally resulted from an increase in compensation, insurance, computer IT support, investor relations and
legal expenses. 

Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 , was $1.4 million, compared to $2.7 million in the same period of 2012.  The $1.3 million
decrease in 2013 principally resulted from a decrease in foreign currency losses of $2.5 million and increase in other income of $0.6 million, which was
partially offset by an increase in impairment of gold and silver bullion of $1.8 million.  

Provision for income tax for the year ended December 31, 2013 , was $8.9 million, compared to $13.3 million in the same period of 2012.

Non-GAAP Measures 

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures to Total Mine Cost of Sale

In this report, we have provided information prepared or calculated according to U.S. GAAP, as well as referenced some Non-U.S. GAAP
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performance measures. Because the Non-GAAP performance measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by U.S. GAAP, they may
not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Accordingly, these measures are intended to provide additional information and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We have reconciled total cash cost, before by-product credits and total cash cost, after by-product credits to total mine cost of sales which is a
reported U.S. GAAP measure. Total cash cost, before by-product credits, includes all direct and indirect operating cash costs related directly to our
production of metals which includes mining, milling and other plant facility costs, smelter treatment and refining charges, royalties, and general and
administrative costs.

We use total cash cost, after by-product credits per precious metal gold equivalent ounce sold (including royalties) as one indicator for comparative
monitoring of our mining operations from period-to-period and believe that investors also find this information helpful when evaluating our
performance.  By-product credits include revenues earned from all metals other than the primary precious metals sold.  Management also uses this
measurement for the comparative monitoring of performance of our mining operations period-to-period from a cash flow perspective.  Total cash cost,
after by-product credits, per precious gold equivalent ounce sold is a measure developed by the Gold Institute Standard in an effort to provide a uniform
standard for comparison purposes. However, there can be no assurance that our reporting of this Non-GAAP measure is similar to that reported by other
mining companies.

The following tables present a reconciliation between the Non-GAAP measures of total cash cost, before by-product credits and total cash cost,
after by-product credits to the U.S. GAAP measure of total mine cost of sales and depreciation, reclamation and remediation and stock-based
compensation for our operations at the El Aguila project for the three and twelve month periods ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:
 
Total Cash Costs after By-Product Credits (Non-GAAP)
 
   Three months ended December 31,   Year ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013

   
(In thousands, except ounces sold and cost per precious

metal gold equivalent ounce sold)   
(In thousands, except ounces sold and cost per precious

metal gold equivalent ounce sold)

Total cash cost (before by-product credits) $ 21,658 $ 20,387 $ 71,582 $ 77,407 

By-product credits   (12,488) (7,445)   (40,323) (25,485)

Total cash cost (after by-product credits)   9,170 12,942   31,259 51,922 

Divided by precious metal gold equivalent ounces sold   16,690 18,937   69,845 82,935 

Total cash cost (before by-product credits) per precious metal gold
equivalent ounce sold (including royalties) 1,298 1,077 1,025 933 

By-product credits per precious metal gold equivalent ounces sold 
(748) (393) (576) (307)

Total cash costs, after by-product credits, per precious metal gold
equivalent ounce sold (including royalties)

$ 550 $ 684 $ 449 $ 626 

 
(1) Includes all direct and indirect operating cash costs related directly to our production of metals including mining, milling and other plant facility costs, smelter treatment and refining

charges, royalties, and general and administrative costs.
(2) See table below for a summary of our by-product revenue and by-product credit precious metal equivalent ounces sold.
(3) Gold ounces sold, plus gold equivalent ounces of silver ounces sold converted to gold ounces using our realized gold price per ounce to silver price per ounce ratio, at the La Arista

underground mine.

Summary of By-Product Revenue and By-Product Credit Precious Metal Gold Equivalent Ounces Sold
 
   Three months ended December 31,   Year ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013

   (In thousands)   (In thousands)

By-product credits by
dollar value:

  

Copper sales $ 2,525 $ 1,519 $ 7,712 $ 6,909 

Lead sales   2,426 1,894   8,762 5,759 

Zinc sales   7,537 4,032   23,849 12,817 

Total sales from by-
products

$ 12,488 $ 7,445 $ 40,323 $ 25,485 

 
 
   Three months ended December 31,   Year ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013

   (In thousands)   (In thousands)

By-product credits per
precious metal gold
equivalent ounce sold:

  

Copper ounces $ 151 $ 80 $ 110 $ 83 

Lead ounces   145   100   125   69 

Zinc ounces   452   213   341   155 

Total by-product
precious metal gold
ounces sold

$ 748 $ 393 $ 576 $ 307 

 
Cash Flow from Mine Site Operations

 
Cash flow from mine site operations (“Cash Flow from Mine Site Operations”) is furnished to provide additional information and is a Non-GAAP

measure. This measure should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
We believe that certain investors use this measure as a basis to assess mine performance and we use it as a measure of our targeted distributions to
shareholders. The following table provides a reconciliation of Cash Flow from Mine Site Operations to mine gross profit as presented in the consolidated
statements of operations.

 
   Three Months Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2014 2013
   (In thousands)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(2)
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Mine gross profit $ 10,014 $ 9,703 $ 50,871 $ 58,258 

Stock-based compensation   459 509 2,182 2,380 

Depreciation and amortization   1,324 582 4,293 2,392 

Reclamation and remediation    - 28  - 112 

Cash flow from mine site operations $ 11,797 $ 10,822 $ 57,346 $ 63,142 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As of December 31, 2014, we had working capital of $29.3 million, consisting of current assets of $47.1 million and current liabilities of $ 17.8
million.  This represents an increase of $1.6 million from the working capital balance of $ 27.7 million as of December 31, 2013.  Our working capital
balance fluctuates as we use cash to fund our operations, including exploration, mine development, income taxes and our dividends.

   
Since achieving profitability in 2011, we have relied on cash flow generated from mining operations to fund our operations, income tax obligations,

dividends and other expenditures. Due to the decrease in Cash Flow from Mine Site Operations in 2013, due in part  from lower gold and silver prices
and the new Mexican tax reform legislation imposed on precious and non-precious metal producers, the Board of Directors elected to reduce the
Company’s monthly dividend of $0.03 per share to $0.01 per share effective December 2013. There is no assurance as to what any future dividend may
be regardless of Company goals.       

   
These cash distributions are subject to the laws of the State of Colorado that govern distributions to shareholders.  For the year ended December

31, 2014, we declared dividends of $6.5 million compared to $25.5 million in 2013.

   Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2014, increased to $27.5 million from $15.0 million as of December 31, 2013, a net increase in
cash of $12.5 million. The $12.5 million increase in cash principally resulted from net cash generated from operating activities of $ 37.7 million, less
capital expenditure of $17.9 million, investments of $1.8 and dividends paid of $6.5 million.   

Net cash provided by operating activities for year ended December 31 , 2014 was $37.7 million compared to $6.9 million during the comparable
period in 2013.  The increase in cash provided by operating activities was, in part, the result of $12.3 million of cash outflows in 2014 which would have
historically been considered to be operating cash flows that are now considered investing activities as they qualify for capitalization as mine
development,  due to the change from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise as of January 1, 2014 . Our net income also
increased significantly in 2014, contributing to the improvement in net operating cash flows.   

   
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014, was $ 16.6 million compared to $6.7 million during the comparable

period in 2013.  Cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2014, was primarily the result of mine equipment purchases,
investments and mine development. One of our major investing activities was attributed to mine development activities at our El Aguila Project.  Our
planned development drilling expenditures are discretionary and could be significantly more or less depending on variables including the ongoing results
from the drilling programs and market conditions. Development drilling activities to further delineate and define our La Arista deposit are considered mine
development.  

   
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $7. 9 million compared to $21.0 million during the same period in

2013. The reduction was primarily due to the reduction of dividends paid in 2014, $6.5 million compared to $25.5 million for the same period in 2013.
Cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2014, was primarily the result of payments for dividends and capital leases.

   
We believe that our liquidity and capital resources from our operations are adequate to fund our operations and corporate activities.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As of December 31, 2014, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations 

Our known obligations at year ended December 31, 2014, are set forth in the table below:

 

 Payments due by period

Contractual Obligations
Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years

More than 5
years

 (in thousands)

Capital leases $ 2,431 $ 1,578 $ 853 $  - $  -
Operating Leases 506 146 144 216  -
Non-cancellable Purchase Obligations 1,036 1,036  -  -  -

Total $ 3,973 $ 2,760 $ 997 $ 216 $  -

 

Accounting Developments 

For a discussion of Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, see Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets, liabilities and contingencies at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. As a result, management is required to routinely make judgments and estimates about the effects of matters that
are inherently uncertain. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different conditions or assumptions. The following discussion pertains to
accounting estimates management believes are most critical to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations that require management’s
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments.

 
Proven and Probable Reserves

Critical estimates are inherent in the process of determining our reserves. Our reserves are affected largely by our assessment of future metals
prices, as well as by engineering and geological estimates of ore grade, accessibility and production cost. Metals prices are estimated at long-term
averages. Our assessment of reserves occurs at least annually, and we may utilize external audits  in the future .  Reserves are a key component in the
valuation of our property, equipment and mine development and related depreciation rates.  

   
Reserve estimates are used in determining appropriate rates of units-of-production depreciation, with net book value of many assets depreciated

over remaining estimated reserves. Reserves are also a key component in forecasts, with which we compare estimated future cash flows to current
asset values in an effort to ensure that carrying values are reported appropriately.  Reserves are a culmination of many estimates and are not
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guarantees that we will recover the indicated quantities of metals or that we will do so at a profitable level.

Revenue

Concentrate sales are initially recorded using quoted metal prices at the time of shipment, and contain an embedded derivative that is required to be
separated from the host contract for accounting purposes. The host contract is the receivable from the sale of the concentrates at the quoted metal
prices at the time of shipment. The embedded derivative, which does not qualify for hedge accounting, is adjusted to market through earnings each
period prior to final settlement. Changes in the prices of metals we sell, as quoted on the London Bullion Market, between the shipment and final
settlement dates will result in adjustments to revenues related to sales of concentrate previously recorded upon shipment.

 
Sales are recorded net of charges for treatment, refining, smelting losses and other charges negotiated between us and the buyer. These charges

are estimated upon shipment of concentrates based on contractual terms and adjusted to reflect actual charges at final settlement.  Historically, actual
charges have not varied materially from our initial estimates.

Depreciation and Amortization

Capitalized costs are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method or unit-of-production (“UOP”) method at rates sufficient to depreciate
such costs over the shorter of estimated productive lives of such facilities or the useful life of the individual assets. Significant judgment is involved in the
determination of the estimated life of the assets. Our estimates for reserves are a key component in determining our UOP rates. Our estimates of proven
and probable ore reserves may change, possibly in the near term, resulting in changes to depreciation, depletion and amortization rates in future
reporting periods. Productive lives range from 3 to 30 years, but do not exceed the useful life of the individual asset.

 
Depreciation rates of major asset categories are:
 

Machinery and equipment 8 years
Furniture, computer and office equipment 3-10 years
Light vehicles and other mobile equipment 4 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used, using a fair-value based approach when events and circumstances
indicate that the related carrying amount of our assets may not be recoverable. The economic environment and commodity prices may be considered as
impairment indicators for the purposes of these impairment assessments. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the carrying value of a long-lived asset or
asset group is considered impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash flows from such asset or asset group is less than its carrying value. In that
event, a loss will be recorded in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income based on the difference between book value and
the estimated fair value of the asset or asset group computed using discounted estimated future cash flows, or the application of an expected fair value
technique in the absence of an observable market price. Future cash flows include estimates of recoverable quantities to be produced from estimated
proven and probable mineral reserves, commodity prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends and related factors), production
quantities and capital expenditures, all based on life-of-mine plans and projections. In estimating future cash flows, assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which identifiable cash flows exist that are largely independent of cash flows from other asset groups. It is possible that actual future cash flows
will be significantly different than the estimates, as actual future quantities of recoverable minerals, gold and other commodity prices, production levels
and costs and capital are each subject to significant risks and uncertainties. 

 

Asset Retirement Obligation/Reclamation and Remediation Costs

Our mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations, including legal and contractual obligations to reclaim, remediate,
or otherwise restore properties at the time the property is removed from service. Accounting for reclamation and remediation obligations requires
management to make estimates of the future costs that we will incur to complete the work required to comply with  existing laws and regulations.  Actual
costs may differ from the amounts estimated. Reclamation costs are allocated to expense over the life of the related assets and are periodically adjusted
to reflect changes in the estimated present value resulting from the passage of time and revisions to the estimates of either the timing or amount of the
reclamation and remediation costs.  Also, future changes to environmental laws and regulations could increase the extent of reclamation and
remediation work required.

Stock-based compensation

We estimate the fair value of our stock option awards using a Black-Scholes model, the inputs of which require various assumptions including the
expected rate of future dividends, discount rate, expected life of the option and the expected volatility of our stock price. The expected rate of future
dividends is derived based on the dividends paid during the three months immediately preceding the date of grant extrapolated over four quarters (one
year); however, the rate at which dividends are paid may change due to various factors, including, but not limited to changes in our operational and
strategic cash needs and at the discretion of our Board of Directors.  Expected forfeiture rates and expected option life are derived based on historical
experience and management’s judgment regarding future expectations. However, such historical experience is limited due to a relatively small number
of grants and, therefore, may not be indicative of future experience. The expected volatility assumptions are derived using our historical stock price
volatility.

These assumptions reflect our best estimates; however, they involve inherent uncertainties based on market conditions generally outside of our
control.  If factors change and we use a different methodology for deriving the Black-Scholes assumptions or if our assumptions and judgments
regarding future experience prove to be materially different than actual experience resulting in a change to future assumptions, our share-based
compensation expense could be materially impacted.

Income and Mining Taxes

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we estimate the actual amount of taxes currently payable or receivable as well as deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which these temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities generally have a direct
impact on earnings in the period of the changes. Mining taxes represent state and provincial taxes levied on mining operations. As the mining taxes are
calculated as a percentage of mining profits, we classify them as income taxes. Where applicable tax laws and regulations are either unclear or subject
to varying interpretations, it is possible that changes in these estimates could occur that materially affect the amounts of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities recorded in the financial statements.

Each period, we evaluate the likelihood of whether or not some portion or all of each deferred tax asset will be realized and provide a valuation
allowance for those deferred tax assets for which is more likely than not that the related benefits will not be realized. When evaluating our valuation
allowance, we consider historic and future expected levels of taxable income, the pattern and timing of reversals of taxable temporary timing differences
that give rise to deferred tax liabilities, and tax planning initiatives. Levels of future taxable income are affected by, among other things, market gold and
silver prices, production costs, quantities of proven and probable reserves, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. If we determine that all or
a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance with be increased with a charge to income tax expense.  Conversely, if we
determine that we will ultimately be able to realize all or a portion of the related benefits for which a valuation allowance has been provided, all or a
portion of the related valuation allowance will be reduced with a credit to income tax expense. We also evaluate the amount of dividend distributions we
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repatriate from our foreign subsidiary which is based upon having sufficient estimated current earnings and profits eligible for distribution.

In addition, the calculation of income tax expense involves significant management estimation and judgment involving a number of assumptions.  In
determining these amounts, management interprets tax legislation in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and makes estimates of the expected
timing of the reversal of future tax assets and liabilities.  We also make assumptions about future earnings, tax planning strategies and the extent to
which potential future tax benefits will be used.  We are also subject to assessments by various taxation authorities which may interpret tax legislation
differently, which could affect the final amount or the timing of tax payments. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK  

Our exposure to market risks includes, but is not limited to, the following risks: changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates,
changes in interest rates and equity price risks. We do not use derivative financial instruments as part of an overall strategy to manage market risk;
however, we may consider such arrangements in the future as we evaluate our business and financial strategy.

Commodity Price Risk 

The results of our operations will depend in large part upon the market prices of gold and silver. Gold and silver prices fluctuate widely and are
affected by numerous factors beyond our control. The level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, the world supply of gold and silver and the stability of
exchange rates, among other factors, can all cause significant fluctuations in commodity prices. Such external economic factors are in turn influenced by
changes in international investment patterns, monetary systems and political developments. The price of gold and silver has fluctuated widely in recent
years, and future price declines could cause a mineral project to become uneconomic, thereby having a material adverse effect on our business and
financial condition. We have not entered into derivative contracts to protect the selling price for gold or silver. We may in the future more actively
manage our exposure through derivative contracts or other commodity price risk management programs, although we have no intention of doing so in
the near-term.
   

In addition to adversely affecting our reserve estimates, results of operation and/or our financial condition, declining gold and silver prices could
require a reassessment of the feasibility of a particular project. Even if a project is ultimately determined to be economically viable, the need to conduct
such a reassessment may cause delays in the implementation of a project. 

 
Foreign Currency Risk
 

We transact a significant amount of our business in Mexican pesos. As a result, currency exchange fluctuations may impact our operating
costs. The appreciation of Non-U.S. dollar currencies such as the peso against the U.S. dollar increases expenses and the cost of purchasing capital
assets in U.S. dollar terms in Mexico, which can adversely impact our operating results and cash flows. Conversely, a depreciation of non-U.S. dollar
currencies usually decreases operating costs and capital asset purchases in U.S. dollar terms.

   
The value of cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies also fluctuates with changes in currency exchange rates. Appreciation of

non-U.S. dollar currencies results in a foreign currency gain on such investments and a decrease in Non-U.S. dollar currencies results in a loss. We have
not utilized market-risk sensitive instruments to manage our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates but may in the future actively manage our
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk. 

 
 Provisional Sales Contract Risk

We enter into concentrate sales contracts with third-party smelters. The contracts, in general, provide for a provisional payment based upon
provisional assays and quoted metal prices. The provisionally priced sales contracts contain an embedded derivative that is required to be separated
from the host contract for accounting purposes. The host contract is the receivable from the sale of concentrates at average spot price one week prior to
the time of sale. The embedded derivative, which is the final settlement based on a future price, does not qualify for hedge accounting and is marked-to-
market through earnings each period prior to final settlement.

At December 31, 2014, we had outstanding provisionally priced sales of $28.6 million consisting of 5,355 ounces of gold and 753,419 ounces of
silver, 305 tonnes of copper, 1,694 tonnes of lead and 3,352 tonnes of zinc which had a fair value of approximately $27.5 million including the embedded
derivative. If the price for each metal were to change by one percent, the change (plus or minus) in the total fair value of the concentrates sold would be
approximately $0.3 million.

 Interest Rate Risk 

Our outstanding debt consists of leased equipment classified as capital leases. Accordingly, we consider our interest rate risk exposure to be
insignificant at this time.

Equity Price Risk 

We have, in the past, sought and may, in the future, seek to acquire additional funding by sale of common stock and other equity. The price of
our common stock has been volatile in the past and may also be volatile in the future. As a result, there is a risk that we may not be able to sell our
common stock at an acceptable price should the need for new equity funding arise.

Country Risk 

Most of our mineral properties are located in Mexico. In the past, that country has been subject to political instability, increasing crime, changes
and uncertainties which may cause changes to existing government regulations affecting mineral exploration and mining activities including taxes. Civil
or political unrest could disrupt our operations at any time. Our exploration and mining activities may be adversely affected in varying degrees by
changing government regulations relating to the mining industry or shifts in political conditions that could increase the costs related to our activities or
maintaining our properties. Finally, Mexico’s status as a developing country may make it more difficult for us to obtain required financing for our
properties.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Gold Resource Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two‑year period ended December 31, 2014.  These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Gold
Resource Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the two‑year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Gold
Resource Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control
– Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our
report dated March 19, 2015 expressed an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

/s/ KPMG LLP

 

Denver, Colorado
March 19, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 
The Board of Directors
Gold Resource Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows of Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2012. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and
the cash flows of Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

   
 
 
 
 
/s/ StarkSchenkein, LLP
StarkSchenkein, LLP
 
   

Denver, Colorado
March 18, 2013
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GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 December 31, December 31,
 2014 2013

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,541 $ 14,973 

Gold and silver bullion 3,447 3,801 

Accounts receivable 1,416 2,307 

Inventories 7,295 7,468 

IVA taxes receivable 575  -

Income taxes receivable  - 2,960 

Deferred tax assets 3,891 2,282 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,935 5,808 

Total current assets 47,100 39,599 

Property, plant and mine development, net 32,348 18,354 

Deferred tax assets 25,519 29,814 

Investments (including $2,389 and nil, respectively, measured at fair value) 2,620 231 

Other non-current assets 4,078 4,431 

Total assets $ 111,665 $ 92,429 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 3,892 $ 2,873 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 3,923 5,613 

Capital lease obligations 1,498 1,469 

IVA taxes payable  - 925 

Income taxes payable 7,907  -

Dividends payable 542 538 

Deferred tax liability  - 460 
Total current liabilities 17,762 11,878 

Capital lease obligations 834 2,387 

Reclamation and remediation liabilities 2,993 2,887 

Total liabilities 21,589 17,152 

Shareholders' equity:

Preferred stock - $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized:

no shares issued and outstanding  -  -

Common stock - $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized:

54,515,767 and 54,179,369 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 55 54 

Additional paid-in capital 93,094 88,044 

Retained earnings/Accumulated (deficit) 3,982 (5,766)

Treasury stock at cost, 336,398 shares (5,884) (5,884)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) (1,171) (1,171)

Total shareholders' equity 90,076 75,277 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 111,665 $ 92,429 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

 

GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

 2014 2013 2012

 

Sales, net $ 115,405 $ 125,784 $ 131,794 

Mine cost of sales:

Production costs 60,241 65,022 42,574 

Depreciation and amortization 4,293 2,392 1,366 

Reclamation and remediation  - 112 81 

Total mine cost of sales 64,534 67,526 44,021 

Mine gross profit 50,871 58,258 87,773 

Costs and expenses:

General and administrative expenses 12,336 16,260 13,507 

Exploration expenses 6,947 9,470 8,008 

Facilities and mine construction  - 22,198 16,554 

Total costs and expenses 19,283 47,928 38,069 

Operating income 31,588 10,330 49,704 

Other expense (322) (1,355) (2,736)

Income before income taxes 31,266 8,975 46,968 

Provision for income taxes 15,021 8,890 13,297 

Net income $ 16,245 $ 85 $ 33,671 

Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation gain  -

7 2,800 
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Comprehensive income $ 16,245 $ 92 $ 36,471 

Net income per common share:

Basic $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.64 

Diluted $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.60 

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 54,119,095 53,255,259 52,846,163 

Diluted 54,620,332 55,299,475 56,315,885 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

 

 

Number of
Common
Shares

Par Value of
Common
Shares

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings/

Accumulated
(Deficit)

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders'

Equity

Balance, December 31, 2011 52,998,303 $ 53 $ 132,529 $ (39,522) $ (1,954) $ (3,978) $ 87,128 

Stock options granted  -  - 6,600  -  -  - 6,600 

Stock options exercised 17,464  -  -  -  -  -  -

Purchase of treasury stock  -  -  -  - (3,930)  - (3,930)

Return of capital dividend  -  - (36,455)  -  -  - (36,455)

Currency translation adjustment  -  -  -  -  - 2,800 2,800 

Net income  -  -  - 33,671  -  - 33,671 

Balance, December 31, 2012 53,015,767 $ 53 $ 102,674 $ (5,851) $ (5,884) $ (1,178) $ 89,814 

Stock options  -  - 7,617  -  -  - 7,617 

Stock options exercised 1,100,000 1 644  -  -  - 645 

Purchase of treasury stock  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Return of capital dividend  -  - (22,891)  -  -  - (22,891)

Currency translation adjustment  -  -  -  -  - 7 7 

Net income  -  -  - 85  -  - 85 

Balance, December 31, 2013 54,115,767 $ 54 $ 88,044 $ (5,766) $ (5,884) $ (1,171) $ 75,277 

Stock options exercised 400,000 1 99  - 100 

Stock option expense  -  - 4,951  -  -  - 4,951 

Dividends paid  -  -  - (6,497)  -  - (6,497)

Net income  -  -  - 16,245  -  - 16,245 

Balance, December 31, 2014 54,515,767 $ 55 $ 93,094 $ 3,982 $ (5,884) $ (1,171) $ 90,076 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

 
 2014 2013 2012
 

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 16,245 $ 85 $ 33,671 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

from operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 4,551 2,626 1,540 

Stock-based compensation 4,951 7,617 6,600 

Deferred income taxes 2,226 2,044 (3,046)

Other (see footnote 18) 596 (1,147) 1,729 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 891 4,368 8,305 

Inventories (231) (32) (4,098)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 930 (5,127) (14)

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (2,832) (548) 2,859 

Income taxes payable/receivable 10,326 (3,012) (16,406)

Total adjustments 21,408 6,789 (2,531)

Net cash provided by operating activities 37,653 6,874 31,140 

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities:

Capital expenditures (17,898) (6,703) (4,461)

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net of distributions 1,291  -  -

Proceeds from the sale of building 1,763  -  -

Purchases of marketable securities (1,805) (231)  -

Purchases of gold and silver bullion  - (1,050) (5,164)

Proceeds from conversion of gold and silver bullion 32 1,316 1,961 

Net cash used in investing activities (16,617) (6,668) (7,664)

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 100 645  -

Dividends paid (6,494) (25,514) (35,940)

Treasury stock purchases  -  - (3,931)

Proceeds from equipment financing  - 4,501  -

Repayment of capital leases (1,469) (645)  -

Net cash used in financing activities (7,863) (21,013) (39,871)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (605)  - 215 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 12,568 (20,807) (16,180)

Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 14,973 35,780 51,960 

Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 27,541 $ 14,973 $ 35,780 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest expense paid $ 149 $ 102 $  -

Income and mining taxes paid $ 939 $ 14,328 $ 33,020 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31,  2014,  2013 and 2012

 

1.  Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

Gold Resource Corporation (the “Company”) was organized under the laws of the State of Colorado on August 24, 1998. The Company is a
producer of metal concentrates that contain gold, silver, copper, lead and zinc, as well as, doré containing gold and silver at the El Aguila Project in the
southern state of Oaxaca, Mexico. The El Aguila Project includes the El Aguila open pit mine, which ceased operations in February 2011, and the La
Arista underground mine, which is currently in operation. The Company is also performing exploration and evaluation work on its portfolio of precious
and base metal exploration properties in Mexico and Nevada and is evaluating other properties for possible acquisition.

On April 30, 2014, the Company announced the completion of its reserve study and issued a report dated December 31, 2013 confirming the
existence of proven and probable reserves as defined in Industry Guide 7 (“Guide 7”) promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). As a result of the completion of the reserve study, the Company has transitioned from an Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage
Enterprise in accordance with Guide 7. The Company no longer considers itself to be a Development Stage Entity as defined in Accounting Standards
Codification 915 – Development Stage Entities  (“ASC 915”).

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements included herein are expressed in United States dollars, and conform to United States generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned Mexican subsidiary,
Don David Gold Mexico S.A. de C.V. (“Don David Gold Mexico”) and its wholly-owned United States subsidiary Gold Resource Corporation,
Nevada.  Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management routinely makes judgments and estimates about the effects of matters that
are inherently uncertain and bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Adjustments

During 2014, the Company determined that it incorrectly classified the presentation of deferred income taxes, the presentation of a deferred
charge, and the presentation of an investment within the consolidated balance sheet.  As of December 31, 2013, the Company made certain tax re lated
reclassifications on the consolidated balance sheet which resulted in a $1.7  million decrease to current deferred tax assets, a $2.2 million increase to
noncurrent deferred tax assets and a $0.5 million increase to current deferred tax liability.  We also reclassified $3.5 million from income tax receivable to
other noncurrent assets and $0.2 million was reclassified from prepaid expenses and other current assets to investments. Additionally, for 2013 the
following immaterial corrections were made to the consolidated statements of cash flows associated with the above changes; amounts previously
presented as changes in income tax payable/receivable have been reclassified as other and amounts previously presented as changes in prepaid
expenses and other current assets have been reclassified as purchases of marketable securities. There was an increase in the net cash provided by
operating activities of $0.2 million and a corresponding decrease in the net cash used in investing activities reported for the period ended December 31,
2013 as a result of these changes. The reclassification was made for presentation purposes and had no material impact on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive i ncome.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts presented in prior periods have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation. The reclassifications had no
effect on the Company’s net income.

Exploration Stage Company

As of January 1, 2014, the consolidated financial statements are no longer presented in accordance with ASC 915 and the provisions of SEC
Industry Guide 7 relating to Exploration Stage Enterprises. On April 30, 2014, the Company issued a report on the reserve estimate for the La Arista
underground mine at the El Aguila Project with an effective date of December 31, 2013. The report confirms the existence of proven and probable
reserves, allowing the Company to transition from an Exploration Stage Company to a Production Stage Company as defined in ASC 915 and an
Exploration Stage Enterprise to a Production Stage Enterprise as defined in Guide 7. Consistent with the Company’s transition from an Exploration
Stage Entity to a Production Stage Entity as defined in Guide 7, certain underground mine development costs associated with the Company's El Aguila
Project were capitalized beginning January 1, 2014.  These costs include the cost of building access ways, lateral development, drift development,
ramps and infrastructure development. All such costs are amortized using the units-of-production method over the estimated life of the ore body based
on estimated recoverable ounces to be produced from proven and probable reserves.    

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all cash balances and highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three months or less when
purchased and are carried at cost.

Gold and Silver Bullion

From time to time, the Company may purchase gold and silver bullion on the open market in order to diversify its treasury and provide for an
alternative form of payment for dividends. The purchased gold and silver bullion is carried at the lower of average purchase cost or quoted market value
prices based on the daily London P.M. fix as of the balance sheet date.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consists of trade receivables from the sale of doré and metals concentrate.

Inventories

Write-downs of inventory are reported as a component of production costs applicable to sales. The major inventory categories are below.
 
Stockpile Inventories : Stockpile inventories represent ore that has been mined and is available for further processing. Stockpiles are measured by

estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile, an estimate of the contained metals (based on assay data) and the estimated
metallurgical recovery rates. Costs are allocated to stockpiles based on relative values of material stockpiled and processed using current mining costs
incurred, including applicable overhead, depreciation and amortization relating to mining operations. Material is removed at each stockpile’s average cost
per tonne. Stockpiles are carried at the lower of average cost or market. Market represents the estimated future sales price of the product based on
current and long-term metals prices, less the estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale. The current portion of stockpiles is
determined based on the expected amounts to be processed within the next 12 months. Stockpiles not expected to be processed within the next 12
months are classified as long term. As of December 31, 2014, all underground mine stockpile inventory was classified as current and all open pit mine
stockpile inventory was classified as non-current.
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Concentrate Inventories: Concentrates inventories include metal concentrates located either at the Company’s facilities or in transit to its
customer’s port. Inventories consist of copper, lead and zinc metal concentrates, which also contain gold and silver mineralization. Concentrate
inventories are carried at the lower of full cost of production or market based on current metals prices.

 
Doré Inventory: Doré includes gold and silver doré bars in transit to, or received by its customer prior to settlement. Doré inventories are carried at

the lower of full cost of production or market based on current metals prices.
 
Materials and Supplies Inventories :  Materials and supplies inventories consist of chemical reagents, parts, fuels and other materials and supplies.

Cost includes applicable taxes and freights. Materials and supply inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market. 

Investments

We make elections, on an investment-by-investment basis, as to whether we measure our investments at fair value. Such elections are generally
irrevocable. We have elected the fair value method for most of our investments as we believe this method generally provides the most meaningful
information to our investors. However, for investments over which we have significant influence, we consider the significance of transactions between our
company and our equity affiliates and other factors in determining whether the fair value method should be applied. In general, we elect the fair value
option for those equity method investments with which the Company or its consolidated subsidiaries have significant related-party transactions. 

 
Under the fair value method, investments are recorded at fair value and any changes in fair value are reported in realized and unrealized gains or

losses due to changes in fair values of applicable investments and debt, in our consolidated statements of operation, in other income (expense). All
costs directly associated with the acquisition of an investment to be accounted for using the fair value method are expensed as incurred. For additional
information regarding our fair value method investments, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements  for additional information.

   IVA Taxes Receivable and Payable

 In Mexico, value added taxes (“IVA”) that assessed on purchases of materials and services and sales of products. Businesses are generally
entitled to recover the taxes they have paid related to purchases of materials and services, either as a refund or as a credit against future taxes payable.
Likewise, businesses owe IVA taxes as the business sells a product and collects IVA taxes from its customers.

Amounts recorded as IVA taxes payable in the consolidated financial statements represent the net estimated IVA tax liability, since there is a legal
right of offset of IVA taxes receivable and payable.

Property Plant and Mine Development

Land and Mineral Rights: The costs of acquiring land and mineral rights are considered tangible assets. Administrative and holding costs to
maintain an exploration property are expensed as incurred. If a mineable mineral deposit is discovered, such capitalized costs are amortized when
production begins using the UOP method. If no mineable mineral deposit is discovered or such rights are otherwise determined to have diminished
value, such costs are expensed in the period in which the determination is made.

Mine Development:  The costs include engineering and metallurgical studies, drilling and other related costs to delineate an ore body, the building
of access ways, shafts, lateral access, drifts, ramps and other infrastructure. Cost incurred before mineralization is classified as proven and probable
reserves are expensed and classified as exploration expenses. Capitalization of mine development project costs, that meet the definition of an asset,
begins once mineralization is classified as proven and probable reserves.

Drilling costs incurred during the production phase for operational ore control are allocated to inventory costs and then included as a component of
production costs. All other drilling and related costs are expensed as incurred

Mine development costs are amortized using UOP based on estimated recoverable ounces in proven and probable reserves.

Property and Equipment : All items of property and equipment are carried at cost. Normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred while
expenditures for major maintenance and betterments are capitalized. Gains or losses on disposition are recognized in other income.

Depreciation and Amortization: Capitalized costs are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line or UOP method at rates sufficient to
depreciate such costs over the shorter of estimated productive lives of such facilities or the useful life of the individual assets.  Productive lives range
from 3 to 30 years, but do not exceed the useful life of the individual asset. Our estimates for proven and probable reserves are a key component in
determining our UOP depreciation rates. Our estimates of proven and probable reserves may change, possibly in the near term, resulting in changes to
depreciation and amortization rates in future reporting periods.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. Asset impairment is considered to exist if the total estimated future cash flows on an undiscounted basis are less than the
carrying amount of the asset. Any impairment losses are measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future cash flows and are charged to
expense on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. In estimating future cash flows, assets are grouped at
the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of future cash flows from other asset groups. The Company’s
estimates of future cash flows are based on numerous assumptions, including expected gold and other commodity prices, production levels, capital
requirements and estimated salvage values

 
Existing proven and probable reserves are included when estimating the fair value in determining whether the assets are impaired. The Company’s

estimates of future cash flows are based on numerous assumptions and it is possible that actual future cash flows will be significantly different than the
estimates, as actual future quantities of recoverable minerals, gold and other commodity prices, production levels and costs and capital are each subject
to significant risks and uncertainties.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock represents shares of the Company’s common stock which has been repurchased on the open market at the prevailing market price
at the time of purchase. Treasury stock is shown at cost as a separate component of equity as a deduction from total capital stock.

Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue when an arrangement exists, the price is fixed and determinable, the title and risk of loss have transferred to the
buyer and collection is reasonably assured. 

 
Concentrate sales: Concentrate sales are initially recorded using quoted metal prices at the time of shipment and contain an embedded derivative

that is required to be separated from the host contract for accounting purposes. The host contract is the receivable from the sale of the concentrates at
the quoted metal prices at the time of shipment. The embedded derivative, which does not qualify for hedge accounting, is adjusted to market through
revenue each period prior to final settlement. Changes in the prices of metals that the Company sells, as quoted on the London Bullion Market, between
the shipment and final settlement dates will result in adjustments to revenues related to sales of concentrate previously recorded upon shipment. Sales
are recorded net of charges for treatment, refining, smelting losses and other charges negotiated between us and the buyer. These charges are
estimated upon shipment of concentrates based on contractual terms and adjusted to reflect actual charges at final settlement.  Historically, actual
charges have not varied materially from the Company’s initial estimates.

 
Doré sales: Doré sales are recognized using quoted metal prices when the title has been transferred and collection of the sales price is reasonably

assured, net of treatment and refining charges. Financing fees, resulting from early settlement with the refinery are treated as other expenses.
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Production Costs

Production costs include labor and benefits, royalties, concentrate and doré shipping costs, mining subcontractors, fuel and lubricants, legal and
professional fees related to mine operations, stock-based compensation attributable to mine workers, materials and supplies, repairs and maintenance,
explosives, housing and food, insurance, reagents, travel, medical services, security equipment, office rent, tools and other costs that support our mining
operations.

Exploration Costs

Exploration costs are charged to expense as incurred. Costs to identify new mineral resources, to evaluate potential resources, and to convert
mineral resources into proven and probable reserves are considered exploration costs.

 Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records compensation expense for the fair value of stock options that are granted. Expense is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting periods, if any, of the options. The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, which requires the input of subjective assumptions including expected volatility of the underlying stock, risk-free interest rates, the
expected life of the option, dividend yields and expected forfeitures and cancellations. Expected volatility is based on the historical price volatility of the
Company’s common stock. Risk-free interest rates are based on U.S. government obligations with a term approximating the expected life of the option.
The expected life is estimated in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share-Based Payment”. The Company paid dividends
beginning in July 2010, and accordingly, a dividend yield was considered in calculating the grant date fair value of options granted subsequent to that
date; however, no dividend yield was considered for options granted prior to July 2010. In addition, the Company estimates the expected forfeiture rate
and only recognizes expense for those options expected to vest.

Reclamation and Remediation Costs

Reclamation obligations are recognized when incurred and recorded as liabilities at fair value. Prior to 2014 the Company had been recognizing
only reclamation and remediation obligation and all associated asset retirement costs were written off due to the exploration stage status of the company.
The company had $3.0 million of reclamation and remediation obligation at December 31, 2013.

 
In 2014 the company became a production stage company and therefore capitalized asset retirement costs (“ARC”) and recorded an asset

retirement obligation (“ARO”) of $0.4 million, partially offset by a $ 0.3 million foreign exchange gain on the reclamation and remediation obligation.  The
ARO liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings and the ARC is amortized over the life of the related asset.

 
Reclamation obligations are periodically adjusted to reflect changes in the estimated present value resulting from the passage of time and revisions

to the estimates of either the timing or amount of the reclamation costs. The estimated reclamation obligation is based on when spending for an existing
disturbance is expected to occur. The Company reviews, on an annual basis, unless otherwise deemed necessary, the reclamation obligation at the
mine site in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 410 – Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations (“ASC 410”) guidance for
reclamation obligations.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive inc ome (loss) is presented in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ e quity. Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) is composed of foreign currency translation adjustment effects related to the historical adjustment when the
functional currency was the Mexican peso.

Income and Mining Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial and tax reporting purposes and the effect of net operating loss and foreign tax credit
carry-forwards using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are evaluated to
determine if it is more likely than not that they will be realized

In December 2013, the Mexican president approved a tax reform bill that enacted a new Income Tax Law (“MITL”), which increased the effective
tax rate applicable to the Company’s Mexican operations effective January 1, 2014. The MITL increases the future corporate income tax rate to 30%,
creates a 10% withholding tax on dividends paid to non-resident shareholders (subject to any reduction by an Income Tax Treaty), and creates a new
royalty fee equal to 0.5% of gross revenue from the sale of gold, silver and platinum.

In addition, the law requires taxpayers with mining concessions to pay a new 7.5% royalty tax.  The royalty fee and royalty tax will be tax deductible
for income tax purposes.  The royalty tax will generally be applicable to earnings before income tax, depreciation, depletion, amortization, and
interest.  In calculating the royalty tax there will be no deductions related to depreciable costs from operational fixed assets but exploration and
prospecting depreciable costs are deductible when incurred.

Net Income Per Share

Diluted income per share reflects the dilution that could occur if potentially dilutive securities, as determined using the treasury stock method, are
converted into common stock. Potentially dilutive securities, such as stock options and warrants, are excluded from the calculation when their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive, such as periods when a net loss is reported or when the exercise price of the instrument exceeds the average fair market value.  

Foreign Currency

The functional currency for all of the Company’s subsidiaries is United States dollars (“US dollars”).

Concentration of Credit Risk 

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, most of the Company’s concentrate sales and accounts receivable were through
Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mex. S.A. de C.V., a Trafigura Group Company (“Trafigura”). Sales and receivables related to Trafigura for those
years ended comprised of 93% for 2014 and 100% for both 2012 and 2013. During 2014 , the Company sold a small portion of its concentrates to a
metal exporter. During the third quarter of 2014, the Company also entered into a contract to sell all of its doré to Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver
Refining Inc. (“Johnson Matthey”).

 
The Company has carefully considered and assessed the credit risk resulting from its concentrate sales and doré sales arrangements with

Trafigura, Louis Dreyfus and Johnson Matthey and believes it is not exposed to significant credit risk in relation to the counterparty meeting its
contractual obligations as it pertains to its trade receivables during the ordinary course of business. In the event that the Company’s relationship with
Trafigura, Louis Dreyfus or Johnson Matthey is interrupted for any reason, the Company believes that it would be able to locate another entity to
purchase its metals concentrates and doré bars.  However, any interruption could temporarily disrupt the Company’s sale of its products and adversely
affect operating results.

 
The Company’s El Aguila Project, which is located in the State of Oaxaca, Mexico, accounted for 100% of the Company’s total sales for the years

ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
 
Some of the Company’s operating cash balances are maintained in accounts that currently exceed federally insured limits. The Company believes

that the financial strength of depositing institutions mitigate the underlying risk of loss. To date, these concentrations of credit risk have not had a
significant impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Updates

Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09—Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)
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On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance that requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue
to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The guidance will replace most existing revenue
recognition guidance when it becomes effective. The new standard is effective for the Company on September 1, 2017, and early application is not
permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The Company is evaluating the effect that this
new guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company has not selected a transition method nor has it
determined the effect of the standard on its ongoing financial reporting.

2. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value accounting establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities;

Level 2 Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the
asset or liability; and

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (supported by little
or no market activity).

The following tables set forth the Company’s assets measured at fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy. As required by accounting
guidance, assets are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2014

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Balance Sheet Classification

 (in thousands)

Cash equivalents $ 1,947 $  - $  - $ 1,947 Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables related to unsettled invoices $  - $ 1,416 $  - $ 1,416 Accounts receivable

Investments in equity securities $ 2,389 $  - $  - $ 2,389 Investments

 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2013

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Balance Sheet Classification

 (in thousands)

Cash equivalents $ 4,160 $  - $  - $ 4,160 Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables related to unsettled invoices $  - $ 2,307 $  - $ 2,307 Accounts receivable

 
(1) Certain concentrate sales contracts provide for provisional pricing as specified in such contracts. These sales contain an embedded derivative related to the provisional pricing

mechanism which is bifurcated and accounted for as a derivative. At the end of each reporting period, the Company records an adjustment to sales to reflect the mark-to-market of
outstanding provisional invoices. Because these provisionally priced sales have not yet settled as of the reporting date, the mark-to-market adjustment related to these invoices is
included in accounts receivable as of each reporting date. The receivable is the sales contract with no quoted market price, whereas the underlying metal values (inputs) are
directly observable for the full amount of the receivable (Level 2).

Gains and losses related to changes in the fair value of these financial instruments were included in the Company’s consolidated s tatements of
❑perations and comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, as shown in the following table:
 Years Ended December 31,

 Type 2014 2013 2012
Statement of Operations

Classification

 (in thousands)

Receivables related to unsettled invoices Provisionally
priced sales 

Derivative (loss) gain $ (1,121) $ 563 $ 219 Sales, net

(1) These sales contain an embedded derivative related to the provisional pricing mechanism which is bifurcated and accounted for as a derivative.  At the end of each reporting
period, the Company records an adjustment to sales to mark-to-market outstanding provisional invoices.  Because these provisionally priced sales have not settled as of the
reporting date, the mark-to-market adjustment related to these invoices is included in sales, net as of each reporting date.

 
 

 

3. Gold and Silver Bullion

 The Company periodically purchases gold and silver bullion on the open market for investment purposes and to use in its dividend exchange
program under which  shareholders may exchange their cash dividend for gold and silver bullion.  The Company’s investment in gold and silver bullion is
carried at cost and evaluated for impairment at relevant financial reporting dates.

 
 During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company made no purchases of gold or silver bullion . During the year ended December 31,

2013, the Company purchased approximately 708 ounces of gold and 1,005 ounces of silver at market prices for a total cost of $ 1.1 million. During the
year ended December 31, 2014, approximately 47 ounces of gold and 1,024 ounces of silver were converted into gold and silver bullion and distributed
under the dividend program, resulting in a nil realized loss. During the year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 789 ounces of gold and 3,275
ounces of silver were converted into gold and silver bullion and distributed under the dividend program, resulting in a realized loss of $0.1 million.

 
The Company recorded impairment write-downs on its silver bullion totaling $0.3 million for the ye ar ended December 31, 2014 and $1.7 million for

the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
The table below shows the balance of the Company’s holdings of bullion as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

 
 2014 2013

 Gold Silver Gold Silver
 (in thousands, except ounces and per ounce ) (in thousands, except ounces and per ounce )

Ounces 1,646 92,237 1,693 93,225 

Carrying value per ounce $ 1,199.25 $ 15.97 $ 1,206.23 $ 18.86 

Total carrying value $ 1,974 $ 1,473 $ 2,042 $ 1,759 

 
 

4. Inventories

Inventories at December 31, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following:

 2014 2013
 (in thousands)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Stockpiles - underground mine $ 116 $ 1,586 

Concentrates 1,481 480 

Materials and supplies 5,698 5,402 

Inventories- current 7,295 7,468 

 

Stockpiles - open pit mine 903 903 

Inventories- non-current 903 903 

Total inventories $ 8,198 $ 8,371 

(1) Net of reserve for obsolescence of $217 and $654, respectively
 

 

5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets  at December 31, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following:

 2014 2013
 (in thousands)

Other receivable $ 179 $ 1,489 

Advances to suppliers 1,193 1,705 

Prepaid insurance 329 1,440 

Warranty deposits 921 925 

Other 313 249 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2,935 $ 5,808 

 
 

6. Property, Plant and Mine Development
 

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, property, plant and mine development  consisted of the following:

 2014 2013
 (in thousands)

Machinery and equipment $ 19,398 $ 17,510 

Mine development 13,393  -

Furniture, computer and office equipment 2,899 2,698 

Mill facilities and infrastructure 2,825  -

Light vehicles and other mobile equipment 1,942 1,875 

Building (1)  - 1,737 

Construction-in-progress 592  -

Asset retirement costs 448  -

Land and mineral rights 227 227 

Subtotal 41,724 24,047 

Accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization (9,376) (5,693)

Total property and equipment, net $ 32,348 $ 18,354 

 
(1) In July 2014, the Company sold its office building located in Colorado Springs to a related party and is leasing a portion of the building back. The Company received $1.7 million

cash proceeds from the sale, which reflects the value in an arm’s length transaction. The transaction resulted in a gain of $0.3 million.

 
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense for years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $ 4.6 million, $2.6 million and $1.5

million, respectively.
 
In May and June 2013, the Company entered into financing transactions with certain equipment financing companies whereby the Company sold

to them mining equipment that was purchased by the Company from February 2013 through June 2013.  The equipment was subsequently leased back
to the Company for a three-year period.  The Company will retain full use and all benefits attributable to the leased equipment. 
 

The equipment leases qualify as capital leases and have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments, including  the
transaction fees, which approximates the net carrying value of the equipment.  The equipment leases bear interest at 4.5% to 5.5% per annum, with
monthly principal and interest payments of approximately $0.1 million over the three-year lease term.   The Company has an option to purchase the
equipment at the end of the lease term for less than $0.1million.  The present value of the future minimum lease payments, including the bargain
purchase options and up-front transaction fees, totaled $4.8 million, of which $3.1 million represents machinery and equipment and $1.7 million
represents facilities and mine construction expenses.  Depreciation on the leased assets is recorded over their estimated useful lives.

 
As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s obligations under capital leases are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, (in thousands)

2015 $ 1,578 

2016 853 

Total payments due 2,431 

Less amounts representing interest (99)

Subtotal 2,332 

Less current portion (1,498)

Non-current portion $ 834 

 
 

7. Investments

Investments in equity securities at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consisted of the following:      
 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2014

 Cost
Accumulated unrealized

gain
Total

 (in thousands)

Investments in equity securities

Canamex Resources Corporation - common shares $ 1,805 $ 584 $ 2,389 

(1)
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Laguna Gold Pty Ltd - common shares 231  - 231 

Total Investments $ 2,036 $ 584 $ 2,620 

 Fair Value as of December 31, 2013

 Cost
Accumulated unrealized

gain
Total

 (in thousands)

Investments in equity securities

Laguna Gold Pty Ltd - common shares $ 231 $  - $ 231 

Total Investments $ 231 $  - $ 231 

 
 

8.  Income Taxes
The Company files income taxes on an entity basis.  Gold Resource Corporation files as a U.S. Corporation (“U.S. Operations”) and the

Company’s subsidiary files in Mexico.  For financial reporting purposes, net income before income taxes and extraordinary item include the following
components:

 Years Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012
 (in thousands)

U.S. Operations $ (8,396) $ (5,900) $ (13,045)

Foreign Operations 39,662 14,875 60,013 

Total income before income taxes $ 31,266 $ 8,975 $ 46,968 

The Company’s income tax provision consisted of:

 Years Ended December 31,
 2014 2013 2012

 (in thousands)

Current taxes:

Federal $ 353 $  - $  -

State  -  -  -

Foreign 12,442 10,374 22,067 

Total current taxes $ 12,795 $ 10,374 $ 22,067 

 

Deferred taxes:

Federal $ 1,169 $ (2,186) $ 2,913 

State  -  - 298 

Foreign 1,057 702 (11,981)

Total deferred taxes $ 2,226 $ (1,484) $ (8,770)

Total income provision $ 15,021 $ 8,890 $ 13,297 

The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 differs from the amount of income tax determined by
applying the applicable United States statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax income from operations as a result of the following differences:

 Years Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012
 (in thousands)

Tax at statutory rates $ 10,943 $ 3,141 $ 16,031 
U.S Operations - state income tax impact (116) 520 345 
Foreign rate differential (1,906) (2,434) (2,826)
Dividends, net of foreign tax credits 3,082 2,958 2,050 
Adjustments to deferred tax assets (1,345) 141 2,561 
Change in valuation allowance 116 2,228 (4,644)
Disposition of GTR  - 122  -
Mexico mining tax 2,964 (380)  -
Stock-based compensation 764 833  -
Nondeductible expenses and other 1,013 1,856 100 
Impact of foreign exchange change (494) (95) (320)
Tax provision $ 15,021 $ 8,890 $ 13,297 

 

In December 2013, the Mexican president approved a tax reform bill that enacted a new Income Tax Law (“MITL”), which increased the effective
income tax rate applicable to the Company’s Mexican operations effective January 1, 2014. The MITL increases the future corporate income tax rate to
30%, creates a 10% withholding tax on dividends paid to non-resident shareholders (subject to any reduction by an Income Tax Treaty), and creates a
new royalty fee equal to 0.5% of gross revenue from the sale of gold, silver and platinum.

In addition, the law requires taxpayers with mining concessions to pay a new 7.5% royalty tax.  The royalty fee and royalty tax will be tax deductible
for income tax purposes.  The royalty tax will generally be applicable to earnings before income tax, depreciation, depletion, amortization, and
interest.  In calculating the royalty tax there will be no deductions related to depreciable costs from operational fixed assets but exploration and
prospecting depreciable costs are deductible when incurred.

The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $ 0.7 million related to the deferred tax impacts of the above tax changes for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were approximately $130.1 million at December 31, 2014. These earnings are
considered to be indefinitely reinvested, and do not include earnings which are considered distributed.  Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and
state income taxes has been provided for on those earnings.  If the Company were to repatriate those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise,
the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and foreign withholding taxes.

 The Company, on an entity-by-entity basis, evaluates the evidence available to determine whether a valuation allowance is required on the
deferred tax assets. During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company determined that the remaining deferred tax assets of its Oaxaca Mining Unit were
“more likely than not” recoverable and recorded a reduction in the valuation allowance of $4.6 million.
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During 2014 and 2013, the Company determined that the deferred tax asset related to the state net operating loss carry forwards were not "more
likely than not" to be realized and recorded a valuation allowance related to net operating loss carry forwards of $0.1 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.

 At December 31,
 2014 2013

 (in thousands)

Current deferred tax assets:

Other current assets $ 1,498 $ 842 

Foreign tax credits 1,721 1,540 

Foreign mining tax 756  -
Total gross current deferred tax assets 3,975 2,382 

Less: valuation allowance allocated to current (84) (100)

Net current deferred tax asset $ 3,891 $ 2,282 
 
Long-term deferred tax assets:

Tax loss carryforward
U.S. Operations $ 1,626 $ 1,320 
Mexico Operations  -  -

Property and equipment 15,006 18,892 

Stock-based compensation 7,831 6,753 

Foreign tax credits 2,523 4,570 

Other 1,056 407 
Total deferred tax assets 28,042 31,942 

Valuation allowance (2,523) (2,128)

Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance $ 25,519 $ 29,814 

 
Deferred tax liabilities $  - $ (460)

 
Net deferred tax asset $ 29,410 $ 31,636 

 
At December 31, 2014, the Company has U.S. tax loss carry-forwards for U. S. tax purposes approximating $35.9 million, which expire between

2020 and 2033, and foreign tax credits of $8.2 million that expire between 2022 and 2024.
As of December 31, 2014, the Company believes that it has no liability for uncertain tax positions. If the Company were to determine there was an

uncertain tax position, the Company would recognize the liability and related interest and penalties within income tax expense. 
The Company transferred fixed assets from the U.S. parent to its Mexico subsidiary within the consolidated group in 2013.  This transfer created a

difference in the tax basis of the assets in our Mexico subsidiary tax jurisdiction and consolidated financial statement carrying amounts.  The net tax
effect of this intercompany transaction is deferred in consolidation and recorded as a deferred charge of $3.5 million. This charge was recorded to
income tax receivable in 2013 and reclassified to Non-current Other Assets in 2014 and 2013 for presentation purposes. This charge is being amortized
to income tax expense over 10 years to eliminate the deferred tax impact for the intercompany transaction.

Currently the Company is undergoing a tax examination by the Mexican tax authorities that spans back to 2011 and 2012 tax years. The tax
examinations are open and ongoing and no further information has been communicated to the Company by the Mexican tax authorities.   Additionally, to
the extent that net operating losses have been utilized in either the current or preceding years, such losses may be subject to future income tax
examination.

9. Accrued Liabilities and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other  current liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following:
 

 2014 2013
 (in thousands)

Accrued royalty payments $ 1,343 $ 1,183 

Accrued vendor payables 2,212 1,188 

Payroll and other taxes payable 107 170 

Accrued bonus  - 1,800 

Accrued insurance 235 1,272 

Other 26  -

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 3,923 $ 5,613 

 

 
10. Reclamation and Remediation

The Company’s reclamation and remediation obligations relate to  its El Aguila Project.   The following table presents the changes in reclamation
and remediation obligation for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

 2014 2013
 (in thousands)

Reclamation and remediation liabilities – opening balance $ 2,887 $ 2,790 

Additions and changes in estimate (17) 112 

Foreign currency exchange (loss) (325) (15)

Subtotal reclamation and remediation liabilities – ending balance 2,545 2,887 

Asset retirement obligation addition 448  -

Total reclamation and remediation liabilities $ 2,993 $ 2,887 

 
 

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating leases

In July 2014, as part of the sale of its office building located in Colorado Springs, the Company entered into a one year lease agreement to lease a
portion of the building back. In November 2012, the Company entered into a three year lease agreement to lease office space in Denver, Colorado
commencing January 1, 2013.  The Company’s Mexico subsidiary leases office space in Oaxaca City, Oaxaca.  The subsidiary entered into a ten year
lease commencing January 1, 2011.  
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The following is a schedule by years of future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2014:  

 

 Years Ended December 31, (in thousands)

 2015 $ 146 

 2016 72 

 2017 72 

 2018 72 

 2019 72 

 Thereafter 72 

 Total $ 506 

 

12.  Shareholders’ Equity

Dividends

The Company declared commercial production July 1, 2010, and between July 1, 2010 and December 31, 2014, has declared monthly cash
dividends totaling $1.92 per share of common stock to shareholders of record. The Company declared dividends of $6.5 million and paid dividends of
$6.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company declared dividends of $22.9 million
and paid dividends of $25.5 million. In 2013 the Board of Directors authorized the Company’s dividends to be charged to paid-in-capital until such time
as the Company has retained earnings, at which time dividends will be charged to retained earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2014,
$6.5 million of declared dividends were charged to retained earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2013, $22.9 million of declared dividends were
charged to paid-in capital. Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the Company declared a regular monthly cash dividend of $0.01 per common share in
January and February 2015.

Other Matters

On September 23, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which the Company may repurchase up to
$20.0 million of its common stock from time to time in market transactions.  There is no pre-determined end date associated with the share repurchase
program.  As of December 31, 2013, the Company had repurchased 336,398 shares of common stock for $5.9 million.  As of December 31, 2014, the
Company had not  repurchased any additional shares of common stock.

 

13. Concentrate Sale Settlements

The Company records adjustments to sales of metals concentrate that result from final settlement of provisional invoices in the period that the final
invoice settlement occurs.  The Company also reviews assays taken at the mine site on its concentrate shipments, upon which the Company’s
provisional invoices are based, to assays obtained from samples taken at the buyer’s warehouse prior to final settlement, upon which the final invoices
are in part based, to assess whether an adjustment to sales is required prior to final invoice settlement. These adjustments resulted in decreases to
sales of $4.1 million, $5.1 million and $3.1 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
 

In addition to the final settlement adjustments on provisional invoices, the Company records a sales adjustment to mark-to-market outstanding
provisional invoices at the end of each reporting period.  These adjustments resulted in a decrease to sales of $1.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2014, an decrease to sales of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and an increase to sales of $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

 
Sales of metal concentrates are recorded net of smelter refining fees, treatment charges and penalties.  Total charges for these items totaled $ 13.5

million, $14.8 million and $16.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 

14. Employee Benefits

401(k) Plan

Effective October 2012, the Company adopted a profit sharing plan which covers all U.S. employees. The Plan meets the requirements of a
qualified retirement plan pursuant to the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan provides eligible employees the
opportunity to make tax deferred contributions to a retirement trust account up to 45% of their qualified wages, subject to the IRS annual maximums. The
Company will match 100% of the employee's deferred contribution for contributions representing up to 100% of each participating employee's deferred
earnings. Employees vest in the Company's matching contribution immediately.  The Company’s matching contribution expense amounted to
$0.1 million in 2014, $ 0.1 million in 2013 and $ 0.1 million in 2012. The unfunded matching contribution obligation was nil for the year ended December
31, 2014. 

15. Stock Options

The Company has a non-qualified stock option and stock grant plan under which equity awards may be granted to key employees, directors and
others (the “Plan”). The Plan is administered by the Board of Directors, which determines the terms pursuant to which any option is granted. The
maximum amount of common stock subject to grant under the Plan is 10 million shares. As of December 31, 2014, there were 1.5 million shares
available for future grant under the Plan.

A summary of activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2014, is presented below:

 Shares
Weighted Average
Exercise Price (per

share)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (thousands)

Outstanding as of January 1, 2014 5,615,000 $ 9.66 6.7 $ 3,364 
Granted 10,000 5.81 

Exercised (400,000) 0.25 

Forfeited (550,000) 16.86 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 4,675,000 $ 9.61 5.9 $  -

 

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2014 3,901,669 $ 8.68 5.5 $  -

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $ 2.27, $4.24 and
$11.01, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $ 5.5 million, $8.3 million and
$1.6 million, respectively. The Company received $0.1 million in cash proceeds from options exercised during 2014.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2014:
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 Outstanding Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices

Number of
Options

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term (in
years)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price (per

share)

Number of
Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price (per

share)

$3.40 - 3.95 1,900,000 3.7 $ 3.66 1,900,000 $ 3.66 
$5.81 - $14.36 1,675,000 7.4 $ 10.87 1,255,002 $ 10.77 
$17.10 - $20.51 1,100,000 7.6 $ 17.97 746,667 $ 17.96 
 4,675,000 5.9 $ 9.61 3,901,669 $ 8.68 

The fair value of stock option grants is amortized over the respective vesting period. Total stock-based compensation expense related to stock
options allocated among production costs and general and administrative expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $5.0
million, $7.6 million, $6.6 million, respectively. Below is a table of stock-based compensation expense allocated between production and general and
administrative expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

 2014 2013 2012

 
(in thousands)

Production costs $ 2,182 $ 2,380 $ 1,737 

General and administrative expenses 2,769 5,237 4,863 

Total stock-based compensation $ 4,951 $ 7,617 $ 6,600 

The estimated unrecognized stock-based compensation expense from unvested options as of December 31, 2014, was approximately $ 2.8 million,
which is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting periods of up to 2.0 years.

The assumptions used to determine the value of our stock-based awards under the Black-Scholes method are summarized below:

 
2014 2013 2012

Risk-free interest rate 0.69% 0.68% - 1.62% 0.62% - 2.31%

Dividend yield 1.63% 2.87% - 3.40% 2.47% - 3.14%

Expected volatility 53.63% 62.74% - 63.21% 62.94% - 67.20%

Expected life in years 5 5 5
 
 

 
16. Other income (expense) 

During the years ended December 31, 201 4, 2013 and 2012, other income (expense) consisted of the following:

 2014 2013 2012
 (in thousands)

Currency exchange (loss) $ (830) $ (357) $ (2,881)

Impairment (loss) on gold and silver bullion (279) (1,743)  -

Unrealized gain from investments 702  -  -

Realized gain (loss) from gold and silver bullion converted 4 (58) (64)

Interest income 161 166 122 

Other (expense) income (80) 637 87 

Total other income (expense) $ (322) $ (1,355) $ (2,736)

 

17. Net Income per Common Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted earnings per
share is calculated based on the assumption that stock options outstanding, which have an exercise price less than the average market price of the
Company’s common shares during the year, have been exercised on the later of the beginning of the year or the date granted and that the funds
obtained from the exercise were used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the year.

The effect of potentially dilutive stock options on the weighted average number of shares outstanding for t he years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2014 2013 2012
 (in thousands)

Net income $ 16,245 $ 85 $ 33,671 

Basic weighted average shares of common stock 54,119,095 53,255,259 52,846,163 

Dilutive effect of stock options 501,237 2,044,216 3,469,722 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 54,620,332 55,299,475 56,315,885 

Basic:

Net income per basic share $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.64 

Diluted:

Net income per diluted share $ 0.30 $ 0.00 $ 0.60 

Stock options totaling 2.8 million, 2.6 million and 1.3 million as of December 31, 201 4, 2013 and 2012, respectively, were excluded from the
computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding due to being anti-dilutive. The exercise price of those stock options exceeded the average
market price of the Company’s common shares of $4.78,  $9.06 and $22.07 for the years ended December 31, 201 4, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
18. Supplementary Cash-Flow Information

During the years ended December 31, 201 4, 2013 and 2012,  other within the net cash provided by operations on the statement of cash flows
consisted of the following:

 
 2014 2013 2012
 (in thousands)
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Gain on disposition of property and plant $ (146) $  - $  -

Impairment loss on gold and silver bullion 279 1,743 (58)
Reclamation and remediation  - 112 339 
Reserve for uncollectible advances 242  -  -
Unrealized (gain) on investments (702)  -  -
Unrealized foreign currency exchange loss 1,109 526 1,442 
Allowance for uncollectible IVA (1,126)  -  -
Write-down of obsolete material and supply inventory 402  -  -
Deferred charge (see footnote 8) 353 (3,528)  -
Other 185  - 6 

Total other $ 596 $ (1,147) $ 1,729 
 

 

 

19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements 

 
Misapplication of Other Receivable. During the third quarter of 2014, management identified a misapplication of a $1.5 million receivable credit from

our personnel contract service provider that was applied to our labor costs in the second quarter of 2014. Management determined that the effect of the
misstatement was not material to the financial statements for the prior interim period. In order to correct the error, in accordance with the SEC’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 108, we recorded the following immaterial corrections to the interim financial statements for the second quarter of 2014: (a) an
increase to inventory of $0.4 million and an increase to current liabilities of $1.0 million; and (b) an increase to cost of sales of $1.1 million, a decrease to
provision for income tax of $0.5 million and a corresponding decrease to net income.

 
The following represents selected information from our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income

(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

 2014

 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
 (in thousands)

Sales, net $ 31,152 $ 33,669 $ 21,052 $ 29,532 

Mine gross profit 16,186 16,648 8,023 10,014 

Operating income (loss) 11,885 12,802 (415) 7,316 

Other income 469 205 69 (1,065)

Net income (loss) $ 7,125 $ 7,156 $ (1,455) $ 3,419 

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic: $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ (0.03) $ 0.06 

Diluted: $ 0.13 $ 0.13 $ (0.03) $ 0.06 

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 53,934,925 54,179,369 54,179,369 54,119,095 

Diluted 54,697,710 54,556,217 54,179,369 54,326,169 

 

 2013

 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
 (in thousands)

Sales of metals concentrate, net $ 42,311 $ 26,660 $ 29,405 $ 27,408 

Mine gross profit 26,034 11,144 11,377 9,703 

Operating income (loss) 12,347 (768) (1,884) 635 

Other (expense) income (36) (1,862) (660) 1,203 

Net income (loss) $ 7,387 $ (1,373) $ (1,830) $ (4,099)

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic: $ 0.14 $ (0.03) $ (0.03) $ (0.08)

Diluted: $ 0.13 $ (0.03) $ (0.03) $ (0.08)

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic 52,679,369 53,272,776 53,320,673 53,735,891 

Diluted 55,586,031 53,272,776 53,320,673 53,735,891 

 
 
 
 

20. Legal Proceedings

A securities class action lawsuit subsequently captioned In re Gold Resource Corporation. Securities Litigation, No.1:12-cv-02832 was filed in U.S.
District Court for the District of Colorado naming us and certain of our current and former officers and directors as defendants on October 25, 2012.   The
complaint alleged violations of federal securities laws by us and certain of our officers and directors. On July 15, 2013, the federal district court granted
our motion to dismiss the lawsuit with prejudice.  On January 16, 2015, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit affirmed the District
Court’s decision. While the securities class action lawsuit may be subject to rehearing or appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court within a specified time
period, we believe the plaintiff does not intend to take any further action regarding this lawsuit.

 
On February 8, 2013, a shareholder’s derivative lawsuit entitled City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Reid et al., No. 1:13-CV-00348  was filed in the U.S.

District Court for the District of Colorado naming us as a nominal defendant, and naming seven of our current and former officers and directors as
defendants. The lawsuit alleges breach of fiduciary duty, gross mismanagement and unjust enrichment and seeks to recover, for the Gold Resource
Corporation’s benefit, unspecified damages purportedly sustained by us in connection with the alleged misconduct identified in the class action lawsuit
discussed above and an award of attorney’s fees and costs. The action was stayed pending resolution of the appeal of the dismissal of the securities
class action lawsuit. Following the appellate court’s decision to affirm the District Court’s ruling, all parties to the shareholder derivative lawsuit agreed to
voluntarily dismiss the proceedings and the case was terminated on February 25, 2015.
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

 On March 18, 2013, our Audit Committee dismissed StarkSchenkein, LLP and engaged KPMG LLP to serve as our independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013. The audit reports of StarkSchenkein, LLP on our consolidated financial statements as of
and for the years December 31, 2012 and 2011, did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to
uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles. During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the subsequent interim period
through March 18, 2013, there were no (1) disagreements between us and StarkSchenkein, LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices,
financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements if not resolved to their satisfaction would have caused them to
make reference thereto in their reports on the consolidated financial statements for such years, or (2) “reportable events” as that term is defined in
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

 
During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the interim period through March 18, 2013, we have not consulted with KPMG

LLP regarding either (1) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that
might be rendered on our consolidated financial statements, and no written report or oral advice was provided by KPMG LLP to us that was an important
factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to any accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or (2) any matter that was the subject of a
disagreement (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and related instructions) or a “reportable event” (as that term is defined in
Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K). 

 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures also include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2014, due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below.

(b) Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.  Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the
framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(2013) (“Framework”). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
was not effective because of the material weakness described below. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting, such that there is reasonable possibility that a material misstatement in our annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

As of December 31, 2014, we did not maintain effective controls over the accounting for income taxes, including the income tax provision and
related tax assets and liabilities. Specifically, the process level controls over the reconciliation of the income tax receivable account were not performed,
and  management’s review of the income tax provision and related accounts was not designed or operating at a sufficient level of precision to identify
material misstatements.

These deficiencies resulted in errors in the amortization of an asset and the incorrect balance sheet classification in the consolidated financial
statements. These errors are not material and have been corrected in our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2014.

A reasonable possibility exists that these control deficiencies could result in misstatements of the aforementioned accounts and disclosures that
would result in a material misstatement to the consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected in a timely manner. Accordingly,
we have determined that these control deficiencies, in the aggregate, constitute a material weakness.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public ac counting firm, has audited the c onsolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and, as part of its audit, has issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which
is included in this Form 10-K.

 
(c)  Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The significant changes described below were made to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

In connection with the evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, the Company identified that material
weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting existed relating to:

·  the effective design and operating effectiveness of controls over cash disbursements; and

·  the effective monitoring and oversight of external service providers. Specifically:

o we did not maintain adequate monitoring and oversight of our external service provider engaged to assist management in evaluating the
internal control environment and testing of process level controls.

o we did not maintain adequate monitoring and oversight of our external service provider engaged to assist management in the evaluation
of the general information technology control environment, including controls intended to prevent unauthorized system access and
inappropriate change management.

o we did not maintain adequate monitoring and oversight of our external service provider engaged to assist management in the
recognition, measurement and presentation of income taxes.

To address these material weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, the Company implemented the following:

· We designed and implemented additional controls around the approval of cash disbursements related to certain general and administrative
expenses.

· We engaged a new independent Sarbanes-Oxley compliance provider and designed and implemented controls to ensure that internal control
assessments were being performed timely and accurately to allow adequate timing for the testing of controls in the general information
technology control environment area.
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· We engaged a new independent income tax compliance provider and designed and implemented controls that included additional internal
control checklists for the income tax provision, a new income tax provision software model and regular discussion meetings to anticipate any
business developments that could affect the determination or presentation of income tax expense.

 
The Company has completed the documentation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of the corrective actions described above

and, as of December 31, 2014, has concluded that the material weaknesses related to cash disbursements and monitoring and oversight of external
service providers described above have been remediated as of December 31, 2014.

 
During the quarter ended December 31, 2014, we identified a material weakness in internal controls relating to the design and operating

effectiveness of controls over the reconciliation of consolidation journal entries to the financial statements. We have determined that the material
weakness originated in periods prior to the fourth quarter of 2014.  As a result, we implemented new controls in the fourth quarter of 2014 to remediate
the deficiencies. We have determined that the actions taken to date have sufficiently addressed the control deficiencies such that as of December 31,
2014, there is not a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.

 

(d) Management’s Plans for Remediation of the Material Weakness

The Company has been and is continuing to implement changes in its internal control over financial reporting to remediate the control deficiency
that has given rise to a material weakness related to the accounting for income taxes. We are undertaking the following remediation plans and actions:

 
· Designing and implementing additional controls, and enhancing existing controls, related to the review and reconciliation of income taxes.
· Improving management’s oversight and monitoring of its income tax provision process by enhancing its quarterly discussions with our outside

tax advisors to anticipate any business developments that could affect the determination or presentation of income tax expense.
As management implements these plans, management may determine that additional steps may be necessary to remediate the material

weaknesses.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Gold Resource Corporation:

We have audited Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based
on criteria established in Internal Control ‑ Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Gold Resource Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Item 9A(b), Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. A
material weakness related to ineffective internal controls over income taxes, which were not designed and operating effectively, has been identified and
included in management’s assessment in Item 9A(b). We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2014. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit
tests applied in our audit of the 2014 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 19, 2015, which
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the aforementioned material weakness on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Gold
Resource Corporation and subsidiaries have not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO).

/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Denver, Colorado
March 19, 2015
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders (“2014 Proxy Statement”) expected to be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.
Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be contained in our 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be contained in our 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be contained in our 2015 Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information to be contained in our 2015 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES  

The following exhibits are filed with or incorporated by referenced in this report:
 

Item No. Description
 

3.1 
Articles of Incorporation of the Company as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on August 24, 1998 (incorporated by reference
from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

3.1.1
Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on September 16, 2005
(incorporated by reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 3.1.1, File No. 333-
129321).

 

3.1.2
Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on November 8, 2010 (incorporated
by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on November 10, 2010, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

3.2 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form 8-K
filed on August 12, 2010, Exhibit 3.2, File No. 333-129321).

 

3.2.1 
Amendment dated March 25, 2013 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by
reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2013, Exhibit 3.2, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.1 
Exploitation and Exploration Agreement between the Company and Jose Perez Reynoso dated October 14, 2002 (incorporated by
reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.2 
Mining Exploration and Exploitation Agreement between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Jose Perez Reynoso effective November
21, 2002 (incorporated by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2012, Exhibit 10.15, File No. 001-
34857).

 

10.3 
Amendment to Mining Exploration and Exploitation Agreement between Don David Gold Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Jose Perez
Reynoso effective August 3, 2012 (incorporated by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2012, Exhibit
10.17, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.4 
Amended and Restated Non-Qualified Stock Option and Stock Grant Plan (incorporated by reference from our registration statement
on Form S-8 filed on January 20, 2011, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-171779).

 

10.5 
Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005,
Exhibit 10.3, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.6 
Strategic Alliance Agreement between the Company and Hochschild Mining Holdings Limited (incorporated by reference from our report
on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2008, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.7 
Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason D. Reid (incorporated by reference from
our registration statement on Form S-1 filed on October 22, 2010, Exhibit 10.12, File No. 333-170101).

 

10.8 
Office Lease between Don David Gold Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Immobilaria & Construcciones Stipa S.A. de C.V. effective January 1,
2012 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.28, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.9 
Contract Services Agreement between the Company and Richard Irvine dated February 16, 2012 (incorporated by reference from our
annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.27, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.10 
Office Lease between the Company and Lincoln ASB Colorado Center LLC effective November 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference from
our annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.29, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.11 
Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry Devlin (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form
8-K filed on November 13, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.12 
Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason Reid dated September 9, 2013
(incorporated by reference to the current report on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.13 
Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Joe A. Rodriguez (incorporated by reference from our current report on
Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.14
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference from our current
report on Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.15
Purchase Contract 103-14CMX-011-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014 Exhibit
10.15, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.16
Purchase Contract 203-14CMX-012-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit
10.16, File No. 001-34857).
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10.17
Purchase Contract 303-14CMX-010-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit
10.17, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.18 Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Greg Patterson (incorporated by reference from our annual report on
Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit 10.18, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.19 Consulting Agreement between the Company and William Reid (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on
February 6, 2014, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.20* Amendment to Consulting Agreement between the Company and William Reid effective January 1, 2015.
 

10.21* Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason Reid effective February 1,
2014.

 

10.22* Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement between the Company and Joe Rodriguez effective February 1, 2014.
 

10.23* Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry Devlin effective December 1, 2014. 

 

10.24* 
Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Contract 103-14CMX-011-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Trafigura Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. effective April 30, 2014.

 

10.25* Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Contract 203-14CMX-012-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Trafigura Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. effective April 30, 2014.

 

10.26* Purchase Contract between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver Refining Inc. dated August 15, 2014.

 

16.1
Letter from StarkSchenkein, LLP addressed to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 18, 2013 (incorporated by
reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on March 18, 2013, Exhibit 16.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

21* Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 

23.2* Consent of StarkSchenkein, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 

31.1* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jason D. Reid.
 

31.2* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Joe A. Rodriguez.
 

32* Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jason D Reid and Joe A. Rodriguez.

 

101*

The following financial statements from the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 are furnished
herewith, formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
* filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 

   
   

GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION

Date:   March 19, 2015
  

/s/ Jason D. Reid
   

By: Jason D. Reid,  Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director

 

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Or F   
 

/s/ Jason D. Reid Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 19, 2015

Jason D. Reid
  

 

/s/ Joe A. Rodriguez Chief Financial Officer March 19, 2015

Joe A. Rodriguez
  

 

/s/ Bill M. Conrad Chairman of the Board of Directors March 19, 2015

Bill M. Conrad
  

 

/s/ Tor Falck Director March 19, 2015

Tor Falck
  

 

/s/ Gary C. Huber Director March 19, 2015

Gary C. Huber
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Item No. Description
 

3.1 
Articles of Incorporation of the Company as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on August 24, 1998 (incorporated by reference
from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

3.1.1
Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on September 16, 2005
(incorporated by reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 3.1.1, File No. 333-
129321).

 

3.1.2
Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation as filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on November 8, 2010 (incorporated
by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on November 10, 2010, Exhibit 3.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

3.2 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form 8-K
filed on August 12, 2010, Exhibit 3.2, File No. 333-129321).

 

3.2.1 
Amendment dated March 25, 2013 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company dated August 9, 2010 (incorporated by
reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2013, Exhibit 3.2, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.1 
Exploitation and Exploration Agreement between the Company and Jose Perez Reynoso dated October 14, 2002 (incorporated by
reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.2 
Mining Exploration and Exploitation Agreement between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Jose Perez Reynoso effective November
21, 2002 (incorporated by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2012, Exhibit 10.15, File No. 001-
34857).

 

10.3 
Amendment to Mining Exploration and Exploitation Agreement between Don David Gold Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Jose Perez
Reynoso effective August 3, 2012 (incorporated by reference from our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2012, Exhibit
10.17, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.4 
Amended and Restated Non-Qualified Stock Option and Stock Grant Plan (incorporated by reference from our registration statement
on Form S-8 filed on January 20, 2011, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-171779).

 

10.5 
Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from our registration statement on Form SB-2 filed on October 28, 2005,
Exhibit 10.3, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.6 
Strategic Alliance Agreement between the Company and Hochschild Mining Holdings Limited (incorporated by reference from our report
on Form 8-K dated December 5, 2008, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 333-129321).

 

10.7 
Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason D. Reid (incorporated by reference from
our registration statement on Form S-1 filed on October 22, 2010, Exhibit 10.12, File No. 333-170101).

 

10.8 
Office Lease between Don David Gold Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Immobilaria & Construcciones Stipa S.A. de C.V. effective January 1,
2012 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.28, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.9 
Contract Services Agreement between the Company and Richard Irvine dated February 16, 2012 (incorporated by reference from our
annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.27, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.10 
Office Lease between the Company and Lincoln ASB Colorado Center LLC effective November 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference from
our annual report on Form 10-K filed March 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.29, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.11 
Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry Devlin (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form
8-K filed on November 13, 2012, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.12 
Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason Reid dated September 9, 2013
(incorporated by reference to the current report on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.13 
Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Joe A. Rodriguez (incorporated by reference from our current report on
Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.14
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference from our current
report on Form 8-K filed on December 18, 2013, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.15
Purchase Contract 103-14CMX-011-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014 Exhibit
10.15, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.16
Purchase Contract 203-14CMX-012-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit
10.16, File No. 001-34857).
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10.17

Purchase Contract 303-14CMX-010-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Consorcio Minero de Mexico Cormin Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. effective December 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference from our annual report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit
10.17, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.18 Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Greg Patterson (incorporated by reference from our annual report on
Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2014, Exhibit 10.18, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.19 Consulting Agreement between the Company and William Reid (incorporated by reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on
February 6, 2014, Exhibit 10.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

10.20* Amendment to Consulting Agreement between the Company and William Reid effective January 1, 2015.
 

10.21* Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Jason Reid effective February 1,
2014.

 

10.22* Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement between the Company and Joe Rodriguez effective February 1, 2014.
 

10.23* Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement between the Company and Barry Devlin effective December 1, 2014. 

 

10.24* 
Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Contract 103-14CMX-011-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Trafigura Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. effective April 30, 2014.

 

10.25* Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Contract 203-14CMX-012-0-P between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Trafigura Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. effective April 30, 2014.

 

10.26* Purchase Contract between Don David Gold, S.A. de C.V. and Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver Refining Inc. dated August 15, 2014.

 

16.1
Letter from StarkSchenkein, LLP addressed to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 18, 2013 (incorporated by
reference from our current report on Form 8-K filed on March 18, 2013, Exhibit 16.1, File No. 001-34857).

 

21* Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 

23.2* Consent of StarkSchenkein, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 

31.1* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jason D. Reid.
 

31.2* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Joe A. Rodriguez.
 

32* Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Jason D Reid and Joe A. Rodriguez.

 

101*

The following financial statements from the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 are furnished
herewith, formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
* filed herewith
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Exhibit 10.20
 

 
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT

 
 
THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Amendment”) effective January  1,

2015, (the “Effective Date”) by and between William Reid, an individual whose primary address is on record with the
Company (the “Consultant”) and Gold Resource Corporation, a Colorado corporation having its principal place of
business at 2886 Carriage Manor Point, Colorado Springs, Colorado 80906 (the “Company”).

 
RECITALS

 
WHEREAS, the Company and the Consultant entered into that certain Consulting Agreement dated February 1,

2014 (the “Agreement”); and
 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the provisions contained herein, the adequacy
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.  Amendment. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

Section 6 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
 
“6. The Company shall pay the Consultant a consulting fee (the “Consulting Retainer”) in the
amount of $4,000 per month. As stated above, no taxes or other withholdings will be paid or withheld by
the Company as these are the Consultant’s sole responsibility.”

 
2. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of

Colorado without regard to the conflict of laws of such state.
 

3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which so executed and
delivered shall constitute an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
instrument and any one of which may be used to evidence this Amendment.
 

4. Severability. All provisions of this Amendment are severable and any provision which may be prohibited by law
shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Amendment and the parties hereto agree to cooperate to provide a legal substitute for any provision which is
prohibited by law.
 

5. Entire Agreement; Modifications and Amendments. This Amendment, together with the Agreement, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof. No provision of this Amendment may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed
to in writing, signed by the parties to this Amendment.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the date

first written above.
 
 
 
GOLD RESOURCE CORPORATION CONSULTANT
 
By: /s/ Jason D. Reid  By: /s/ William W. Reid
Name: Jason D. Reid Name: William W. Reid
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
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Exhibit 10.21
 

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This Amendment No. 2 to that certain Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2010 (this “Amendment”) is made by
and between Gold Resource Corporation (the “Company”) and Jason Reid (the “Employee”), effective as of February 1,
2014, with reference to the following facts:
 

WHEREAS, (i) the Company and the Employee entered into that certain Employment Agreement effective July 1,
2010 (the “Agreement”) and (ii) the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the provisions contained herein, the adequacy

and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.  Amendment. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

1.1 Section 4.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
 

“4.1 Base Salary.  As compensation for the Employee’s services rendered hereunder, the Company
shall pay to the Employee a base salary at an annual rate equal to six hundred thousand dollars
($600,000) (the “Base Salary”).  The Base Salary shall be payable to the Employee on a monthly basis in
accordance with the Company’s standard policies for management personnel.”

 
2. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of

Colorado without regard to the conflict of laws of such state.
 

3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which so executed and
delivered shall constitute an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
instrument and any one of which may be used to evidence this Amendment.
 

4. Severability. All provisions of this Amendment are severable and any provision which may be prohibited by law
shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Amendment and the parties hereto agree to cooperate to provide a legal substitute for any provision which is
prohibited by law.
 

5. Entire Agreement; Modifications and Amendments. This Amendment, together with the Agreement, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof. No provision of this Amendment may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed
to in writing, signed by the parties to this Amendment.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the date
first written above.
 
 

THE COMPANY:
Gold Resource Corporation, a Colorado corporation

By: /s/ Bill Conrad
Name: Bill Conrad

Title: Chairman of the Board of Directors
 

EMPLOYEE:

 
By: /s/ Jason Reid
Jason Reid
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Exhibit 10.22
AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This Amendment No. 2 to that certain Employment Agreement dated July 1, 2010 (this “Amendment”) is made by

and between Gold Resource Corporation (the “Company”) and Joe Rodriguez (the “Employee”), effective as of February
1, 2014, with reference to the following facts:
 

WHEREAS, (i) the Company and the Employee entered into that certain Employment Agreement effective July 1,
2010 (the “Agreement”) and (ii) the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the provisions contained herein, the adequacy

and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.  Amendment. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

Section 4.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
 
“4.1 Base Salary.  As compensation for the Employee’s services rendered hereunder, the Company
shall pay to the Employee a base salary at an annual rate equal to two hundred fifty thousand dollars
($250,000) (the “Base Salary”).  The Base Salary shall be payable to the Employee in accordance with the
Company’s standard payroll policies for management personnel.”

 
2. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of

Colorado without regard to the conflict of laws of such state.
 

3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which so executed and
delivered shall constitute an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
instrument and any one of which may be used to evidence this Amendment.
 

4. Severability. All provisions of this Amendment are severable and any provision which may be prohibited by law
shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Amendment and the parties hereto agree to cooperate to provide a legal substitute for any provision which is
prohibited by law.
 

5. Entire Agreement; Modifications and Amendments. This Amendment, together with the Agreement, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof. No provision of this Amendment may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed
to in writing, signed by the parties to this Amendment.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the date
first written above.
 
 

THE COMPANY:
Gold Resource Corporation, a Colorado corporation

By: /s/ Jason Reid
Name: Jason Reid
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

 
EMPLOYEE:

 
By: /s/ Joe Rodriguez
Joe Rodriguez
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Exhibit 10.23
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

 
This Amendment No. 1 to that certain Employment Agreement dated November 2, 2012 (this “Amendment”) is

made by and between Gold Resource Corporation (the “Company”) and Barry D. Devlin (the “Employee”), effective as of
December 1, 2014, with reference to the following facts:
 

WHEREAS, (i) the Company and the Employee entered into that certain Employment Agreement effective
November 2, 2012 (the “Agreement”) and (ii) the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein.

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the provisions contained herein, the adequacy

and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.  Amendment. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

Section 4.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the following:
 
“4.1 Base Salary.  As compensation for the Employee’s services rendered hereunder, the Company
shall pay to the Employee a base salary at an annual rate equal to three hundred thirty thousand dollars
($330,000) (the “Base Salary”).  The Base Salary shall be payable to the Employee in accordance with the
Company’s standard payroll policies for management personnel.”

 
2. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of

Colorado without regard to the conflict of laws of such state.
 

3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which so executed and
delivered shall constitute an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
instrument and any one of which may be used to evidence this Amendment.
 

4. Severability. All provisions of this Amendment are severable and any provision which may be prohibited by law
shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without invalidating the remaining provisions of this
Amendment and the parties hereto agree to cooperate to provide a legal substitute for any provision which is
prohibited by law.
 

5. Entire Agreement; Modifications and Amendments. This Amendment, together with the Agreement, constitutes
the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof. No provision of this Amendment may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed
to in writing, signed by the parties to this Amendment.

 

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the date
first written above.
 
 

THE COMPANY:
Gold Resource Corporation, a Colorado corporation

By: /s/ Jason Reid
Name: Jason Reid
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

 
EMPLOYEE:

 
By: /s/ Barry D. Devlin
Barry D. Devlin
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Exhibit 10.24
DON DAVID GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
Las Rosas No. 339
Col. Reforma, Oaxaca, Oaxaca
CP 68050
Mexico
Ph. +52 951 5216 8258
 
30th April 2014
 
 

Amendment 1 to Purchase Contract 103-14CMX-
011-1-P

 
With  respect to contract 103-14CMX-011-0-P, concluded on the 12  December 2013 (the “Contract”) between TRAFIGURA MEXICO
S.A. DE C.V.,  Reforma 115 piso 21, despacho 2102, Col. Lomas de Chapultepec, Mexico D.F., Mexico (the “Buyer”) and DON DAVID
GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., Las Reforma No. 339 Col. Reforma, Oaxaca, Oaxaca,  CP 68050Mexico (the “Seller”), Buyer and
Seller hereby agree to amend the Contract Agreement as follows:
 
The Effective Date of this Amendment shall be 30  April 2014.
 
QUANTITY AND QUALITY
 
In consideration of the lower than previously advised 2014 Lead deliveries from the Seller to the Buyer, the parties agree to extend the
Zinc sale and purchase agreement to December 31, 2015.  100% of El Aguila’s zinc concentrates (the “Concentrate”) production
estimated to be 22,000 DMT in monthly deliveries of approximately 1,800 DMT between January 2014 to December 31, 2014 and
100% of El Aguila’s 2015 zinc production. The Seller shall on a best efforts basis advise the Buyer of the estimated 2015 monthly
deliveries prior to the end of 2014.
 
Assays as follows:
 
Zn 50 - 53%
Ag 200 - 500 g/dmt
Au 4.0 - 12.0 g/dmt
Sb 0.01 - 0.02%
Cd 0.2 - 0.4%
Bi 0.005 - 0.01%
As 0.2 - 0.3%
Pb 2.0 - 4.0%
S 20 - 30%
Fe 2 - 6%
SiO2 4 - 7%
Hg 8 - 20 ppm
Ni 50 - 80 ppm
Te 150 - 200 ppm
Cr 25 - 75 ppm
  

 
In the event the actual assays are outside of the above described contractual assays both parties agree to discuss in good faith to
reach a solution in line with prevailing market terms.
 
The Concentrate shall otherwise be free from deleterious impurities harmful to the smelting and / or refining processes and shall be
able to withstand the voyage, upon all customary forms of transportation, to the destination intended by the Buyer.  The Concentrate
shall conform to all local regulations and the IMO / BC Code of Safe Practice for Solid Bulk Cargoes. Seller shall promptly present valid
TML, FMP and moisture certificates if so requested by Buyer.
 

 

 

th
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Amendment 1 to Purchase Contract                    103-14CMX-011-0-P 2
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this document as of the respective dates specified below with effect from the
Effective Date specified on the first page of this document.
 
 
Accepted:
 
/s/ Jason D.
Reid__________________________                
                 
DON DAVID GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
 (signed by fully authorised signatory)
                                                                            
 

/s/Juan Antonio Moran________________
                                 
TRAFIGURA MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
 (signed by fully authorised signatory)
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Exhibit 10.25
DON DAVID GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
Las Rosas No. 339
Col. Reforma, Oaxaca, Oaxaca
CP 68050
Mexico
Ph. +52 951 5216 8258
 
30th April 2014
 
 

Amendment 1 to Purchase Contract 203-14CMX-
012-1-P

 
With  respect to contract 203-14CMX-012-0-P, concluded on the 12  December 2013 (the “Contract”) between TRAFIGURA MEXICO
S.A. DE C.V.,  Reforma 115 piso 21, despacho 2102, Col. Lomas de Chapultepec, Mexico D.F., Mexico (the “Buyer”) and DON DAVID
GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V., Las Reforma No. 339 Col. Reforma, Oaxaca, Oaxaca,  CP 68050Mexico (the “Seller”), Buyer and
Seller hereby agree to amend the Contract Agreement as follows:
 
The Effective Date of this Amendment shall be 30  April 2014.
 
QUOTATIONAL PERIOD
 
Silver
The quotational period for silver shall be the month following the month of arrival at the warehouse (M+1) or the second month
following the month of arrival at the warehouse (M+2) The QP shall be declared prior to the end of the month following the month of
arrival (M+1).
Lead and Gold
The quotational period for lead and gold shall be the month following the month of arrival at the warehouse (M+1).
 
This Quotational Period shall apply with the deliveries commencing from May 1st until December
31st 2014.
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this document as of the respective dates specified below with effect from the
Effective Date specified on the first page of this document.
 
 
Accepted:
 
/s/ Jason D.
Reid__________________________                
                 
DON DAVID GOLD MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
 (signed by fully authorised signatory)
                                                                            
 

/s/Juan Antonio Moran________________
                                 
TRAFIGURA MEXICO S.A. DE C.V.
 (signed by fully authorised signatory)
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Exhibit 10.26
 
REFINING AGREEMENT NO:  SC-2014/05/17      DATE: August 15, 2014
 
JOHNSON MATTHEY GOLD & SILVER REFINING INC.
 
Principal place of business:
 
4601 West 2100 South,
Salt Lake City, Utah, 84120,
USA
 
("the Refiner")
 
agrees to receive from:
 
DON DAVID GOLD MEXICO S.A. de C.V.
 
Principal place of business:
 
Las Rosas No. 339,
Col. Reforma, Oaxaca,
Oaxaca, CP 68050
Mexico
 
("the Customer")
 
and to refine the material referred to in Clause 1 ("the Material") at the Refiner's refinery in Salt Lake City, Utah ("the
Refinery") and the Customer agrees to deliver the Material to the Refiner for refining on the terms and conditions of this
agreement ("this Agreement"). The Refiner and the Customer are referred to in this Agreement as a “Party” or together
as the “Parties”.
 
1. Material and Quality

 
1.1. "Material" means gold/silver doré in the form of bars, having the following approximate assays:

 
Gold -  approximately 30%; in the range of 25% to 35%
Silver   - approximately 70%; in the range of 60% to 80%
Balance Metals and Elements – approximately 5%

 
1.2. Each bar shall:

 
(a) weigh approximately 10-25 kilograms; and

 
(b) be suitable for direct melting and sampling.
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1.3. Customer represents, warrants, and covenants with the Refiner that the Customer shall have (a) the legal right

to deliver the Material to the Refiner at the Refinery as provided in this Agreement and to receive delivery of the
Recoverable Metals (as defined below) from the Refiner as provided in this Agreement and (b) good, valid and
marketable title to the Material.

1.4. Refiner represents, warrants, and covenants with the Customer that, (a) provided the Customer adheres to the
quantity and shipment parameters set forth in clause 2, the Refiner will have the capacity and the facilities to
perform the services required to be performed by Refiner pursuant to this Agreement (the “Services”), and (b)
the Refiner shall perform the Services in a professional manner and in accordance with the generally accepted
industry standards for refiners providing similar services, provided, for greater certainty, it shall not be
considered unprofessional or contrary to generally accepted industry standards for the Refiner to rely upon
Customer’s information pursuant to clause 3.4 for the types and amounts of deleterious elements present in any
shipment.

2. Quantity
 

2.1. The Customer shall deliver to the Refiner for refining of the actual annual production of Material from the
Customer’s Don David mine (“the Mine”) in Mexico.  The estimated production from the Mine is estimated to be
approximately 1,200 to 1,500 kilograms of Material per year.
 

2.2. Each shipment of Material by the Customer to the Refiner under this Agreement (“Shipment”)  will consist of no
less than 30 kilograms.

 
3. Delivery

 
3.1. The Customer shall deliver the Material to the Refiner’s dedicated carrier (“the Carrier”) with risk of loss passing

when the Carrier takes delivery of the Shipment in accordance with clause 4.1.  The Material will be delivered in
solid boxes or other suitable sealed containers and/or shall be placed on pallets and shrink wrapped.

 
3.2. The Customer in delivering the Material to the Refinery will be fully and exclusively responsible for all customs,

import, export and other border-related requirements, and will be shown on all customs and commercial
documents required for reporting and entering the Material into the US as the owner and importer of the
Material.  The customs broker retained to assist the Customer in the importation process will be an agent of the
Customer, and not the Refiner, and will receive its instructions exclusively from and will be compensated fully by
the Customer.

 
3.3. Each Shipment will have full and complete documentation, including but not limited to a commercial invoice (as

described in clause 3.4) and a detailed bar list, in form and substance satisfactory to the Refiner. 
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3.4. The commercial invoice (“Commercial Invoice”) shall include the following information with respect to each

Shipment: (a) the number of doré bars, (b) the weight of each doré bar and of the total Shipment ( c ) the
provisional assay for each doré bar and the total gold and silver content of the Shipment and (d) the unique seal
numbers for each dore bar.

 
4. Refiner’s Liability for Material

 
4.1. Risk of loss and damage to the Material shall pass from the Customer to the Refiner upon signature for the

Material by the Carrier at the Mine.  Acceptance of risk of loss and damage to the Material and/or Refiner’s
signature with respect to a Shipment of Material does not imply, or be deemed to be, acceptance of Customer’s
statement of the Material’s weight, assay or contents.  Upon receipt of the Material at the Refinery, the Refiner
will inspect and weigh the Material as described in Appendix 1 attached hereto.

 
4.2. The moment the risk in respect of any Material passes to the Refiner pursuant to clause 4.1, the Refiner

assumes responsibility for the Material and, subject to clause 12, will be liable to the Customer for any and all
loss of or damage to the Material, until such time as the Recoverable Metals (as defined herein) are credited or
delivered to the Customer or to any third party pursuant to clause 8.
 

4.3. The Refiner shall employ security measures deemed reasonable by the Customer to safeguard the Material and
the Recoverable Metals while risk of loss and damage to the Material and the Recoverable Metals remains with
the Refiner.

 
4.4. In the event of a loss of a Shipment after delivery to, but prior to sampling (as described in Appendix 1) by, the

Refiner, the value of such loss shall be based on the weight and assays provided by the Customer to the Refiner
in the Commercial Invoice included with the Shipment; provided however, that if the loss occurs after the Refiner
has weighed the Material upon arrival in accordance with Appendix 1, Refiner’s weight shall be used (except in
instances when the difference between weight set out in the Commercial Invoice and the weight determined by
the Refiner is in excess of the amount set out in clause 2.2 of Appendix 1, then the weight set out in the
Commercial Invoice shall be used).

 
4.5. In the event of the loss of a Shipment after sampling (as described in Appendix 1) by the Refiner, the value of

such loss shall be based on the assay and settlement procedure set forth in Appendix 1; provided that, if the
difference in the assay results is outside of the splitting limits and the Umpire sample has been lost, Customer’s
assay shall be used.

 
5. Weighing, Sampling and Assaying
 

Weighing, sampling and assaying will be carried out in accordance with the procedures set out in Appendix 1.
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6. Recoverable Metals

 
The Refiner shall recover and credit the Customer with the following percentages of the final agreed assayed
gold and silver contents of refined Material from each Shipment (“the Recoverable Metals”)

 
Gold - 99.925% of the agreed settlement assay
Silver - 99.250% of the agreed settlement assay

7. Metal Availability
 

7.1. Delivery of the gold and silver components of the Recoverable Metals from each Shipment will be made as
directed by the Customer pursuant to clause 8.1.1 fifteen (15) working days after receipt of the Material by the
Refiner at the Refinery in accordance with clause 4.1, subject in each case to the assay results being within the
splitting limits set forth in Appendix 1 or the parties agreeing to resolve the difference, within such fifteen (15)
working days, without referring the matter to an umpire (“the Metal Availability Date”).    If the assay results
are submitted to an umpire as set forth in Appendix 1, an initial settlement shall be made on the Metal
Availability Date based on 95% of the Customer’s estimated contents as provided to the Refiner in accordance
with clause 3.4, and shall be adjusted based on the umpire’s results within one (1) working day after receipt of
the umpire’s assay results. 

 
7.2. During the Refiner’s annual inventory, the Metal Availability Date will be extended       by 5 working days for any

Material received during the week prior to and the week following the inventory date.  The Refiner will notify the
Customer of the inventory date in advance.

 
8. Settlement as Metal Account Credit
 

8.1 The Customer shall instruct the Refiner, in writing no later than five (5) working days prior to receipt of each
Shipment, to deliver the Recoverable Metals from such Shipment on or after the Metal Availability Date in
accordance with one of the following options:

 
8.1.1 The Customer may instruct the Refiner to credit the Recoverable Metals to the Customer’s unallocated

metal account with the Refiner and to await further instructions from the Customer, or
 

8.1.2 The Customer may instruct the Refiner to transfer the Recoverable Metals to the unallocated loco
London account of the Customer with a member of the London Bullion Market Association(swap charges
apply), or
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8.1.3 The Customer may instruct the Refiner transfer the Recoverable Metals to the unallocated loco London

account of a nominated third party held with a member of the London Bullion Market Association(swap
charges apply).

 
As an alternative to the Customer providing written instructions to the Refiner prior to each Shipment, the Customer
may provide written blanket instructions to the Refiner specifying one of the above options for all Shipments during a
specified period of time.  In the event that the Customer provides such blanket instructions to the Refiner, no
deviation from those instructions will be effective in respect of a Shipment unless provided to the Refiner in writing
five (5) working days prior to receipt by the Refiner of such Shipment.  If, in the Refiner’s opinion, any settlement
instructions are unclear, ambiguous or conflicting, the Refiner shall immediately notify the Customer in writing of
such lack of clarity, ambiguity or conflict and, to the extent such lack of clarity, ambiguity or conflict remains
unresolved as of the applicable Metal Availability Date, the Refiner shall deliver the Recoverable Metals in
accordance with the most recent acceptable blanket instructions received from the Customer. 

 
8.2 In the case of Clauses 8.1.2 and 8.1.3 above, the Customer will have the right, prior to receipt by the Refiner of a

Shipment, to give irrevocable instructions, in writing, to the Refiner that the Recoverable Metals in such Shipment
are to be so transferred and to request the Refiner to confirm, in writing to the nominated recipient, that it is in receipt
of such instructions from the Customer and will act irrevocably in accordance with them.  For greater certainty, any
such instructions shall remain subject to the terms of this Agreement, including clause 9.5.

 
8.3 In the event the Customer elects to sell the Recoverable Metals to the Refiner, such Recoverable Metals shall be

sold at a price agreed upon by the Parties on or after the Metal Availability Date referred to in clause 7.
 
8.5 Early Settlement Option
 
As an option the Customer may elect to receive an Early Settlement from the Refiner of up to 95% of its estimated

payable gold and silver content prior to the Final Settlement Date set out in Clause 7.  Early Settlement may be
taken either in the form of a sale to the Refiner or by a Metal Account Settlement as follows:

 
8.5.1 In the case of an early sale to the Refiner, the Customer may price up to 95% of its estimated gold content

no earlier than three days following the date of receipt of the material at the refinery.  Payment to be effected by the
Refiner one market day after such pricing, less all of the Refiner’s charges.

 
8.5.2 In the case of an Early Metal Account Settlement, the Customer may instruct the Refiner to transfer up to

95% of its estimated gold content in accordance with each of the provisions detailed in section 8.5.1 no earlier than
the third market day after receipt of the Material at the Refinery. 
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8.5.3 Where the Customer elects to take an Early Settlement then the remaining balances of the payable contents

will be available for Metal Account Settlement or sale to the Refiner on the market day following agreement of
assays.

 
8.5.4 The Customer agrees and acknowledges that, in the event of an Early Settlement, they will no longer have

claim, right, title, or ownership in or the Material that remains in the refining process at the time of Early Settlement,
up to the amount of gold or silver made available to the Customer as a result of such Early Settlement.  Customer
will indemnify and hold the Refiner harmless from any claims by any person in or to such material which is consistent
with the foregoing Early Settlement terms.  In the event that the gold or silver made available to the Customer on the
date of Early Settlement is greater than the amount of returnable gold or silver, the Customer shall be liable to the
Refiner for the excess gold or silver to be returned.

 
9. Charges

 
The Customer shall pay the Refiner's charges as follows:

 
9.1. Treatment:

 
USD$0.50 per troy ounce of Material received.
 

9.2. Refining:

USD$1.00 per troy ounce of contained gold

9.3. Finance Fee:

The Finance Fee of will be calculated at 3% per annum (the “Finance Fee”).  Such Finance Fee will be
calculated from the date of Early Settlement to the Metal Availability Date using the London P.M. Fix on
the date of Early Settlement.

Should market conditions warrant it, the Refiner reserves the right to change the service charge for Early
Settlement.  Five days written notice of such change will be given by the Refiner to the Customer.  The
Refiner agrees to fulfil Early Settlement commitments against lots received during that thirty day period.

9.4. Transport:
 

$6,900 Fixed Charge plus
$0.30 per thousand dollars of declared value
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Transport prices are subject to change and are subject to Brink's Global Services. Rates are exclusive of
any customs duties and taxes. The rates are applied on gross weight (incl. of packaging).

 
9.5. All charges due to the Refiner in accordance with this Clause 9 shall be invoiced in United States dollars by the

Refiner at the time of delivery of the Recoverable Metals as provided in Clause 7, and shall be payable by the
Customer within ten (10) working days of receipt by the Customer of the Refiner’s invoice therefore in
accordance with the Refiner’s payment instructions. Where assays have yet to be agreed and have been
submitted to an umpire, the Refiner will issue the Customer with a provisional invoice on the dates specified in
clause 7.

9.6. Refiner may setoff or withhold delivery of metal or payment of money due to Customer in respect of Material
from the Mine until all amounts due from Customer to Refiner in respect of the refining of Material from the Mine
have been paid. Interest shall accrue daily on late payments at a rate equal to 5% per annum from time to time
from the payment date set out in the invoice to the date of payment (before and after judgment).  In the absence
of payment the Refiner shall have the right to deduct a portion of the payable contents equivalent to the amounts
owed.    Customer acknowledges that its business dealings with Refiner constitute a single continuous
transaction, notwithstanding the issuance of separate purchase orders, acknowledgments, or similar documents
from time to time.

10. Deleterious Elements
 

10.1 The Customer shall notify the Refiner in advance of the Refiner’s commencement of processing of a
Shipment if any Material sent to the Refiner contains any of the deleterious elements referred to in this
clause 10, including any hazardous or toxic substance or hazardous waste.  The Parties acknowledge that
the Customer shall be deemed to have fulfilled this notification requirement if the Customer has provided
Refiner a Balance Elements Report or a Balance Elements Sample, each as described in clause 3.4.

 
10.2 The Refiner shall notify the Customer of any Material it receives under this Agreement that it reasonably

determines to contain elements in excess of the maximum limits of deleterious elements referred to in this
clause 10 (defined for each elements, as the level just below the level that is “To be agreed prior to
shipment”).  Unless prior written agreement is given by the Refiner, the Refiner may reject any Material
containing in excess of the maximum limits of deleterious elements set out herein (defined, for each
element, as the level just below the level that is “To be agreed prior to shipment”).  The Refiner shall have
no liability for such rejection.  The Customer shall, at its expense, remove any rejected Material from the
Refinery.  Risk of loss for such rejected Material shall re-vest in the Customer only at the time such
rejected Material has been received and signed for by or on behalf of the Customer.
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10.3 The Refiner shall invoice the Customer for charges in respect of deleterious elements in accordance with

the Deleterious Element Charge Structure table in clause 10.4.  All such charges shall be calculated on
the individual melt.  The Refiner will notify the Customer of such charges when the nature and proportion
of any such element is determined. The table is not necessarily representative for all material
compositions and is subject to adjustment in case of necessity, as mutually agreed to in writing by the
Parties.

10.4 On no account can the Refiner accept Material that is radioactive or which contains Beryllium or is an EPA
hazardous waste, which, for purposes of this Section 10.4, shall be deemed to be contaminated with an
unacceptable level of deleterious elements.  Material that shows any signs of having been quenched in
water to aid cooling may be subject to additional charges and/or rejection for safety reasons.  The above
restrictions are subject to adjustment at Refiner’s reasonable discretion and Refiner may reject, return
and/or quarantine Material with properties that it deems constitute an exceptional safety or environmental
risk.

Element                 Range (PPM)          Penalty (US$ per ounce net weight received)
 

Bismuth                  0 - less than 50                           Free50 – less than 200 0.06
200 – less than 1,000                    0.091000 –less than 2,0000.12 2,000

and above to be agreed prior to shipment
 

Mercury                 0 – less than 200                             Free200 – less than 500                    0.10
500 – less than 7500.20
750 and aboveto be agreed prior to shipment

 
Tellurium              0 – less than 1,000Free1,000 – less than

5,000 0.06 5,000 and above to be agreed prior
to shipment

 
Cadmium                0 – less than 500                                Free500 – less than

1,000 0.06 1,000 – less than
2,500 0.10 2,500 and above to be agreed prior
to shipment

 
Tin                          0 – less than 5,000Free5,000 – less than 10,000  

0.06 10,000 and above to be agreed prior to
shipment
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Arsenic                   0 – less than 500Free

500 – less than 1,0000.061,000 – less than 2,5000.10 2,500 and
above to be agreed prior to shipment

 
Lead                       0 – less than 5,000Free5,000 – less than

10,000 0.06 10,000 – less than
20,000 0.08 20,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment

 
Selenium               0 – less than 10,000Free10,000 – less than

20,000 0.03 20,000 – less than
30,000 0.06 30,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment
 

Sulphur                 0 – less than 10,000Free10,000 – less than
30,000 0.03 30,000 – less than
50,000 0.06 50,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment

 
Nickel                    0 – less than 10,000Free10,000 – less than

20,000 0.03 20,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment

Zinc                      0 – less than 50,000Free50,000 – less than
75,000 0.03 75,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment

 
Iron                       0 – less than 10,000Free10,000 – less than

20,000 0.03 20,000 and above to be agreed
prior to shipment

 
Copper                  0 – less than 50,000Free50,000 – less than

75,000 0.02 75,000 – less than
100,000 0.04

100,000 and above to be agreed prior to shipment
 

10.5 The above is not necessarily representative for all material compositions and subject to adjustment in
case of necessity.

 
11. Indemnities

11.1.Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Refiner against all actions, proceedings, losses, claims, costs,
damages and/or expenses whatsoever (a “Loss”) in respect of: 
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(a)  loss of life, personal injury or damage to property directly resulting from any false or misleading
information given or supplied by Customer in connection with the Services, except to the extent the Loss
arises as a direct result of the negligence or willful misconduct of the Refiner, those contracted by the
Refiner or those in Refiner’s employ and such negligence shall include, without limitation, Refiner’s failure
to assay the Balance Elements Sample, if any, provided by the Customer pursuant to clause 3.4.  For
greater certainty, it shall not constitute negligence or willful misconduct for Refiner, and Refiner shall be
entitled, to rely upon Customer’s Balance Elements Report or Refiner’s assay of the Balance Elements
Sample provided by the Customer pursuant to clause 3.4, for the types and amounts of deleterious
elements present in the Shipment; 

(b) failure by the Customer to comply with any applicable law or regulation in relation to Material
shipped to Refiner by Customer, except to the extent that such Loss arises directly from any action or
failure to act of the Refiner, those contracted by the Refiner or those in Refiner’s employ.  For greater
certainty, Refiner shall be entitled to rely upon Customer’s Balance Elements Report or Refiner’s assay of
the Balance Elements Sample provided by the Customer pursuant to clause 3.4, for the types and
amounts of deleterious elements present in the Shipment; and

(c) Customer’s representations, warranties and covenants set out in clause 1.3 being untrue in any
respect.

11.2.The Refiner shall indemnify and hold harmless Customer against all Loss in respect of:

(a)  loss of life, personal injury or damage to property directly resulting from the performance of the
Services, except to the extent the Loss arises as a direct result of the negligence or willful misconduct by
the Customer, those in Customer’s employ, or those contracted by Customer (other than Refiner); and

(b) failure by the Refiner to comply with any applicable law or regulation in the performance of the
Services, except to the extent that such Loss arises directly from any action or failure to act of the
Customer, those in Customer’s employ, or those contracted by Customer (other than Refiner);

(c) Refiner’s representations, warranties and covenants set out in clause 1.4 being untrue in any
respect.

12. Limitations of Liability

12.1.Refiner’s total aggregate liability (whether in contract, tort (including negligence) or otherwise) in respect of all
and any claims arising from the fact that the Recoverable Metals content of any Material has been lost,
damaged, destroyed or depleted while the Refiner is at risk for the Material shall be limited to an amount
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equal to the amount of the Recoverable Metals so lost, damaged, destroyed or depleted, such amount of
Recoverable Metal being calculated in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Customer’s
sole remedy with respect to Recoverable Metals so lost, damaged, destroyed or depleted shall be replacement
of any such Recoverable Metals.  Refiner shall have no liability for Recoverable Metals lost, damaged,
destroyed or depleted while not at Refiner’s risk.

12.2.Neither Refiner nor Customer shall in any circumstances (whether in contract, tort (including negligence) or
otherwise) be liable to the other for any loss of profit (whether direct or indirect) or for any indirect, special,
contingent or consequential damages or losses (whether for loss of business, loss of contracts, depletion of
goodwill, losses arising from market fluctuations or otherwise) arising out of, or in connection with, this
Agreement or the provision of (or failure or delay in providing) the Services.

13. Inspection and Audit Rights

13.1.The Customer shall have the right at any reasonable time upon prior written notice to inspect the facilities and
activities of the Refiner relating to the Refiner’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

13.2.Any inspection or audit conducted by the Customer pursuant to clause 13.1 shall:

(a) be conducted in a manner which does not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Refiner;

(b) be subject to all applicable safety and security policies and procedures of the Refiner; and

(c) be subject to the obligations of confidentiality under clause 26.

3.3 The costs of all inspections or audits conducted pursuant to this clause 13 will be borne by the Customer.

14. Representations, Warranties and Covenants

14.1.The Customer represents and warrants or covenants, as the case may be, to the Refiner that:

14.1.1. the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Customer has been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate actions and all necessary permits and authorizations that may be required to
perform its obligations hereunder have been, or will be, obtained and are, or will be, in full force;
and

14.1.2. the Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Customer enforceable against the
Customer in accordance with its terms.
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14.2.The Refiner represents and warrants or covenants, as the case may be, to the Customer that:

14.2.1. the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Refiner has been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate action and all necessary permits and authorizations that may be required to
perform its obligations hereunder have been, or will be, obtained and are, or will be, in full force;

14.2.2. the Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Refiner enforceable against the
Refiner in accordance with its terms.

The representations and warranties set out in this Agreement shall survive for a period of two years after the
termination of this Agreement.

15. Title to the Material and Recoverable Metals

Title to all Material and Recoverable Metals produced therefrom (without duplication) shall reside with the Customer
at all times under this Agreement, except, in respect of any of the Recoverable Metals which are transferred to an
account other than Customer’s pursuant to clauses 8.1.2 and 8.1.3 at the Customer’s direction, title to such
Recoverable Metals shall pass to such third party under such applicable clause. 

16. Insurance

16.1. The Refiner shall maintain in effect during the term of this Agreement full all risks insurance against
damage or loss of Material delivered by the Customer or any Recoverable Metals and as required to otherwise fully
protect the Customer against all risk of loss from any cause.  Upon the Customer’s request, the Refiner shall provide
the Customer with reasonable evidence of such insurance.

16.2. The Refiner represents, warrants and covenants to the Customer that the insurance policies required by
this clause shall not be cancelled by the Refiner during the term of this Agreement.  For greater certainty, the
cancellation of any such insurance policies by a third party shall not relieve the Refiner of its obligations under clause
16.1.

16.3 The Refiner will notify the Customer in writing thirty (30) days prior to any change in the insurance
coverage satisfying the Refiner’s obligations under this clause; provided, however, that any such notice shall not
relieve the Refiner of its obligations under clause 16.1.

17. Environmental Covenant and Indemnification

17.1.The Refiner covenants and agrees to conduct its refining business in compliance with all applicable
environmental statutes, laws, ordinances, rules and regulations (collectively, “Environmental Laws”) and shall
notify the Customer of any material violation of such Environmental Laws.

17.2.Subject to clause 10.1 to the extent any hazardous substances, hazardous
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waste, contaminants or pollutants are generated from the refining process, the Refiner covenants and agrees
that it is solely responsible for the management and ultimate disposition of such hazardous substances,
hazardous waste, contaminants or pollutants in accordance with Environmental Laws.  Subject to clause 10.1,
the Refiner further covenants and agrees that the Customer shall in no way be alleged or construed to be an
owner, operator, generator, transporter, treater, storer, or disposer of, or to have arranged for disposal or
treatment, or arranged with a transporter for transport for disposal or treatment of such disclosed hazardous
substances or hazardous waste located on or generated at the Refinery; and the Refiner further agrees to
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Customer, and its and its affiliates directors, officers, employees,
agents and assigns, from and against any and all claims arising from or related to (i) the actual or alleged
presence, release, threatened release, discharge or emission of any such disclosed hazardous substances,
hazardous waste, contaminants or pollutants of any kind into the environment at or from the Refinery or any
other location at which the Refiner performs its obligations under this Agreement, including any and all claims
arising from or related to the study, testing, investigation, cleanup, removal, remediation, abatement, response,
containment, restoration or corrective action of any such disclosed hazardous substances, hazardous waste,
contaminants or pollutants of any kind (A) on, beneath or above the Refinery, or (B) emanating or migrating, or
threatening to emanate or migrate, from the Refinery or any off-site properties; (ii) the on or off-site treatment,
storage or disposal of such hazardous substances, hazardous waste, contaminants or pollutants generated in
connection with its refining business and (iii) any claim that the Customer is an owner, operator, generator,
transporter, treater, storer or disposer of, or that the Customer arranged for disposal or treatment of, hazardous
substances located on or generated at the Refinery.

17.3.The Refiner shall indemnify and hold the Customer harmless for any and all damages to the Recoverable Metal
contained in the Material that may arise from the testing and refining of the Material or any metal produced
therefrom.

17.4.The provisions of this clause 17 shall survive termination of this Agreement indefinitely.

18. Entire Agreement
 

18.1.This Agreement sets out the entire agreement between the Parties, supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings and shall not be altered or modified except in writing signed by the Parties.

 
19. Term

 
19.1.This Agreement shall commence on September 01, 2014 (the “Effective Date”) and, subject to clause 19.2,

shall remain in effect in respect of all Material delivered to the Refiner until August 31, 2016.  Unless agreement
on an extension and new terms and conditions of this Agreement is reached no later than one month prior to
the expiry of the initial two (2) year term or any renewal thereof, this
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Agreement shall lapse on the expiry date. 

 
19.2.A Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving the other Party not less than five (5) working

days written notice in the event that such other Party:

(a) fails to perform its obligations under this Agreement and such failure to perform continues for a
period of thirty (30) days following notice of such failure;

(b) ceases or threatens to cease to carry on business in the ordinary course;

(c) admits its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due or otherwise acknowledges its
insolvency;

(d) initiates or has initiated against it insolvency proceedings.
 

20. Assignment

Neither Party shall have the right to assign their interests in this Agreement or their rights, duties and obligations
hereunder, without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably
conditioned or withheld; provided, however, that this Agreement shall be assigned to, be binding upon and inure
to the benefit of any person that acquires all or substantially all of a Party’s assets to which this Agreement
relates.  Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, either Party may assign this Agreement to an
affiliate without the prior written consent of the other Party.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

 
21. Definition - Working Day

 
For the purposes of this Agreement, "working day" means any day, which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a public
holiday in the State of Utah or, solely for the purpose of clauses 8.1.2 and 8.1.3, a banking holiday in the United
Kingdom.

 
22. Notices

 
22.1.Any notice or other communication under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be addressed as follows:

 
If to the Customer, to: 
 
Don David Gold Mexico S.A. DE C.V.,
Las Rosas No. 339,
Col. Reforma, Oaxaca,
Oaxaca, CP 68050
Mexico
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Attention:  Rick Irvine, COO
Telephone: +52-951-502-4051
Email: rickirvine@goldresourcecorp.com
 
Copy to :
 
Gold Resource Corporation
Colorado Center Tower I
2000 South Colorado Blvd, Suite 10200
Denver, Colorado 80222
USA
Telephone: +1-303-320-7708
Email:  joerodriquez@goldresourcecorp.com

 
If to the Refiner, to:

 
Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver Refining Inc.
4601 West 2100 South,
Salt Lake City, Utah, 84120,
USA
Attn:  Commercial Director
Facsimile: + 1 801-973-7313
Email: angwig@jmusa.com

 
Copy to:
 
Johnson Matthey Inc.
435 Devon Park Drive
Wayne, Pennsylvania 19087, USA
Attn:  President-Corporate, General Counsel & Secretary
Facsimile: +1 610 971 3022

 
22.2.All notices shall be given (a) by personal delivery, or (b) by electronic communication, with a confirmation sent

by registered or certified mail return receipt requested, or (c) by registered or certified mail return receipt
requested.

 
22.3.All notices shall be effective and shall be deemed given (a) if given by personal delivery on the date of delivery

if delivered during normal business hours, and, if not delivered during normal business hours, on the next
working day following delivery, (b) if given by electronic communication on the next working day following
receipt of the electronic communication, and (c) if given solely by mail on the next working day after actual
receipt.  A Party may change its contact information as provided above by notice given pursuant to this Clause
22 to the other Party.
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23. Arbitration

23.1. If any dispute, controversy or claim arises out of or in connection with this Agreement, the Parties shall use
their best efforts to settle it by friendly negotiation before pursuing any other remedies available to them.

23.2. If either Party fails or refuses to participate in such negotiations or if, in any event, the dispute, controversy or
claim is not resolved to the satisfaction of both Parties within 21 days after it has arisen, any such dispute,
controversy or claim shall be finally settled under the Rules of Arbitration of the International Chamber of
Commerce, by a single arbitrator appointed in accordance with such rules.

23.3.The substantive law of the Agreement for the purposes of any arbitration shall be the laws of Utah, USA without
giving effect to its principles of conflict of laws.

23.4.The arbitrator shall be empowered to make orders for interim relief on the application of either Party, which
shall in all cases be final and binding on the Parties. The place of the arbitration shall be City of Salt Lake City,
USA. The language of the arbitrator shall be English.

 
24. Amendment:

 
This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by instrument in writing executed on behalf of each of
the Parties.

 
25. Counterparts:

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts with the same force and effect as if the Parties had executed one instrument,
and each counterpart will constitute an original thereof.  This Agreement and counterparts thereof may be
delivered by facsimile and when so delivered will be deemed to be an original.

 
26. Confidentiality

 
Unless such disclosure is required by law or the applicable rules of a stock exchange, neither Party will disclose
the refining charges or settlement terms of this Agreement, nor any information that would reveal such terms, nor
any processing arrangements under this Agreement, nor any other information, data and knowledge  that is
specific to this Agreement or any Confidential Information (as described below) without the prior written consent
of the other, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
 
The term “Confidential Information” as used in this Agreement will mean all information, data and knowledge
(whether in the form of documents or other written material, electronic, magnetic or laser recording or memory,
know-how or otherwise) relating, directly or indirectly, to the Mine, the Mine’s production of Material, the Material
and the processing, refining and accounting for the Material under this
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Agreement that is delivered or disclosed in writing or electronically, and will include the receiving Party’s
analyses, interpretations and compilations of such information, data, knowledge or know-how.  The term
“Confidential Information” will not include information, data and knowledge that (a) the receiving Party can show
by written records was in its possession or control prior to its disclosure by the other Party, (b) is in the public
domain prior to such disclosure, or (c) lawfully enters the public domain through no violation of this Agreement or
any other confidentiality obligation between the Refiner and the Customer.

 
27. Governing Law

 
The substantive law of this Agreement shall be the laws of Utah, USA, without regard to its principles of conflict of
laws.  The Parties hereby exclude the application of the United Nations Convention in Contracts for the
International Sale of Goods.

 
28. Taxes and Fees:

 
28.1.The Customer acknowledges and agrees that customs and brokerage fees, excise, import and export duties,

and any other taxes, duties or charges payable in connection with or in respect of (i) the export from Mexico of
the Material, (ii) the importation of the Material into the USA, (iii) the sale by Customer of gold and silver
contents, and (iv) delivery of the Recoverable Metals by the Refiner to the Customer and (v) any other act,
matter or transaction contemplated by this Agreement, shall be for the sole account of and paid by Customer.

 
28.2.The Customer shall pay all other stamp duties, capital duties and other similar duties or taxes payable in

Mexico and any other jurisdiction outside the USA on or in connection with the performance of this Agreement.
 

28.3.The Refiner and the Customer acknowledge and agree that all charges payable to the Refiner under this
Agreement (collectively, the “Charges”) are exclusive of any other retail sales tax, value-added tax, goods and
services tax or harmonized sales tax that is required to be collected by the Refiner from the Customer
(collectively, the “Sales Taxes”) and that the Customer will pay to the Refiner, in addition to the Charges, the
HST and any applicable Sales Taxes calculated on the Charges in accordance with the applicable legislation. 

 
28.4. In the event that during the term of this Agreement, any additional tax, duty or charge which did not exist at the

Effective Date, is imposed by any competent authority which results in an increased cost to Refiner or
Customer, then the Party affected by such tax, duty or charge may immediately terminate this Agreement
unless the other Party is prepared to compensate such affected Party for such additional tax, duty or charge or
an agreement is reached between Customer and Refiner, as appropriate, as to the payment thereof by the time
the said additional tax, duty or charge is imposed.
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29. Independent Contractor

 
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create a partnership, joint venture, or other business
relationship between the Parties. The Refiner is an independent contractor and will be solely responsible for the
performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

 
30. Compliance with Law

 
In the performance of their respective obligations under this Agreement, each of the Refiner and the Customer
shall comply with all applicable federal, state, provincial, municipal, and local laws, regulations, ordinances,
orders, rules, decrees, and amendments thereto, including, but not limited to all such laws, regulations,
ordinances, orders, rules, decrees, and amendments thereto related to the prohibition of the bribery of
government officials or aimed at reclamation or restoration of property; abatement of pollution; protection of the
environment; protection of wildlife, including endangered species; ensuring public safety from environmental
hazards; protection of cultural or historic resources; management, storage or control of hazardous materials and
dangerous substances; releases or threatened releases of pollutants, contaminants, chemicals or industrial,
toxic, dangerous or hazardous substances as wastes into the environment, including without limitation, ambient
air, surface water and groundwater; and all other such laws, regulations, ordinances, orders, rules, decrees, and
amendments thereto relating to the manufacturing, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal,
handling or transport of pollutants, contaminants, chemicals or industrial, toxic, dangerous or hazardous
substances or wastes.
 

31. Force Majeure
 

31.1Force Majeure means any event beyond Refiner’s or Customer’s reasonable control which is unforeseen or, if
foreseen, unavoidable, and not due to the affected Party’s negligence or willful misconduct, arising after this
Agreement comes into force which prevents, hinders or delays the total or partial performance of the Agreement
including without limitation Acts of God, natural catastrophes, strikes, lockouts, fire, flood, war (declared or not),
inability to obtain utilities, chemicals or raw materials. Neither Party shall be liable for non-fulfillment of its
obligations to the extent such non-fulfillment is due to a Force Majeure event; provided the affected Party notifies
the other in writing as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of the same and, in any event,
within 10 days. The affected Party must notify the other Party in writing of the cessation of the Force Majeure
event as soon as reasonably practicable after becoming aware of the same and, in any event, within 10 days. If
a Force Majeure event lasts for 30 days or more from the date of the first notice, the unaffected Party may,
without prejudice to any rights or obligations already accrued to either Party, terminate the Agreement
immediately by written notice to the other Party.  If a Force Majeure event affects the Refinery, the Refiner shall,
at no additional cost to the Customer, make commercially reasonable efforts to refine the
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Customer’s material at another of the Refiner’s refineries and the Customer shall be entitled to deliver the
Material to other refiners or refineries for refining without liability to the Refiner. 

32. Severability

In case any provision of this Agreement is found to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this
Agreement shall not be affected thereby.  The parties shall use their best efforts to replace any illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision with a valid and enforceable provision that comes nearest to the meaning and intention of
the provision to be replaced.

33. General
 

33.1.Headings are for convenience of reference and do not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.

33.2.The waiver by either Party of any breach of a provision of this Agreement shall not prevent the subsequent
enforcement of that provision or be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach of that or another provision.

33.3. There are no third party beneficiaries of this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized
representatives as of the Effective Date, regardless of the date signed.

 
 

Johnson Matthey Gold & Silver Refining Inc.
 
 
 

By: /s/ G.A. Angwin
Name: G.A. Angwin

Title: Commercial Director
 

By: /s/ Brad Boyko
Name: Brad Boyko

Title: Manager Global Mining Sales
 
 
 

Don David Gold Mexico S.A. DE C.V.
 
 
 

By: /s/ Joe A. Rodriguez
Name: Joe A. Rodriguez

Title: CFO of Parent Co. (Gold Resource Corporation)
 

By: ________________________________
Name:
Title:
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Appendix 1

 
 

WEIGHING AND SAMPLING PROCEDURE FOR
GOLD AND SILVER DORÉ

 
1, General
 

Weighing and sampling will be carried out at the Refinery. The sampling will be final for all contractual purposes.
 
The Customer has the right to be represented at these operations at its own expense, either by use of an agreed
independent representative company or an employee of the Customer. The Customer shall inform the Refiner of
the name, address, telephone number and email address of its representative and of the authority delegated to
the representative.  The Refiner shall notify the representative of the Customer of any weighing, melting or
sampling operations to be performed by the Refiner to the Material at least two working days prior to such
operations being conducted.  The representative of the Customer will be available to perform his duties at any
time provided the Refiner has given two working days’ notice of its intention to commence operations during
Refiner’s business hours (which shall commence at 12:01 am on Monday and end at 11:59 pm on Friday).

 
2. Weighing
 

2.1 Within 72 hours of the arrival of the Material at the Refinery, visual inspection of the seals will take place
and the gross weight of the Material and packing will be determined and compared with the advised gross
weight.  Any difference in excess of 1% (one percent) of the gross weight as stated in the Commercial
Invoice and the gross weight determined by the Refiner, or the detection of damaged packaging, will be
reported to the Customer or its representative immediately.

 
In the case of a representative not being present, the Material will be placed in a secure vault pending
arrival of the representative, or a decision to proceed or otherwise, in writing, from the Customer.

 
2.2 The net weight of the Material shall be determined by removing the Material from the packing and

individually weighing each Dore bar on a Class II balance having a tolerance of +/-10 (ten) grams.
 
In the case of a difference greater than 0.2% of the net weight of any Dore bar as stated in the Commercial

Invoice and as determined by the Refiner, such Dore bar will be held in a secure vault pending advice from
the Customer to proceed or otherwise, in writing.
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3. Melting
 

3.1 Melts may be covered with charcoal/borax to prevent oxidation and raised to a temperature of 100 C
above the melt point of the Material.

 
3.2 When the melt is completely molten and has been allowed to stir vigorously by the induced current, the

slag/flux cover will be removed and reserved.
 
3.3 Pin samples will be taken from the molten mass, by use of a vacuum tube, as follows: -

 
2 samples for the Refiner to analyse
2 samples to be held by the Refiner in case of a reserve analysis or recourse to an independent third

party.
1 sample for the Customer or its representative.
 

3.4 The agreed net weight will be arrived at by adding the weight of the after melt bars together with any
samples retained by the Refiner.  This will be the final after melt weight.  Any samples that the Customer
or its representative takes will not constitute payable settlement weight.

 
4. Slag Sampling
 

The slags and pot scrapings will be remelted and any grain bars produced during this operation will be weighed
and added to the final after melt weight.  Any grain bars weighing in excess of 10 troy ounces will be assayed
separately.  All slags will be kept until agreement of assays.

 
5. Assaying and Settlement Procedure
 

33.1.  Assays of the samples of the Material taken pursuant to section 3 in this Appendix 1 shall be carried out
by each of the Customer (or another party at the Customer's direction) and the Refiner using the corrected fire
assay method (a) in the case of the Refiner, forthwith after weighing and sampling has been conducted, and (b)
in the case of the Customer, forthwith upon receipt by the Customer (or such other party to which the sample is
sent at the Customer's direction) of the sample.

5.2. The Refiner and Customer will exchange assays by registered mail on an agreed date. The day after the
date on which the Parties have agreed to make the exchange, the Refiner and Customer will exchange said
assays by e-mail, telephone or fax.  The exchange of assay results by the Customer and the Refiner shall occur
within no more than four (4) working days following receipt of the sample by the representative of the Customer,
provided that the Customer may at its option defer such exchange of assay results for an additional two (2)
working  days.

33.3Any difference between the Customer's assay result and the Refiner's assay result
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shall be settled in the following manner:

The splitting limit for gold shall be 0.10% and for silver 0.25%.

then, the exact mean of the two values shall be taken as the agreed Settlement assay.

If the difference exceeds the limits under this section 5.3, either the Customer or the Refiner may request an
assay by an independent assayer (as identified on Appendix 2, an “Umpire”), or both parties may agree to
resolve the difference without calling an Umpire. If Umpire analysis is required the Refiner shall send the sample
reserved for the Umpire to the Umpire forthwith and obtain an Umpire assay of such sample as soon as
possible.

33.4In the event that an Umpire performs an assay, the Settlement assay shall be as follows:

33.4.1 The party’s assay closer to the Umpire shall be the final assay.  The cost of the Umpire assays
shall be borne by the party whose assay is further from the Umpire assay.

33.4.2 In the event that the Umpire assay equals the arithmetic mean of the assays, the Umpire assay
shall be the final assay and the cost of such Umpire assay shall be borne equally by the parties.

Any payments required to be made by the Customer under this section 5.4 shall be made within 10 working days
following the receipt by the Customer from the Refiner of a copy of the invoice of the Umpire.

23
 

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
Appendix 2

 
 

Independent Samplers and Assayers Acceptable to the Parties
 

 
Alfred H. Knight Int’l Ltd.
Eccleston Grange
Prescott Road
St. Helens
Merseyside WA10 3BQ England
Tel:  +44 1744 733757
Fax:  +44 1744 27062
 
 
Alfred H. Knight North America Ltd.
130 Tradd Street
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Tel: 864 595 1903
Fax: 864 595 1627
 
 
Alex Stewart (Assayers) Ltd
314 Route 22 West, Suite C
Greenbrook, NJ, 08812
Tel: 732 529 4408
Fax: 732 529 4411
 
 
Ledoux & Company
359 Alfred Avenue
Teaneck, NJ, 07666
Tel: 201 837 7160
Fax: 201 837 1235
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Appendix 3

 
 
 

Certificate of Compliance
with

Conflict Minerals and Patriot Act Anti Money-Laundering Regulations
 

Customer certifies:

i) that all the Material delivered to Johnson Matthey has been mined from the Mine owned and operated by
Customer, its affiliates and/or subsidiaries;

ii) that none of the funds generated from the sale of its production are used either directly or indirectly to:
a) support any forms of conflict or human

rights abuses, and b) finance illegal activities of any
sort;

iii) that, in the event the region from which the Material is produced, or through which the Material is transported,
is defined as a conflict-affected or high-risk area by an LBMA-accepted authority, the Customer will
immediately adopt and commit to a supply chain policy for identifying and managing risks for gold potentially
from conflict-affected and high-risk areas as outlined in the OECD Due Diligence Guidance for Minerals from
Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas and the associated Supplement on Gold.

     ( http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/54/39/49187571.pdf)
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Exhibit 21

Gold Resource Corporation and Subsidiaries
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Exhibit 23.1
 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

 
The Board of Directors
Gold Resource Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333‑171779) on Form S-8 and the registration
statement (No. 333-170101) on Form S-3 of Gold Resource Corporation of our reports dated March 19, 2015, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Gold Resource Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2014, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, which reports appear in the December 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10‑K of Gold Resource Corporation
and subsidiaries.

Our report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, expresses our opinion that Gold
Resource Corporation did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 because of the
effect of material weaknesses on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria and contains an explanatory paragraph
that states material weaknesses related to internal controls over income taxes which were not designed and operating effectively.

 
/s/ KPMG LLP
 
Denver, Colorado
March 19, 2015
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Exhibit 23.2

 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

 
The Board of Directors
Gold Resource Corporation:
      We consent to the incorporation by reference in registration statement No. 333-171779 on Form S-8 and registration statement
No. 333-170101 on Form S-3 of Gold Resource Corporation of our report dated March 18, 2013 relating to the consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and for the year then ended which report appears in the annual report on Form 10-K
of Gold Resource Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.  
/s/ Stark Schenkein, LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 19, 2015 
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jason D. Reid, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Gold Resource Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
 
Date: March 19, 2015

/s/ Jason D. Reid
Jason D. Reid
 
Chief Executive Officer and President
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joe A. Rodriguez, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Gold Resource Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
 
ArchDate: March 19, 2015

/s/ Joe A. Rodriguez
Joe A. Rodriguez
 
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jason D. Reid , Chief Executive Officer and President, and I, Joe A. Rodriguez, Chief Financial Officer of Gold Resource Corporation (the
“Company”) certify that:

1. I have reviewed the annual report on Form 10-K of the Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the period presented in this annual report.
 
Date: March 19, 2015
 
 
/s/ Jason D. Reid
Jason D. Reid

Chief Executive Officer and President
 
Date: March 19, 2015

 
 
/s/ Joe A. Rodriguez
Joe A. Rodriguez
Chief Financial Officer
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